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Forward-Looking Statements
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which are subject to the "safe harbor" created by those sections. Forward-looking
statements are based on our management's beliefs and assumptions and on information currently available to our management. In some cases, you can identify
forward-looking statements by terms such as "may," "will," "should," "could," "goal," "would," "expect," "plan," "anticipate," "believe," "estimate," "project,"
"predict," "potential" and similar expressions intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties
and other factors, which may cause our actual results, performance, time frames or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance,
time frames or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. We discuss many of these risks, uncertainties and other factors in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K in greater detail under the heading "Risk Factors," including, among other things:
•

actual or anticipated fluctuations in our financial condition and operating results;

•

variance in our financial performance from expectations of securities analysts or investors;

•

changes in our projected operating and financial results;

•

changes in the pricing we offer our members;

•

our relationships with our health network partners and enterprise clients and any changes to or terminations of our contracts with the health network
partners or enterprise clients;

•

changes in laws or regulations applicable to our solutions and services;

•

the impact of COVID-19 on our financial performance, financial condition and results of operations, and the financial performance and financial
condition of our health network partners, our enterprise clients and others;

•

announcements by us or our competitors of significant business or strategic developments, acquisitions or new offerings;

•

actual or anticipated developments in our business, our competitors' businesses or the competitive landscape generally;

•

publicity associated with issues with our services and technology platforms;

•

our involvement in litigation, including medical malpractice claims and consumer class actions;

•

any governmental investigations or inquiries into our business and operations or challenges to our relationships with our affiliated professional
entities under the Administrative Services Agreements ("ASAs");

•

future sales of our common stock or other securities, by us or our stockholders;

•

changes in senior management or key personnel;

•

developments or disputes concerning our intellectual property or other proprietary rights;

•

changes in accounting standards, policies, guidelines, interpretations or principles;

•

the trading volume of our common stock;

•

general economic, regulatory and market conditions, including labor shortages, inflationary pressures and any future actions taken in an effort to
mitigate the effects of inflation, which could increase our costs of doing business and cause our stock price to be volatile;

•

our estimates of our market opportunity and changes in the anticipated future size and growth rate of our market;

•

our ability to retain and recruit key personnel and expand our sales force;

•

the ability of our affiliated professional entities to attract and retain high quality providers;

•

our ability to fund our working capital requirements;
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•

our compliance with, and the cost of, federal, state and foreign regulatory requirements; and

•

our ability to successfully integrate and realize the anticipated benefits and synergies of our past or future strategic acquisitions, including our
acquisition of Iora Health, Inc. ("Iora").

These risks are not exhaustive. Given these risks, uncertainties and other factors, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking
statements as predictions of future events. Also, these forward-looking statements represent our current beliefs, estimates and assumptions only as of the date of
this filing, and information contained in this filing should not be relied upon as representing our estimates as of any subsequent date. You should read this
Annual Report on Form 10-K completely and with the understanding that our actual future results may be materially different from what we expect. Except as
required by law, we assume no obligation to update these forward-looking statements publicly, or to update the reasons actual results could differ materially
from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements, even if new information becomes available in the future.
In addition, statements including "we believe" and similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the relevant subject. These statements are based
upon information available to us as of the filing date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and while we believe such information forms a reasonable basis for
such statements, such information may be limited or incomplete, and our statements should not be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive inquiry
into, or review of, all potentially available relevant information. These statements are inherently uncertain and investors are cautioned not to unduly rely upon
these statements.
In this report, unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, (i) all references to "One Medical," "we," "us," "our" or the "Company" mean
1Life Healthcare, Inc., its subsidiaries, and its consolidated affiliated professional entities, (ii) all references to "1Life" refer to 1Life Healthcare, Inc. and not to
its consolidated affiliated professional entities and (iii) all references to "affiliated professional entities" refer to the professional entities affiliated with 1Life or
its subsidiaries through administrative services agreements. 1Life and its affiliated professional entities conduct business under the "One Medical" brand.
Risk Factor Summary
Our business is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties which may prevent us from achieving our business and strategic objectives or may
adversely impact our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects. These risks include but are not limited to the following:
Risks Related to Our Business and Our Industry
•

the impact of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic;

•

our dependence on a limited number of key existing payers;

•

our reliance on reimbursements from certain third-party payers for the services we provide;

•

the impact of reviews and audits by CMS in accordance with Medicare's risk adjustment payment system;

•

the impact of assuming some or all of the risk that the cost of providing services will exceed our compensation for such services under certain thirdparty payer agreements;

•

the impact of reduced reimbursement rates paid by third-party payers, or federal or state healthcare programs due to rule changes or other restrictions;

•

the impact of regulatory or policy changes in Medicare or other federal or state healthcare programs;

•

our dependence on the success of our strategic relationships with third parties;

•

the impact of a decline in the prevalence of private health insurance coverage;

•

our ability to cost-effectively develop widespread brand awareness and to maintain our reputation and market acceptance for our healthcare services;

•

our history of losses and uncertainty about our future profitability;

•

our ability to maintain and expand member utilization of our services;

•

our ability to compete effectively in the geographies in which we participate;
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•

our ability to grow at the rates we historically have achieved;

•

the impact of current or future litigation against us, including medical liability claims and class actions;

•

our ability to attract and retain quality primary care providers to support our services;

•

fluctuations in our quarterly results and our ability to meet the expectations of securities analysts and investors; and

•

the loss of key members of our senior management team and our ability to attract and retain executive officers, employees, providers and medical
support personnel.

Risks Related to Government Regulation
•

the impact of healthcare reform legislation and changes in the healthcare industry and healthcare spending;

•

the impact of governmental or regulatory scrutiny of or challenge to our arrangements with health networks;

•

our dependence on our relationships with affiliated professional entities that we may not own, to provide healthcare services;

•

our ability to comply with rules related to billing and related documentation for healthcare services; and

•

our ability to comply with regulations governing the use and disclosure of personal information, including protected health information, or PHI.

Risks Related to Information Technology
•

our reliance on internet infrastructure, bandwidth providers, other third parties and our own systems to provide a proprietary services platform to our
members and providers;

•

our reliance on third-party vendors to host and maintain our technology platform;

•

any breaches of our systems or those of our vendors or unauthorized access to employee, contractor, member, client or partner data;

•

our ability to maintain and enhance our proprietary technology platform; and

•

our ability to optimize our technology solutions for members, integrate our systems with health network partners or resolve technical issues in a timely
manner.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
•

our ability to obtain, maintain, protect and enforce our intellectual property rights.

Risks Related to Our Acquisition of Iora
•

our ability to successfully integrate Iora's business and realize the benefits of the merger; and

•

the incurrence of substantial expenses related to the integration of Iora's business.
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PART I
Item 1. Business.
Overview
Our mission is to transform health care for all through our human-centered, technology-powered model. Our vision is to delight millions of members with
better health and better care while reducing the total cost of care. We are a membership-based primary care platform with seamless digital health and inviting inoffice care, convenient to where people work, shop, live and click. We are disrupting health care from within the existing ecosystem by simultaneously
addressing the frustrations and unmet needs of key stakeholders, which include consumers, employers, providers, and health networks. As of December 31,
2021, we have grown to approximately 736,000 total members including 703,000 Consumer and Enterprise members and 33,000 At-Risk members, and we
operated 182 medical offices in 25 markets across the United States.
The current state of the healthcare ecosystem leaves key stakeholders frustrated and with unmet needs.
•

Consumers. According to a 2020 report, 71% of consumers are dissatisfied with their healthcare experience, in part due to limited after-hours and
digital access, long wait times for appointments, extended in-office delays, short and impersonal visits, uninviting medical offices in inconvenient
locations, constrained access to specialists and a lack of care coordination across clinical settings.

•

Employers. Employers find their health benefit offerings often underperforming on such fundamental objectives as attracting and engaging
employees, improving employee productivity, reducing absenteeism, producing better health outcomes, increasing the safety of the workplace
through screening and treating communicable diseases such as COVID-19, or managing health care costs.

•

Providers. Within primary care, according to a 2019 Mayo Clinic report, over 50% of family physicians show symptoms of burnout, driven in part
by misaligned fee-for-service compensation approaches incentivizing short transactional interactions, and excessive administrative tasks associated
with burdensome electronic health record ("EHR") systems and convoluted insurance procedures.

•

Health Networks. Health systems as well as private and government payers, have been looking to develop coordinated networks of care to better
attract patients, increase attributable lives and better integrate primary care with specialty services for improved patient outcomes and lower costs.
Yet even with major investments in provider groups, care management programs and technology systems, health networks have struggled to deliver
on these objectives.

The U.S. commercial primary care and Medicare market together is estimated to be approximately $870 billion in 2021, including approximately $170
billion for the commercially insured population and $700 billion for the Medicare population. We estimate that the 25 markets in which we are physically
present plus the four markets we are planning to launch in 2022 represent approximately $55 billion in primary care spend within the commercially insured
population, and $220 billion for the Medicare population. We expect our total addressable market to grow as we further expand into additional geographies,
additional services, serve additional populations and explore alternative risk-sharing reimbursement models. For example, we believe we can further expand our
physical presence across the United States. The 50 largest metropolitan statistical areas in the U.S. represent an estimated market opportunity of approximately
$80 billion within the commercially insured population, and $330 billion for the Medicare population. In addition, some employees of our enterprise customers
can access our digital services nationally, providing us with additional growth potential and improving our ability to expand our physical footprint.
We have developed a modernized healthcare membership model based on direct consumer enrollment and third-party sponsorship across commercially
insured and Medicare populations. Our membership model includes seamless access to 24/7 digital health services paired with inviting in-office care routinely
covered by most health care payers. Our technology drives high monthly active usage within our membership, promoting ongoing and longitudinal patient
relationships for better health outcomes and high member retention. Our technology also helps our service-minded team in building trust and rapport with our
members by facilitating proactive digital health outreach as well as responsive on-demand virtual and in-office care. Our digital health services and our wellappointed offices, which tend to be located in highly convenient locations, are staffed by a team of clinicians who are not paid on a fee-for-service basis, and
therefore free of misaligned compensation incentives prevalent in health care. Additionally, we have developed clinically and digitally integrated partnerships
with health networks, better coordinating more timely access to specialty care when needed by members. Together, this approach allows us to engage in valuebased care across all age groups, including through At-Risk arrangements with Medicare Advantage payers and the
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Center for Medicare & Medicaid Services ("CMS"), in which One Medical is responsible for managing a range of healthcare services and associated costs of our
members.
•

Consumers. We delight consumers with a superior experience as evidenced by our average Net Promoter Score, or NPS, of 90 across our
membership base over the twelve months ended December 31, 2021 and our key primary care-related Healthcare Effectiveness Data and
Information Set ("HEDIS") quality measures. NPS measures the willingness of consumers to recommend a company's products or services to others.
We use NPS as a proxy for gauging our members' overall satisfaction with us or our providers and loyalty to us. We calculate our NPS based on
survey data using the standard method of subtracting the percentage of members who respond that they are not likely to recommend us or our
providers from the percentage of members that respond that they are likely to recommend our providers, with responses based on a scale of 0 to 10.
The resulting NPS is an index that ranges from a low of -100 to a high of 100.
Our technology platforms advance consumer engagement and health through proactive digital health screenings, post-visit digital follow-ups, realtime access to medical records, and around-the-clock availability of our friendly and knowledgeable providers. Our technology platforms also
provide insights for our care teams across our populations that aid in our care delivery.
Our members receive access to 24/7 on-demand digital and virtual health services with quick response times. Members also have access to
scheduled virtual visits as well as inviting in-office care in convenient locations with same day or next day appointments from a warm and caring
staff. In addition to supporting members with routine and preventative primary, chronic and acute care, we provide lab- and immunization services,
COVID-19 testing and care, behavioral health, women's health, men's health, LGBTQ+ care, pediatrics, geriatrics, sports medicine, lifestyle and
well-being programs.

•

Employers. We support more than 8,500 enterprise clients across a diverse set of industries in achieving key goals of their health benefits offerings
such as attracting and engaging employees, improving employee productivity and well-being, and delivering higher levels of value-based care. We
are also helping them increase the safety of their workplace through screening for, treating, and immunizing against communicable diseases such as
COVID-19. With real-time video and phone consults available typically within minutes, and same and next day in-office appointments, we have
demonstrated a 41% reduction in emergency room visits and total employer cost savings of 8% or more based on a 2018 report. Additionally, a peerreviewed study published in the Journal of American Medical Association (JAMA) Network Open in 2020 linked our membership-based, primary
care model combining virtual, near-site and work-site services with 45% lower total medical and prescription claims costs for one employer,
including 54% lower spending on specialty care, 43% lower spending on surgery, 33% lower spending on emergency department care, and 26%
lower spending on prescriptions. Since then, we have further evolved our service offering, including scheduled virtual visits or behavioral health
visits, which we believe provides additional value to employers and their employees. We have also launched a 24/7 virtual only service offering
which is available exclusively to employees of our employer customers in geographies where we do not yet have a physical presence. This service
offering allows employers to provide One Medical to all of their employees regardless of their location, while providing us with better insights about
employer demographics and potential future demand for our other offerings. Employers typically cover our membership fee for their employees,
with over 75% of employers also covering their employees’ dependents’ memberships as of December 31, 2021. Employers can add our services at
any point during the year, as our services typically fit within their existing health benefits offerings and are typically covered under an employer’s
routine health insurance benefit program, allowing for seamless and quick implementation. Within enterprise clients, we estimate that our median
activation rate as of December 31, 2021, was over 40%, which we believe we can increase over time. We define estimated activation rate for any
enterprise client at a given time as the percentage of eligible lives enrolled as members. Some of our enterprise clients offer membership benefits to
the dependents of their employees, for which we assume eligible lives include one dependent per employee.

•

Providers. Our culture, technology, team-based approach, and salaried provider model help address the fundamental issues driving physician
burnout. Our culture allows us to attract and retain top board-certified physicians and premier team members. We are focused on continuing to
increase our diversity amongst providers so that our provider base reflects the diversity of the communities and members we serve. Our proprietary
technology platforms allow for meaningful reductions in desktop medicine burdens, which are the excessive administrative hassles associated with
the use of EHRs. Our support team takes on many of the administrative burdens for scheduling and insurance coordination. Our in-office and virtual
medical teams jointly deliver longitudinal health care. Our salary-based provider compensation model incentivizes delivery of the right care at
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the right time, without the adverse financial incentives that fee-for-service or compensation systems can have on clinical decision-making.
•

Health Networks. Health networks partner with us for consumer-driven care, direct-to-employer relationships, coordinated networks of attributable
lives, and At-Risk arrangements where we are responsible for managing a range of healthcare services and associated costs for our members.
Through our partnerships, we connect our primarily working-age, commercially insured membership base with health networks without the costs
and risks these health networks typically face in the development of their own primary care networks. In our Medicare business, we partner with
health care payers to enable members to access our service and enter into At-Risk arrangements where we are responsible for managing a range of
healthcare services and associated costs of our members. We clinically and digitally integrate with our health network partners to advance more
seamless member access to partner specialists and facilities when needed, while supporting reductions in duplicative testing and excessive delays
often seen across uncoordinated healthcare settings. Such coordinated care can deliver better service levels and outcomes for consumers, while
advancing employee productivity and value-based care to employers and our payer partners.

We believe our model is highly scalable. Our business is driven by growth in Consumer and Enterprise members, and At-Risk members (see also Part II,
Item 7 to this Annual Report, "Management's Discussion and Analysis — Key Metrics and Non-GAAP Financial Measures"). We have developed a modernized
membership model based on direct consumer enrollment and third-party sponsorship. Our membership model includes seamless access to 24/7 digital health
paired with inviting in-office care routinely covered by most health care payers. Consumer and Enterprise members join either individually as consumers by
paying an annual membership fee or are sponsored by a third party. At-Risk members are members for whom we are responsible for managing a range of
healthcare services and associated costs. Digital health services are delivered via our mobile app and website, through such modalities as video and voice
encounters, chat and messaging. We are physically present in 25 markets as of December 31, 2021, comprised of Atlanta, Austin, Boston, Birmingham, Cape
Cod, Charlotte, Chicago, Columbus, Denver, Greensboro, Hanover, Houston, Huntsville, Kansas City, Los Angeles, New York, Orange County, Phoenix,
Portland, Raleigh-Durham, San Diego, the San Francisco Bay Area, Seattle, Tucson, and Washington, D.C., and serve patients across all stages of life, from the
working-age, commercially-insured population and associated dependents to the Medicare populations. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2021, we
retained 9 out of every 10 of our consumer members, 90% of our enterprise contract value and more than 8 out of every 10 of our At-Risk members. We grew
our total membership by 307% from December 31, 2016 through December 31, 2021.
We derive net revenue, consisting of Medicare revenue and commercial revenue, from multiple stakeholders, including (i) consumers, (ii) enterprise
clients such as employers, schools, and universities, and (iii) health networks such as health systems and private and government payers.
We generate Medicare revenue from (i) Capitated Revenue from At-Risk arrangements with Medicare Advantage payers and CMS, and (ii) fee-forservice and other revenue from fee-for-service visits for Other Patients not covered under At-Risk arrangements and from certain payers for clinical start-up,
administration, or on-going coordination of care activities associated with providing care to At-Risk members and other Medicare patients.
We generate commercial revenue from (i) partnership revenue from our health system partners with whom we have clinically and digitally integrated, on
a per member per month (“PMPM”) basis, largely fixed price or fixed price per employee contracts with enterprise clients for medical services and COVID-19
on-site testing services for enterprise clients, schools and universities where we typically bill such customers a fixed price per service performed, (ii) net fee-forservice revenue from reimbursements received from our members' or other patients' health insurance plans or those with billing rates based on our agreements
with our health network partners for healthcare services delivered to Consumer and Enterprise members on a fee-for-service basis, and (iii) membership revenue
through the annual membership fees charged to either consumer members or enterprise clients, as well as fees paid for our One Medical Now service offering.
Industry Challenges and Our Opportunity
The current state of the healthcare ecosystem leaves key stakeholders frustrated and with unmet needs, delivering suboptimal results for consumers,
employers, providers and health networks. We believe that these unmet needs represent a significant opportunity for us.
Consumers
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According to a 2020 report, approximately 71% of consumers are dissatisfied with their healthcare experience. Their frustrations include long lead times
to schedule physician appointments and long waits once checked-in at provider offices. Appointments often occur in crowded medical offices and are typically
short in duration, affording limited time to develop deeper provider-patient relationships. Opportunities to engage with providers before and after visits, as well
as during nights and weekends, are often limited or non-existent, even though healthcare needs are not constrained to the operating hours of provider offices.
Care delivered is also often uncoordinated with providers, leaving consumers to navigate their own way through a complex system.
Employers
To attract and retain staff, employers are making significant investments in health benefits; yet, as commercial insurance costs have reached record
highs, employers and employees remain frustrated. Barriers to accessing timely care during the day and after business hours cause employees to miss work and
lose productivity. As a result, many employees self-direct to higher cost settings such as emergency rooms. Additionally, uncoordinated care across primary care,
specialty care and behavioral health settings creates frustration and causes excessive spending. According to a 2018 study from the National Academy of
Medicine, approximately 30% of all U.S. healthcare spending is estimated to be avoidable wasted spending.
Providers
By predominantly compensating primary care providers on volume, the prevalent fee-for-service approach seen within the industry incentivizes short
and transactional medical encounters, often with insufficient time to address underlying issues related to acute care, chronic disease, and behavioral health
issues. Such fee-for-service compensation may also incentivize greater referrals to specialists for more time-intensive cases, even when such patients could
otherwise be treated effectively within primary care. Management of preventive care and chronic conditions through longitudinal relationships is typically lessreimbursed, if paid for at all. In addition, providers often find themselves performing excessive administrative tasks that could be better performed by other staff
or eliminated altogether. They suffer from rising administrative time spent populating data into cumbersome EHR systems, and documentation hassles
associated with insurance procedures. These dynamics contribute to lower job satisfaction and provider burnout.
Health Networks
While many health networks have sought to better integrate primary care with specialty and hospital care, they may underperform on service, access, and
coordination of care. This is partly due to their internal incentive systems, processes, and technologies, which are typically focused on addressing high revenue
specialty care, rather than best supporting primary care. Moreover, primary care networks can be very costly to develop, and can require significant ongoing
investments to operate, while often underperforming on strategic and financial objectives. According to the American Hospital Association's Futurescan survey
of hospital CEOs and leaders published in 2019, 75% of hospital and health systems operate their primary care networks at a loss or are willing to do so, with
76% of health system leaders indicating they are pursuing or are likely to pursue external relationships to advance their physician networks and better serve
consumers.
We have developed a human-centered, technology-powered primary care model that simultaneously addresses the aforementioned frustrations and unmet
needs of key stakeholders. As we continue to deploy our model at scale, we disrupt the healthcare ecosystem from within its current structure through our:
•

modernized healthcare membership model based on direct consumer enrollment and third-party sponsorship;

•

seamless care delivery that integrates across multiple digital and in-person modalities;

•

inviting offices with high quality service in convenient locations;

•

partnerships with health networks, including alignment with payers;

•

premier salaried medical group;

•

advanced technology-powered systems; and

•

service-oriented team implementing Lean processes.

Our Value Proposition
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Our modernized human-centered and technology-powered primary care model simultaneously addresses the frustrations and unmet needs faced by key
stakeholders.
Value Proposition for Consumers
•

Greater engagement for better health and better care. We regularly and proactively engage our members digitally and in-person. Members can
digitally access medical information, prescriptions, lab results and other health data, and can reach out to our team regarding medical issues or
health questions around-the-clock. Members may receive digital health status check-ins before and after office encounters, and our technology
facilitates further follow-up with our providers.

•

Unique digital health experience. Our dedicated and compassionate providers and other team members deliver 24/7 digital care. Members engage
through our website or mobile app in timely synchronous and asynchronous interactions, selecting their communication modality of choice,
including messaging, text, voice and video. Our in-house virtual team delivers 24/7 service to address health concerns and administrative questions,
coordinating with our in-office providers through a common EHR that is shared across digital and in-office settings.

•

Superior in-office care experience. We are focused on providing kind and attentive in-person care in aesthetically pleasing offices with
contemporary interior designs. We offer same- or next-day appointments with minimal wait upon arrival in locations convenient to where consumers
work, shop and live. Members enter into first-name relationships with providers who greet them upon arrival and walk them out upon appointment
completion. Our approach allows for more time to thoroughly address a broader array of issues and to develop deeper relationships than traditional
primary care settings.

•

Longitudinal approach to care. Our approach treats the whole person by including the physical, mental, social, emotional and administrative needs
of our members. In addition to supporting members with routine and preventative primary, chronic and acute care, we provide lab- and
immunization services, COVID-19 testing and care, behavioral health, women's health, men's health, LGBTQ+ care, pediatrics, geriatrics, sports
medicine, lifestyle and well-being programs. We proactively reach out to members to assess their health status and mental wellness and follow up
with reminders on key health initiatives. These initiatives support the health of our members with the goal of avoiding more costly care in the future.

•

Greater care coordination. We can serve as a trusted advisor to our members and, through our administrative teams and technology, help them better
navigate the healthcare ecosystem. Our health network partnerships further advance clinically and digitally integrated care across primary, specialty
and acute care settings by streamlining access to leading specialists and reducing delays and duplicative tests.

•

Improved health outcomes. We help drive better health outcomes for our members, as reflected in our key primary care-related HEDIS quality
metrics. To prevent avoidable conditions and advance health, we can conduct population health initiatives such as proactively screening for cancers,
chronic diseases, anxiety and depression.

•

COVID-19. We offer COVID-19 testing and counseling across all of our markets, including in our offices and in several mobile COVID-19 testing
sites. We also administer COVID-19 vaccines in select geographies.

Value Proposition for Employers
•

Differentiated and highly valued employee benefit. We believe our model enhances the benefits offering of employers, improving their recruitment
and retention of talent.

•

Increased workforce productivity. We reduce time away from work as well as employee distraction related to illness, injury or other medical
conditions by providing quick and convenient access to care for employees and dependents, including virtual care. With longer appointments, we
address more needs in our primary care setting, reducing avoidable referrals and additional time away from work. Additionally, our ability to
facilitate timely specialist appointments with our health network partners further reduces an employee's distraction while waiting for specialty care.

•

Reduced costs. We reduce health care costs by increasing employee productivity and providing value-based care, substituting higher cost emergency
room and specialty services with lower-cost primary care. We help avoid
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unnecessary testing and higher cost branded prescriptions through best practice clinical protocols embedded in our technology. For example, we
have demonstrated a 41% reduction in emergency room visits and total employer cost savings of 8% or more. A peer-reviewed study published in
JAMA Network Open in 2020 linked our membership-based, primary care model combining virtual, near-site and work-site services with 45%
lower total medical and prescription claims costs for one employer.
•

Insights on improving employee health and value-based care. We support population health improvement and medical cost assessment by analyzing
anonymized aggregated health record information and employee health engagement patterns. We work with employers to better understand the
health needs of their employees as well as to review overall utilization patterns. Our aggregated anonymized EHR information allows for timelier
and deeper insights to help employers improve their health benefits programs and achieve higher levels of value.

Value Proposition for Providers
•

More fulfilling way to practice. Our providers develop meaningful relationships with our members over time, allowing them to help improve healthy
behaviors and better coordinate member health needs. Their relationships with members are more longitudinal and less transactional. Our providers
are also supported by our technology platforms which enable them to practice at the top of their license while serving patients throughout all stages
of life, making their work more professionally rewarding while reducing factors driving burnout.

•

Team-based approach across care modalities. Our in-office providers and our virtual team collaborate for longitudinal health care across time and
settings. Our virtual care team and administrative specialists reduce our in-office providers' workloads while promoting 24/7 care. Providers can
better focus on caring for patients during clinical interactions, while excessive administrative tasks can be handled by other team members.

•

Purpose-built technology platforms. Our proprietary technology platforms are developed with significant provider input and are purpose-built for
primary care. For example, our technology is focused on capturing and surfacing the most meaningful clinical insights in a workflow that is intuitive
to providers. Our platform meaningfully reduces administrative workloads by intelligently automating, streamlining and routing tasks across our
network to the most appropriate team member, resulting in faster response times while freeing up providers to focus on caring for members.

•

Salaried model with flexible work schedules. Our salaried model avoids adverse fee-for-service and capitation incentives, and does not financially
reward or penalize our providers based on utilization. It supports the delivery of the right amount of care in the best setting without impacting
provider take-home pay. Additionally, we have flexible work arrangements and opportunities to practice in office or virtually. We believe this results
in a better quality of life and work-life balance. With a presence in markets across the country, we also increasingly offer providers mobility
opportunities.

Value Proposition for Health Networks
•

Expansion of health networks. Our partnership model allows health networks to augment their existing primary care and network strategies, without
significant additional investment in capital, technology or management resources. Partnering with us can be a more effective, expeditious,
economical, and less risky way of developing a coordinated network of attributable lives. Additionally, our model can better position health
networks with consumers and employers by focusing on consumer-driven care and facilitating direct-to-employer relationships.

•

Attractive customer base. Health networks look to partner with us to proactively establish relationships with our members. These partnerships allow
health networks to better connect with our largely commercially insured membership base.

•

Coordinated care. We clinically and digitally integrate our modernized primary care model with our health network partners' provider networks,
better coordinating care for members across a continuum of settings. We digitally integrate EHR information, avoiding duplicative testing often seen
when patients are referred across care settings. Through better coordination, we provide members with more seamless access to specialty care when
needed. We simultaneously reduce excessive health network administrative costs by linking our referral processes and digital technologies with
health network partners. This coordination of care can lead to better experiences and outcomes for members, as well as reduced costs.
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•

Value Based Care. Our primary care model focuses on providing the right care at the right time, thereby reducing the need for costly and potentially
unnecessary medical care which is often prevalent in the current fee-for-service healthcare system. As a result, we enter into At-Risk arrangements
with payers such as Medicare Advantage plans and CMS, where we are responsible for managing a range of healthcare services and associated costs
of our members.

Our Competitive Strengths
We believe the following are our key competitive strengths.
Modernized Membership-Based Model
Our membership-based model supports ongoing and longitudinal relationships where we can serve as trusted advisors to our members and as partners to
our enterprise clients and health networks. Our model also generates stable revenue which is recurring in nature. By having an enrolled population of members,
we can proactively reach out to members to encourage adherence to treatment protocols or to check in on their care needs. The relationship inherent in a
membership model is very different than the traditional model of transactional patient care visits, where a provider typically only engages with a patient if the
patient comes in for a visit. We proactively engage with our members on a regular basis through our digital platform and in our welcoming offices, and believe
we are better able to develop long-term connections and relationships with them.
Extraordinary Customer Experience
Our human-centered approach is focused on providing a superior experience to our members, as evidenced by the bundling of services within our
membership model, the way we hire and train our team, the culture of caring we foster, our easy-to-use technology, our 24/7 digital health, our inviting in-office
care, our compassionate and salaried providers and our streamlined Lean processes. Whether members call, click or visit, they experience outstanding service, as
evidenced by our average NPS of 90 across our membership base over the twelve months ended December 31, 2021. See "Overview" section above for a
description of how we calculate NPS. Our virtual care is available around-the-clock. Our inviting medical offices are well-appointed and modern, and our
providers and staff are very friendly and trained in customer service. We are committed to not keeping members waiting long, if at all, and our longer
appointments provide our team with more time to address member needs. Our technology is designed to promote frictionless access, ease of use and high
engagement. We look to address the whole-person needs of our members, providing physical and mental health services, lab services, and coordinating specialty
services with health network partners. Our administrative staff is available to answer benefits questions and help navigate the healthcare ecosystem on behalf of
our members.
Simultaneously Addressing the Needs of Consumers, Employers, Providers and Health Networks
Our modernized model simultaneously addresses the frustrations and unmet needs of key stakeholders, transforming health care from within the current
ecosystem. For consumers, we deliver an extraordinary experience and superior results, including on key primary care-related HEDIS quality measures. For
employers, we help improve employee productivity through frictionless access to virtual and in-office care and reduce medical costs by avoiding unnecessary
emergency room and specialty visits. For providers, we create a more engaging and manageable primary care work environment by leveraging a salaried model
and our proprietary technology. With health networks, we clinically integrate to expand their connections to commercially insured enrollees, and we are innetwork with most health insurance plans in all of our markets. Our ability to lower medical costs for our members also allows us to enter into value based
arrangements with select health networks such as Medicare Advantage health plans and CMS. Accordingly, we believe our model delivers differentiated value to
all key stakeholders simultaneously within the current healthcare ecosystem.
Engaged, Salaried Providers Delivering Best-in-Class Care
We offer an outstanding environment to practice primary care, as reflected in our high provider retention rates and strong engagement scores. Our
salaried compensation approach allows our providers to deliver patient-centered care without impacting their pay as might be the case under fee-for-service
compensation approaches. Our providers also have significantly fewer EHR tasks to complete due to our proprietary technology that is purpose-built for primary
care, freeing up their time to focus on delivering outstanding clinical care.
Proprietary Technology Platforms
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Our ability to simultaneously deliver significant value to key stakeholders is deeply rooted in our purpose-built, modernized technology platforms. Our
proprietary technology platforms power all aspects of our company: engaging members, supporting providers and advancing business objectives. Our
technology allows us to proactively engage members with personalized clinical outreach and improve health through online scheduling, virtual provider visits
and ready access to health information. Our technology also supports providers by leveraging machine learning to reduce and re-route tasks that needlessly
create administrative burdens while supporting team-based care. This allows providers to spend more time delivering clinical care, while facilitating higher
levels of member responsiveness. Our technology also advances operational efficiencies, as our product designers and engineers collaborate closely with clinical
and operational team members to observe and optimize workflows in ways that support better tracking of our members' health and outcomes. Our platform is
built on a modern cloud-based technology stack, employing Agile development cycles and a DevOps approach to infrastructure. Our modular, service-oriented
architecture utilizes Application Programming Interface ("API") standards for ease of implementing new functionalities and integrating with external systems.
Operating Platform for High Performance at Scale
Our approach for operating and scaling our platform is based on leading process improvement and management practices. We leverage Lean
methodologies for process improvement, human-centered design thinking, behavioral design, and Agile methodologies for software development to deliver high
performance levels at scale. Our operational processes, software development and staffing models, including our virtual medical team, are designed to work
together to create efficiencies and uniquely achieve our objectives. Moreover, we standardize our processes and practices so we can efficiently deliver consistent
outcomes at scale across existing and new markets, which we believe will further drive our financial performance.
Highly Experienced Management Team
Our management team has extensive experience working with leading health systems, health plans, technology companies, service organizations,
consumer brands, and enterprise-sales-driven companies. Our leadership embodies our cultural alignment around our behavioral tenants of being humancentered, team-based, unbounded in thinking, driven to excel, and intellectually curious. Our leaders help organize teams of clinicians, technologists and staff to
regularly engage together in designing processes and software to further advance our objectives. Accordingly, our team is well positioned to execute on our
objectives and advance an outstanding workplace environment.
Our Growth Strategies
To transform health care at scale, we can pursue growth through the following avenues.
Grow membership in existing markets
We have significant opportunities to increase membership in our existing markets through (i) new sales to consumers and enterprise clients,
(ii) expansion of the number of enrolled members, including dependents, within our enterprise clients, (iii) expansion of the number of At-Risk members
including Medicare Advantage participants or Medicare members for which we are at risk as a result of CMS' Direct Contracting Program, (iv) expansion of
Medicare Advantage payers, with whom we contract and (v) adding other potential services.
As of December 31, 2021, we had more than 8,500 enterprise clients. Of our 703,000 Consumer and Enterprise members as of December 31, 2021, 61%
were from our enterprise clients. Within enterprise clients, our median activation rate as of December 31, 2021 was over 40%. We believe the number of clients,
the number of eligible lives and enrolled members will increase over time as our brand awareness grows and our customer relationships mature. We define
estimated activation rate for any enterprise client at a given time as the percentage of eligible lives enrolled as members. Some of our enterprise clients offer
membership benefits to the dependents of their employees, for which we assume eligible lives include one dependent per employee. Additionally, while the
percentage of enterprise clients offering our services to dependents of their employees has grown from 67% in 2016 to over 75% as of December 31, 2021, we
believe we have continued room to further grow the number of enterprise clients offering membership benefits to dependent of their employees. Furthermore, as
we continue to scale our presence, we anticipate an increasing number of larger national and regional employers will look to partner with us for our services.
As of December 31, 2021, we also had approximately 33,000 At-Risk members and partnered with 8 Medicare Advantage payers across our 10
geographies where we have At-Risk members.
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Expand into new markets
We are physically present in 25 markets with plans to enter four new markets in 2022. We assess potential markets using a variety of metrics, including
population demographics and density, employer presence, potential health network partners, and other factors. In addition, we launched One Medical Now, a
service offering that provides 24/7 access to unlimited virtual care nationwide, which is sold to new and existing enterprise clients to cover employees in
geographies where we are not yet physically present. We do not count employees who have access to or use One Medical Now as members, but we believe this
new virtual offering may help us enroll new members in a new geography if and when we decide to offer our in-person offering. We believe some or all of our
service offerings are viable in most geographies across the United States.
As of December 31, 2021, our At-Risk offering was available in 10 markets, and our commercial offering was available in 19 markets. We expect to
continue to expand our At-Risk offering into markets where we currently only have a commercial offering, as well as our commercial offering into markets
where we currently only have an At-Risk offering. In addition, we plan to enter new markets to continue to grow our business. Given our service offering, we
can expand our Medicare Advantage offering throughout the year and are not beholden to the annual Medicare enrollment cycle.
We are one of a select group of companies that participate in the Direct Contracting Program, which is an initiative with a new payment model in which
CMS contracts directly with provider-entities designated by CMS as Direct Contracting Entities. As a result, we have an opportunity to expand our Direct
Contracting service offering to new geographies over time.
Grow health network partnerships
To accelerate our growth and presence, we can extend existing health network partnerships into new markets where our partners may also have a
presence, or we can enter into new health network partnerships in new or existing markets. In 2021, we entered into three markets with new health network
partners, and added 8 Medicare Advantage payers and the Direct Contracting Program with CMS to our health network partnerships.
Expand services and populations
We currently provide services to members across all stages of life. In addition to supporting members with routine and preventative primary, chronic and
acute care, we typically provide lab and immunization services, women's health, men's health, LGBTQ+ care, pediatrics, geriatrics, sports medicine, lifestyle and
wellbeing programs. In addition, we expanded our service offering in part as a response to COVID-19 and launched several new billable services, including:
•

COVID-19 testing, and counseling across all of our markets, including in our offices and in several mobile COVID-19 testing sites;

•

COVID-19 vaccinations in select geographies;

•

Healthy Together, our COVID-19 screening and testing program for employers, schools and universities;

•

Mindset by One Medical, our behavioral health service integrated within primary care;

•

One Medical Now, an expansion of our 24/7 on-demand digital health solutions to employees of enterprise clients located in geographies where we
are not yet physically present; and,

•

Remote Visits, where our providers perform typical primary care visits with our members remotely

Competition
We compete in a highly fragmented primary care market with direct and indirect competitors that offer varying services to key stakeholders such as
consumers, employers, providers, and health networks. Our competitive success is contingent on our ability to simultaneously address the needs of key
stakeholders efficiently and with superior outcomes at scale. We expect to face increasing competition, both from current competitors, who may be wellestablished and enjoy greater resources or other strategic advantages to compete for some or all key stakeholders in our markets, as well as new entrants into our
market.
We believe our most direct competition today is from primary care providers who are employed by or affiliated with health networks. We also face
competition from direct-to-consumer solutions or employer-focused on-site primary care offerings. These competitors may be narrower in their competitive
footprint and may not address all the key stakeholders we serve simultaneously. Our indirect competitors also include episodic point solutions such as
telemedicine offerings as well as urgent care providers. These offerings may typically pay providers on a fee-for-service basis rather than the salaried model we
employ. Given the size of the healthcare industry and the extent of unmet needs, we expect additional competition, potentially from new companies, including
smaller emerging companies which could introduce new solutions and services, as well as other
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incumbent players in the healthcare industry or from other industries who could develop their own offerings and may have substantial resources and
relationships to leverage. In particular, in light of the COVID-19 pandemic, existing or new competitors have developed or further invested in telemedicine and
remote medicine programs and ventures, which would compete with our virtual care offerings. With the emergence of new technologies and market entrants, we
expect to face increasing competition over time, which we believe will generally increase awareness of the need for modernized primary care models and other
innovative solutions in the United States and globally.
The principal competitive factors in our industry include:
•

patient engagement, satisfaction and utilization;

•

convenience, accessibility and availability;

•

brand awareness and reputation;

•

technology capabilities including interoperability with legacy enterprise and health network infrastructures;

•

ability to address the needs of employers and payers;

•

ability to attract and retain quality providers;

•

ability to reduce costs;

•

level of participation in insurance plans;

•

alignment with health networks;

•

domain expertise in health care, technology, sales and service;

•

scalability of models; and

•

operational execution abilities.

We believe that we compete favorably with our competitors on the basis of these factors and we believe the offerings of competitors inadequately
address the needs of key stakeholders simultaneously or fail to do so at scale.
Sales and Marketing
Our marketing and sales initiatives focus on member growth through three primary avenues: directly acquiring consumer and Medicare members,
working with Medicare agents and brokers, and signing agreements with employers that sponsor employee memberships as part of their benefits packages. We
use marketing and sales strategies to reach consumers, Medicare eligibles, as well as enterprise benefits leaders. Enterprise marketing and sales strategies also
include account-based marketing, business development initiatives, and client service teams focused on customer acquisition, employee enrollment, and member
engagement. With a growing national model that is now even larger with the recent addition of Iora, we aspire to be the most loved brand in health care. We
anchor our brand messaging on how we delight our members with human-centered, technology-powered care.
Consumer Sales & Marketing
When we market and sell directly to individuals who are not Medicare eligible, we initially focus on increasing brand awareness, followed by
performance marketing targeted toward member enrollment.
Our marketing strategy in new markets is primarily centered on increasing overall brand awareness, familiarity, consideration and ultimately
enrollment. To achieve these objectives, we showcase our model via direct mail, print, digital, out-of-home, broadcast, and social media advertising. We also
develop thought leadership content such as whitepapers, eBooks, and blog posts and use public relations to secure earned media placements. Additionally, we
participate in industry conferences, and may partner with media outlets, event venues, and local businesses to increase brand awareness.
As brand awareness increases in more established markets, we shift our efforts to performance marketing focused on both customer acquisition and
engagement. Our performance marketing initiatives include customized task-based in-app
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messages and email communications to drive engagement among members, in addition to more targeted advertisements through direct mail, Google Search,
YouTube and social media for member acquisition.
Enterprise Sales & Marketing
Our in-house enterprise sales force is organized by geography and customer size. To support our sales force, we segment market data to help with
prospect qualification and leverage publicly available and trade organization material to focus on enterprise clients who we believe value health outcomes and
medical cost reduction targets. The sales analytics team further supports our value to employers with population health data and medical cost assessment.
Additionally, our client services team actively manages our customer accounts through in-depth reporting on metrics such as NPS, member activation,
utilization, engagement, and value.
We also work with channel partners such as health plans, payroll and professional employer organizations to reach enterprise clients, including small
and midsize businesses and early stage new businesses. Additionally, we partner with select regional and national benefits brokers and consultants to educate
potential customers on our offerings.
After onboarding new enterprise accounts, we shift our focus to enrolling and engaging employees. These efforts include on-site visits to employers,
enterprise email communications, and social media and other forms of performance marketing. In 2021, these efforts also increasingly included COVID-19
screening and testing, and flu vaccination campaigns.
Medicare Sales & Marketing
Our growth strategy to the Medicare population is focused on balancing brand awareness and lead generation through paid media, organic activities and
community outreach. We create brand awareness through TV, radio, print and out of home advertising, which is focused on telling our story and highlighting
relationship-based care. We also add a variety of digital media and direct mail to drive lead generation and patient acquisition. We build fully integrated
campaigns that vary by market based on market penetration, objectives and market response rates to different initiatives.
In addition to paid media, we focus on organic media through Search Engine Optimization ("SEO") work, online reviews and driving word of mouth
through our patient base.
We also deploy a field sales team who manages community outreach and local presence. This team works with agents and brokers to educate them on
our care model. They also look for opportunities to connect with prospects directly in the communities we serve. Lastly, we have utilized third party telesales
vendors to help drive new sales.
Intellectual Property
We believe that our intellectual property rights are important to our business. We rely on a combination of trademarks, service marks, copyrights, trade
secrets, and patent applications to protect our proprietary technology and other intellectual property. As of December 31, 2021, we exclusively own eleven
registered trademarks in the United States, including One Medical and Iora marks, with additional registrations currently pending. In addition, we have
registered domain names for websites that we use or may use in our business. As of December 31, 2021, we had no issued patents and one pending patent
application in the United States. Currently, we do not have patent protection for any of our proprietary technology, including our technology platforms, mobile
app or web portal. As of December 31, 2021, we have registered copyright ownership of the Healthy Together Playbook, an important part of our Healthy
Together return-to-work program helping employers to safely bring their workforce back together amidst the pandemic.
We seek to control access to and distribution of our proprietary information, including our algorithms, source and object code, designs, and business
processes, through security measures and contractual restrictions. We seek to limit access to our confidential and proprietary information on a "need to know"
basis and enter into confidentiality and nondisclosure agreements with our employees, consultants, customers, vendors, and others that may receive or otherwise
have access to any confidential or proprietary information. We have company policies relating to intellectual property protection and we train our workforce on
the same from time to time. We also obtain written invention assignment agreements from our employees, consultants, and vendors that assign to us all right,
interest, and title to inventions and work product developed during their employment or service engagement with us. In the normal course of business, we
provide our intellectual property to external parties through licensing or restricted use agreements. We have established a system of security measures to help
protect our computer systems from security breaches and computer viruses. We have employed various technology and process-based methods, such as clustered
and multi-layer firewalls, intrusion detection systems, vulnerability assessments, threat intelligence, content filtering,
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endpoint security (including anti-malware and detection response capabilities), email security mechanisms, and access control mechanisms. We also use
encryption techniques for data at rest and in transit.
Government Regulation
The healthcare industry and the practice of medicine are governed by an extensive and complex framework of federal and state laws, which continue to
evolve and change over time. The costs and resources necessary to comply with these laws are high. Our profitability depends in part upon our ability, and that
of our affiliated professional entities and their providers, to operate in compliance with applicable laws and to maintain all applicable licenses. A review of our
operations by courts or regulatory authorities could result in determinations that could adversely affect our operations, or the healthcare regulatory environment
could change in a way that restricts our operations.
Practice of Medicine
Corporate Practice of Medicine and Fee-Splitting
We contract with our affiliated professional entities, who in turn employ or retain physicians and other medical providers to deliver professional clinical
services to patients. We typically enter into ASAs with our affiliated professional entities pursuant to which we provide them with a wide range of administrative
services and receive payment from the affiliated professional entity. These administrative services arrangements are subject to state laws, including those in
certain of the states where we operate, which prohibit the practice of medicine by, and/or the splitting of professional fees with, non-professional persons or
entities such as general business corporations.
Corporate practice of medicine and fee-splitting prohibitions vary widely from state to state. In addition, such prohibitions are subject to broad powers of
interpretation and enforcement by state regulators. Our failure to comply could lead to adverse action against us and/or our providers by courts or state agencies,
civil or criminal penalties, loss of provider licenses, or the need to restructure our business model and/or physician relationships, any of which could harm our
business.
Practice of Medicine and Provider Licensing
The practice of medicine by our affiliated professional entities is subject to various federal, state, and local laws and requirements, including, among
other things, laws relating to the practice of medicine (including remote care), quality and adequacy of care, non-physician personnel (including advanced
practitioners and non-clinicians), supervisory requirements, behavioral health, medical equipment, and the prescribing and dispensing of pharmaceuticals and
controlled substances.
Telehealth Provider Licensing, Medical Practice, Certification and Related Laws and Guidelines
Providers who provide professional medical services to a patient via telehealth must, in most instances, hold a valid license to practice medicine in the
state in which the patient is located, unless there are applicable exceptions. Federal and state laws also limit the ability of providers to prescribe pharmaceuticals
and controlled substances via telehealth. We have established systems for ensuring that our affiliated providers are appropriately licensed under applicable state
law and that their provision of telehealth to our members occurs in each instance in compliance with applicable rules governing telehealth. Failure to comply
with these laws and regulations could lead to adverse action against our providers, which could harm our business model and/or physician relationships and have
a negative impact on our business.
Other Healthcare Laws
The False Claims Act and its implementing regulations include several separate criminal penalties for making false or fraudulent claims to nongovernmental payers. The healthcare fraud statute prohibits knowingly and recklessly executing a scheme or artifice to defraud any healthcare benefit program,
which includes private payers. Violation of this statute is a felony and may result in fines, imprisonment, or exclusion from government healthcare programs.
The false statements statute prohibits knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing, or covering up a material fact by any trick, scheme, or device, or making
any materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement in connection with the delivery of or payment for healthcare benefits, items, or services. Violation of this
statute is a felony and may result in fines or imprisonment. This statute could be used by the government to assert criminal liability if a healthcare provider
knowingly fails to refund an overpayment. The federal government engages in significant civil and criminal enforcement efforts against healthcare companies
under the False Claims Act and other civil and criminal statutes. False Claims Act investigations can be initiated not only by the government, but by private
parties through qui tam (or whistleblower) lawsuits. Penalties for False Claims Act violations include fines ranging from $12,537 to $25,076 per false claim or
statement (as of January 2022, and subject to annual adjustments for
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inflation), plus up to three times the amount of damages sustained by the federal government. Violations of the False Claims Act violations can also result in
exclusion from participation in government healthcare programs. In addition, many states have adopted analogous or similar fraud and false claims laws.
In addition, the Civil Monetary Penalties Law imposes civil administrative sanctions for, among other violations, (1) inappropriate billing of services to
government healthcare programs, (2) employing or contracting with individuals or entities who are excluded from participation in government healthcare
programs, and (3) offering or providing Medicare or Medicaid beneficiaries with any remuneration, including full or partial waivers of co-payments and
deductibles, that are likely to influence the beneficiary's selection of a particular provider, practitioner, or supplier (subject to an exception for non-routine,
unadvertised co-payment and deductible waivers based on individualized determinations of financial need or exhaustion of reasonable collection efforts).
State and Federal Health Information Privacy and Security Laws
We must comply with various federal and state laws related to the privacy and security of personal information, including health information. In
particular, HIPAA, as amended by the HITECH Act, and its implementing regulations, establishes privacy and security standards that limit the use and
disclosure of protected health information, or PHI, and requires the implementation of administrative, physical, and technical safeguards to ensure the
confidentiality, integrity, and availability of PHI. The affiliated professional entities are regulated as covered entities under HIPAA. HIPAA's requirements are
also directly applicable to the contractors, agents, and other business associates of covered entities that create, receive, maintain, or transmit PHI in connection
with their provision of services to covered entities. 1Life and its subsidiaries are business associates of the affiliated professional entities, health network partners
and other covered entities when performing certain administrative services on their behalf.
We are also subject to the HIPAA breach notification rule, which requires covered entities to notify affected individuals of breaches of unsecured PHI. In
addition, covered entities must notify the Secretary of Health and Human Services, or HHS, Office of Civil Rights, or OCR, and the local media if a breach
affects more than 500 individuals. Breaches affecting fewer than 500 individuals must be reported to OCR on an annual basis. The HIPAA regulations also
require business associates to notify the covered entity of breaches by the business associate.
Violations of HIPAA can result in significant civil and criminal penalties and a single breach incident can result in violations of multiple standards.
Many states in which we operate have their own laws protecting the privacy and security of personal information, including health information. We must comply
with such laws in the states where we do business in addition to our obligations under HIPAA. In some states, such as California, state privacy laws are even
more protective than HIPAA. It may sometimes be necessary to modify our operations and procedures to comply with these more stringent state laws. State data
privacy and security laws are subject to change, and we could be subject to financial penalties and sanctions if we fail to comply with these laws.
In addition to federal and state laws protecting the privacy and security of personal information, we may be subject to other types of federal and state
privacy laws, including laws that prohibit unfair privacy and security practices and deceptive statements about privacy and security, along with laws that impose
specific requirements on certain types of activities, such as data security and texting.
Federal and State Fraud and Abuse Laws
Federal Stark Law
We are subject to the federal physician self-referral law, commonly known as the Stark Law, which prohibits physicians from referring Medicare or
Medicaid patients to an entity for the provision of certain "designated health services" if the referring physician or a member of the physician's immediate family
has a direct or indirect financial relationship (including an ownership interest or a compensation arrangement) with the entity, unless an exception applies. The
Stark Law is a strict liability statute, which means intent to violate the law is not required. In addition, the government and some courts have taken the position
that claims presented in violation of various fraud, waste, and abuse laws, including the Stark Law, can be considered a predicate legal violation to submission of
a false claim under the federal False Claims Act (described below) on the grounds that a provider impliedly certifies compliance with all applicable laws and
rules when submitting claims for reimbursement. Penalties for violating the Stark Law may include: denial of payment for services ordered in violation of the
law, recoupments of monies paid for such services, civil penalties for each violation and three times the dollar value of each such service, and exclusion from
participation in government healthcare programs. Violations of the Stark Law could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and
results of operations.
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Federal Anti-Kickback Statute
We are also subject to the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which, subject to certain exceptions known as "safe harbors," prohibits the knowing and willful
offer, payment, solicitation or receipt of any bribe, kickback, rebate or other remuneration, in cash or in kind, in return for, or to induce, the (1) the referral of a
person covered by government healthcare programs, (2) the furnishing or arranging for the furnishing of items or services reimbursable under government
healthcare programs, or (3) the purchasing, leasing, ordering, or arranging or recommending the purchasing, leasing, or ordering, of any item or service
reimbursable under government healthcare programs. Federal courts have held that the Anti-Kickback Statute can be violated if just one purpose of a payment is
to induce referrals. Actual knowledge of this statute or specific intent to violate it is not required, which makes it easier for the government to prove that a
defendant had the state of mind required for a violation. In addition to a few statutory exceptions, the Human Services Office of Inspector General, or OIG, has
promulgated safe harbor regulations that outline categories of activities that are deemed protected from prosecution under the Anti-Kickback Statute, provided
all applicable criteria are met. The failure of a financial relationship to meet all of the applicable safe harbor criteria does not necessarily mean that the particular
arrangement violates the Anti-Kickback Statute, but business arrangements that do not fully satisfy all elements of a safe harbor may result in increased scrutiny
by OIG and other enforcement authorities. Violations of the Anti-Kickback Statute can result in exclusion from government healthcare programs as well as civil
and criminal penalties, including fines of $50,000 per violation and three times the amount of the unlawful remuneration. Violations of the Anti-Kickback
Statute could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
State Fraud, Waste and Abuse Laws
Several states in which we operate have also adopted similar fraud, waste, and abuse laws to those described above. The scope and content of these laws
vary from state to state and are enforced by state courts and regulatory authorities. Some states' fraud and abuse laws, known as "all-payer laws," are not limited
to government healthcare programs, but apply more broadly to items or services reimbursed by any payer, including commercial insurers. Liability under state
fraud, waste, and abuse laws could result in fines, penalties, and restrictions on our ability to operate in those jurisdictions.
Our Health Network Partnerships
Our health network partnerships include health system partners and arrangements with private and government payers.
Health System Partners
We have entered into strategic partnership arrangements with each of our health system partners under which we and the health system partner create a
clinically integrated care delivery model that coordinates our network of affiliated primary care practices with the health system partner's healthcare system to
better deliver coordinated care for members, improve operational efficiencies, and deliver value to employers and other players.
Fee Structure
Under most of the strategic partnership arrangements, the health system partners contract with one or more of our affiliated professional entities for
professional clinical services and contract with 1Life for management, operational and administrative services, including billing and collection services and
designing and managing the day-to-day administration of the business aspects of the primary care practices. Under these arrangements, when our medical offices
provide professional clinical services to covered members, we, as administrator, perform billing and collection services on behalf of the health system, and the
health system receives the fees for the services provided, including those paid by members' insurance plans. In return for these professional clinical,
management, operational and administrative services, we receive (i) fees from these health system partners on a PMPM basis, which may be based on various
factors such as visit rates, other primary care relationships our health system partners may have, and the rates these health system partners receive from payers,
or (ii) fee-for-service payments based on our health system partners' health insurance contracts.
Term and Termination
The term of each strategic partnership arrangement is typically five or more years and automatically renews for additional two- to five-year terms unless
either we or the health system partners decide not to renew. We or the health system partners generally may terminate a strategic partnership arrangement with
90 days' notice upon certain events such as uncured breach, mutual consent, or a change in law that conflicts with the applicable arrangement. The strategic
partnership
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arrangements generally may be terminated immediately upon certain events such as bankruptcy, exclusion and in some cases, business combinations involving
us and a specified competing health system. Certain health system partners may also terminate upon their determination that we no longer meet their criteria for
clinical partnership or the values or mission of the health system partner.
Exclusivity and Non-Solicitation
Under the terms of strategic partnership arrangements, we typically cannot enter into a similar arrangement with direct competitors to the health system
partner within the territory covered by the strategic partnership arrangement. Additionally, the terms of some of the strategic partnership arrangements include a
mutual non-solicitation clause, prohibiting us and our health system partners from soliciting each other's employees during the term of the arrangement and for
one year following its expiration, subject to certain customary recruiting practices.
Clinic Commitments and Development Fees
Pursuant to each strategic partnership arrangement, we typically commit to open an initial number of clinics, ranging from low single digits to midteen double digits depending on the area covered, within the initial term. Our health system partners pay us certain development fees for the opening of each
clinic.
Arrangements with Private and Government Payers
We have entered into At-Risk arrangements with a variety of Medicare payers such as private Medicare health plans including large national and
regional payers, as well as with CMS, in which we receive a PMPM fee and are responsible for managing a range of healthcare services and associated costs of
our members. Our At-Risk arrangements with private payers are generally managed on a region by region basis and we typically enter into a separate contract in
each region with a payer's local affiliate.
The PMPM fee that we receive is determined in part by these payers and is based on a variety of patient factors such as age and demographic
benchmarks, and further adjusted to reflect the underlying complexity of a patient’s health conditions (acuity). Under certain contracts, we may also adjust the
PMPM fees for a percentage share of any additional gross capitated revenues and associated medical claims expense generated by the provision of healthcare
services not directly provided by us.
Private Payer Arrangements
Our At-Risk arrangements with private payers generally range from two to 11 years and will typically renew automatically for additional one- to twoyear terms unless either we or the private payer decide not to renew. In general, at the end of an initial term, we or the private payer may terminate an
arrangement with not less than 120 days’ notice. Also, we or the private payer generally may terminate an arrangement immediately upon certain events such as
bankruptcy and exclusion or with 60 days' notice upon certain events such as uncured breach, mutual consent, or a change in law that conflicts with the
applicable arrangement.
Direct Contracting Arrangement with CMS
We have entered into an agreement with the CMS’ Direct Contracting Program. The Direct Contracting Program is an initiative with a new payment
model in which CMS contracts directly with provider-entities as Direct Contracting Entities, or DCEs, and is part of CMS’ strategy to drive broader healthcare
reform and accelerate the shift from Medicare’s original fee-for-service model toward value-based care models. We are one of a limited group of companies
chosen by CMS to be a DCE and to participate in the Global Risk component of the Direct Contracting Program, which started on April 1, 2021 and will be
tested over six years. The Direct Contracting Program allows us to shift to an At-Risk model and receive a capitated, per member per month payment for
managing the health of the enrolled patients that is based on what CMS would be paying for the enrolled patients if they were members of a Medicare
Advantage health plan. The Direct Contracting Program allows us to take risk on these patients and share the economic benefits with CMS.
Our Enterprise Client Agreements
We enter into contractual arrangements with our enterprise clients pursuant to which our clients purchase memberships from us for their employees and,
in certain circumstances, we provide on-site and near-site clinics and health services. The transaction price for memberships under most of these contracts is
determined on a per employee per month basis, based on the
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number of employees eligible for membership established at the beginning of each contract period. Our contracts with enterprise clients typically have one- to
three-year terms.
Google Services Agreement
In August 2017, we entered into an inbound services agreement, or the ISA, with Google Inc. and certain of our affiliated professional entities. Under the
ISA, we and Google enter into statements of work, or SOWs. As part of one or more of the SOW's, Google sponsors memberships for their employees and
dependents in certain markets in exchange for payment of annual fees. We also provide on-site clinics and health services for certain Google office locations
under one or more SOWs. Under the ISA, Google is not obligated to enter into any SOWs with us, and we are not obligated to provide any services to Google
except as agreed in the SOWs. Any party may terminate the ISA or any SOW in certain circumstances, including following an uncured material breach, or
suspend or terminate any SOW if applicable law prohibits performance under the SOW. For 2020, Google accounted for 10% of our net revenue. For 2021,
Google accounted for less than 10% of our net revenue.
Human Capital Resources
Employee Well-Being and Culture
We recognize that to be successful in our mission to transform healthcare, we need to take care of our teams as much as we take care of the members
we serve. We reinforce this through our culture and team-based approach to longitudinal care as well as our salaried provider model, which eliminates the
volume-based, fee-for-service compensation model commonly seen in our industry that could drive provider burnout. We also offer flexible work arrangements
and opportunities to practice in-office or virtually. We believe this results in a better quality of life and work-life balance.
To assist us with tracking the levels of engagement and satisfaction of our team members, we conduct annual team member engagement surveys to
assess their views on the Company’s employee well-being, work-life blend, career advancement opportunities, inclusion and learning and development
opportunities. We also provide our team members with confidential channels to voice their concerns. The feedback that we collect from these surveys and from
alternative channels are used to assess employee engagement, our Company culture and our workplace environment as well as to refine and implement programs
and processes for our team members. Our commitment to a team-based, collaborative environment and the values and benefits we provide to employees
contributed to us being named by Forbes and Statista as one of America's Best Midsize Employers of 2022.
We believe our culture embodies five distinct qualities which we refer to as our DNA:
Human-Centered. We stay humble and empathetic, putting people at the heart of everything we build and every decision we make.
Team-Based. We communicate effectively, respect our teammates, and make the difficult tradeoffs that foster the success of the organization.
Intellectually Curious. We know we don't know everything; we're always eager to learn, and we're never afraid to question the status quo.
Unbounded-Thinking. By staying open minded, creative, and positive, we aim to push beyond constraints that have stymied those before us.
Driven to Excel. In our quest to be the best Primary Care group in the country, we focus on getting things done and pay attention to the little details
that matter.
Training and Development
We believe in ensuring that all team members have access to tools to help them grow their careers and have focused our training and development on
two primary areas: professional/career and leader development. We have invested in an array of internally generated and externally sourced learning resources,
including a range of in-person, virtual and self-directed learning opportunities for our team members to help them develop the skills and competencies to further
their career at One Medical.
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Compensation and Benefits
We are committed to fair compensation practices and, as a primary care company, we take a comprehensive approach to curating benefits for our
employees to enable them to thrive personally and professionally and offer benefits that support an employee's mental, physical, financial and family well-being.
We offer qualifying employees access to a variety of benefits, including, medical, dental and vision coverage, childcare benefits, flexible spending accounts,
financial wellness and planning, paid time-off and parental leave, life and disability insurance, 401(k) plan matching contributions and resources for health and
wellness, including complimentary One Medical membership and access to One Medical Virtual Coaching and various employee assistance programs. We also
offer a four-week Company-paid sabbatical to qualifying team members who reach five and 10 years of service with us to allow team members to pursue
personal and professional development. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, we have also implemented special paid-time-off policies for employees who
need to quarantine due to exposure to COVID-19.
Diversity and Inclusion
We also recognize the importance of having a diverse and inclusive environment as part of our mission of transforming healthcare. We maintain a
Diversity, Equity, Inclusion and Justice Committee to encourage best practices to foster diversity, equity, inclusion and social justice in the workplace. To help
support career development for our Black and Latinx team members, we have implemented mentorship programs and have also implemented training programs
to help advance our culture of diversity, inclusion, equity and justice. Recently, we have also established a Health Equity Domain Working Group that evaluates
policies and best practices on providing care in a manner that respects the diversity of our patients and the cultural factors that can affect their health.
As of December 31, 2021, we had 3,090 full-time employees and none of our employees were represented by labor unions or covered by collective
bargaining agreements. We consider our relationship with our employees to be good and we have not experienced any work stoppages due to labor
disagreements.
Corporate and Available Information
We were incorporated under the laws of the state of Delaware in July 2002 under the name 1Life Healthcare, Inc. Our principal executive offices are
located at One Embarcadero Center, Suite 1900, San Francisco, California 94111. Our telephone number is (415) 814-0927.
Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and, if applicable, amendments to those reports filed or
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, are available free of charge on or through our website, http://www.one
medical.com, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, or
the SEC. The SEC's website, http://www.sec.gov, contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file
electronically with the SEC.
Investors and others should note that we announce material financial and other information using our investor relations website, press releases, SEC
filings and public conference calls and webcasts. We also post supplemental materials on the "Events" section of our investor relations website at
investor.onemedical.com. Except as specifically noted herein, information contained on or accessible through our website is not incorporated into, and does not
form a part of, this Annual Report on Form 10-K or any other report or document we file with the SEC, and any references to our websites are intended to be
inactive textual references only.
We also use our Facebook, Twitter and LinkedIn accounts as a means of disclosing material non-public information and for complying with our
disclosure obligations under Regulation FD. The information we post through these social media channels may be deemed material. Accordingly, investors
should monitor these accounts, in addition to following our press releases, SEC filings and public conference calls and webcasts. This list may be updated from
time to time. The information we post through these channels is not a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. These channels may be updated from time to
time on our investor relations website.
Item 1A. Risk Factors.
Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should consider and read carefully all of the risks and uncertainties described below,
as well as other information included in this Annual Report, including our consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual
Report, before making an investment decision. If any of the following risks actually occur, it could harm our business, prospects, operating results and financial
condition. Unless
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otherwise indicated, references to our business being harmed in these risk factors will include harm to our business, reputation, financial condition, results of
operations, net revenue and future prospects. In such event, the trading price of our common stock could decline and you might lose all or part of your
investment. Our results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2021 include the results of operations of Iora for the period from the close of our
acquisition on September 1, 2021 through December 31, 2021.
Risks Related to Our Business and Our Industry
The ongoing coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has significantly impacted, and may continue to significantly impact our business, financial condition,
results of operations and growth.
The global COVID-19 pandemic and measures introduced by local, state and federal governments to contain the virus and mitigate its public health
effects have significantly impacted and may continue to significantly impact our business, our industry and the global economy. While the full extent of the
impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic may be difficult to predict or determine due to numerous evolving factors, including emerging variant strains of the virus
and their degree of vaccine resistance as well as reinstatements or potential reinstatements of measures to curb the spread of COVID-19, we have seen and may
continue to see adverse impacts on our operations, net revenues, expenses, collectability of accounts receivables and other money owed, capital expenditures,
liquidity, and overall financial condition, including from:
•

reduced total billable visit volumes, temporary closures of certain offices, delays in openings of new medical offices, and delayed entry into new or
expansion into existing geographies (in response to self-isolation practices, sustained remote work policies, quarantines, shelter-in-place requirements
and similar government orders);

•

higher proportions of lower-revenue generating services and products, including billable remote visits, COVID-19 testing and COVID-19 vaccinations,
which may not be reimbursable or have lower average reimbursements relative to traditional in-office visits;

•

deferral of healthcare by members and patients, which may result in difficulties completing comprehensive annual documentation of Medicare patient
health conditions, future cost increases, deferred costs and inability to accurately estimate costs for incurred but not yet reported medical services
claims for our At-Risk members, and may negatively impact the health of our patients;

•

increase in internal and third-party medical costs for care provided to At-Risk members suffering from COVID-19, which may be particularly
significant given many of our members are under At-Risk arrangements in which we receive capitated payments;

•

negative impacts to the business, results of operations and financial condition of our health network partners and their ability or willingness to continue
to pay us a fixed price PMPM if they receive reduced visit revenue due to decreases in billable utilization;

•

inquiries, regulatory or governmental investigations or other disputes that result from our provision of COVID-19 vaccinations, arrangements entered
into in reliance on related orders, laws and regulations, or the failure of various waivers for limitations of liability or other provisions under such orders,
laws and regulations that apply to us;

•

supply, resource and capital constraints related to the treatment of COVID-19 patients and disruptions or delays in the delivery of materials and
products in the supply chain for our offices and increased capital expenditures due to the need to buy incremental materials or services;

•

staffing shortages and increased risk for workers’ compensation claims; or

•

increased costs, diversion of resources from managing our business and growth and reputational harm due to (i) implementation of new services and
products in reliance on continuously evolving regulatory standards, (ii) alterations to our operations to address the changing needs of our members
during the pandemic, or (iii) member or enterprise client dissatisfaction due to inaccurate results from testing or other services, overburdening of our
medical offices and virtual care teams with inquiries and requests, which may result in longer phone wait times or service delays.
Any continuation of the above factors and outcomes could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth.
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We cannot assure you that our current billable volumes and membership levels will be sustained or that average reimbursement for billable services will
return to pre-COVID-19 levels. As more of the U.S. population receives the COVID-19 vaccination, our COVID-19 testing volumes may also decline, which
may negatively impact our membership and revenue. Further, while vaccines have become available in certain countries and many economies have reopened,
new shelter-in-place, quarantine, executive order or related measures or practices may be reinstated by governments and authorities, including due to future
waves of outbreak or emerging variant strains of COVID-19, such as the Delta and Omicron variant. Such measures and practices, if reinstated, could reduce our
total billable volumes, negatively impact our health network partners and harm our results of operations, business and financial condition.
We have continued to adjust many of our new programs to rapidly respond to the COVID-19 pandemic, including telehealth visits, testing and vaccine
administration arrangements, in reliance on continuously evolving regulatory standards such as emergency orders, laws and regulations from federal, state and
local authorities and the relaxation of certain licensure requirements and privacy restrictions for telehealth intended to permit health care providers to provide
care and distribute COVID-19 vaccines to patients during the COVID-19 pandemic. To continue providing some of these new services and products, we will be
required to comply with federal, state and local rules, mandates and guidelines, which are subject to rapid change and may vary across jurisdictions. We cannot
assure you that such orders, laws, regulations, mandates or guidelines will continue to apply or that regulators or other governmental entities will agree with our
interpretations of these orders, laws, regulations, mandates and guidelines. Failure to remain in compliance, or even the perception of non-compliance, may
curtail or result in restrictions on our ability to provide any such services, result in time-consuming and potentially costly inquiries, disputes, or investigations
(such as the vaccine inquiries discussed in Note 17, “Commitments and Contingencies” to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, or the Vaccine Inquiries, or inquiries from state and local public health departments), as well as damage to our reputation, any of
which could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. We are cooperating with the requests from the Vaccine Inquiries as well as requests
received from other governmental agencies, including with respect to our compensation practices and membership generation during the relevant periods. We
are unable to predict the outcome or timeline of any residual inquiries or if any additional requests, inquiries, investigations or other government actions may
arise relating to such circumstances. The Vaccine Inquiries, together with any additional inquiries, regulatory or governmental investigations or other disputes
that result from our provision of COVID-19 vaccinations or any other arrangements entered into in reliance on these orders, laws and regulations, or the failure
or reversal of various waivers for limitations of liability or other provisions under such orders, laws and regulations to apply to us could require us to divert
resources or adjust certain new programs to ensure compliance and harm our reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations.
The pandemic has also resulted in, and may continue to result in, significant disruption of global financial markets, potentially reducing our ability to
access capital and reducing the liquidity and value of our short-term marketable securities, which could in the future negatively affect our liquidity. In addition,
due to our At-Risk arrangements for the care of Medicare Advantage participants, the full impact of the COVID-19 pandemic may not be fully reflected in our
results of operations and overall financial condition until future periods. The COVID-19 pandemic may continue to impact our operations, and net revenues,
expenses, collectability of accounts receivables and other money owed, capital expenditures, liquidity, and overall financial condition.
We are dependent upon a limited number of key existing payers and loss of contracts with those payers, disruptions in those relationships or the inability of
such payers to maintain their contracts with CMS, could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
We are dependent on a concentrated number of third-party payers with whom we contract to provide services to At-Risk Members. Contracts with one
such payer accounted for 13% of net revenue for the four months ended December 31, 2021. We believe that a majority of our net revenue will continue to be
derived from a limited number of key payers, who may terminate their contracts with us for convenience on short-term notice, or upon the occurrence of certain
events, some of which may not be within our control. The loss of any of our payer partners or the renegotiation of any of our payer contracts could adversely
affect our operating results. In the ordinary course of business, we engage in active discussions and renegotiations with payers in respect of the services we
provide and the terms of our payers' agreements. As the payers’ businesses respond to market dynamics and financial pressures, and as payers make strategic
business decisions in respect of the lines of business they pursue and programs in which they participate, certain of our payers may seek to renegotiate or
terminate their agreements with us. These discussions could result in reductions to the fees and changes to the scope of services contemplated by our original
payer contracts and consequently could negatively impact our net revenue, business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
Because we rely on a limited number of these payers for a substantial portion of our revenue, we depend on the creditworthiness of these payers. Our
payers are subject to a number of risks, including reductions in payment rates from governmental programs, higher than expected health care costs and lack of
predictability of financial results when entering new lines of business, particularly with high-risk populations. If the financial condition of our payer partners
declines, our credit risk
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could increase. Should one or more of our significant payer partners declare bankruptcy, be declared insolvent or otherwise be restricted by state or federal laws
or regulation from continuing in some or all of their operations, this could adversely affect our ongoing revenues, the collectability of our accounts receivable,
our bad debt reserves and our net income. If a payer with which we contract loses its Medicare contracts with CMS, receives reduced or insufficient government
reimbursement under the Medicare program, decides to discontinue its Medicare Advantage and/or commercial plans, decides to contract with another company
to provide capitated care services to its patients, or decides to directly provide care, our contract with that payer could be at risk and we could lose revenue.
We are reliant upon reimbursements from certain third-party payers for the services we provide in our business and reliance on these third-party payers
could lead to delays and uncertainties in the reimbursement process.
We are reliant upon contracts with certain third-party payers in order to receive reimbursement for some of the services we provide to patients, including
value-based contracts from health insurance plans. The reimbursement process is complex and can involve lengthy delays. Although we recognize certain
revenue when we provide services to our patients, we may from time to time experience delays in receiving the associated capitation payments or, for our
patients on fee-for-service arrangements, the reimbursement for the service provided. In addition, third-party payers may disallow, in whole or in part, requests
for reimbursement based on determinations that the member is not eligible for coverage, certain amounts are not reimbursable under plan coverage or were for
services provided that were not medically necessary or additional supporting documentation is necessary. Retroactive adjustments may change amounts realized
from third-party payers. We are also subject to claims reviews and/or audits by such third-party payers, including governmental audits of our Medicare claims,
and may be required to repay these payers if a finding is made that we were incorrectly reimbursed. See “—Noncompliance with billing and documentation
requirements could result in non-payment or subject us to audits, billing or other compliance investigations by government authorities, private payers or health
network partners.” Third-party payers are also increasingly focused on controlling health care costs, and such efforts, including any revisions to reimbursement
policies, may further complicate and delay our reimbursement claims. Furthermore, our business may be adversely affected by legislative initiatives aimed at or
having the effect of reducing health care costs associated with Medicare and other changes in reimbursement policies. Delays and uncertainties in the
reimbursement process may adversely affect our collection of accounts receivable, increase the overall costs of collection and cause us to incur additional
borrowing costs to support our liquidity needs, which could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.
A significant portion of our net revenue is based on Medicare’s risk adjustment payment system and is subject to review and audit, which could result in
material adjustments to our results of operations.
CMS has implemented a risk adjustment payment system for Medicare health plans to improve the accuracy of payments and establish appropriate
compensation for Medicare plans that enroll and treat less healthy Medicare beneficiaries. CMS’ risk adjustment model bases a portion of the total CMS
reimbursement payments on various clinical and demographic factors, including hospital inpatient diagnoses, diagnosis data from hospital outpatient facilities
and physician visits, gender, age and Medicaid eligibility. CMS requires that all managed care companies capture, collect and report the necessary diagnosis
code information to CMS, which information is subject to review and audit for accuracy by CMS. This risk adjustment payment system has an indirect impact
on the payments we receive from our contracted Medicare Advantage payers. Although we, and the payers with which we contract, have auditing and
monitoring processes in place to collect and provide accurate risk adjustment data to CMS for these purposes, that program may not be sufficient to ensure
accuracy.
If the risk adjustment data submitted by us or our payers incorrectly overstates the health risk of our patients, we might be required to return to the payer
or CMS, overpayments and/or be subject to penalties or sanctions, or if the data incorrectly understates the health risk of our members, we might be underpaid
for the care that it must provide to its patients, any of which could harm our reputation and have a negative impact on our results of operations and financial
condition. CMS may also change the way that they measure risk, and the impact of any such changes could harm our business.
As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, risk adjustment scores may also fall as a result of reduced data collection, decreased patient visits or delayed
medical care and limitations on payments for certain telehealth services. As a result of the variability of factors affecting our patients’ risk scores, the actual
payments we receive from our payers, after all adjustments, could be materially more or less than our estimates. Consequently, our estimate of our patients’
aggregate member risk scores for any period may result in favorable or unfavorable adjustments to our Medicare premium revenues, which may harm our results
of operations.
Under our At-Risk arrangements with certain third-party payers, we assume the risk that the cost of providing services will exceed our compensation for
such services.
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A substantial portion of our net revenue consists of Capitated Revenue, which, in the case of third party payers or health insurance plans, is based on a
pre-negotiated percentage of the premium that the payer receives from CMS. While there are variations specific to each agreement, we sometimes contract with
payers to receive recurring PMPM revenue and assume the financial responsibility for the healthcare expenses of our patients. This type of contract is referred to
as a “capitation” contract. CMS pays capitation using risk adjustment scores. See “–A significant portion of our net revenue is based on Medicare’s risk
adjustment payment system and is subject to review and audit, which would result in material adjustments to our results of operations.” To the extent we
encounter delays in documenting patients’ acuity or patients requiring more care than initially anticipated and/or the cost of care increases, aggregate fixed
compensation amounts, or capitation payments, may be insufficient to cover the costs associated with treatment. If medical costs and expenses exceed estimates,
except in very limited circumstances, we will not be able to increase the fee received under these capitation agreements during their then-current terms and we
could suffer losses with respect to such agreements. In addition, while we maintain stop-loss insurance that helps protect us for medical claims per patient in
excess of certain levels, future claims could exceed our applicable insurance coverage limits or potential increases in insurance premiums may require us to
decrease its level of coverage.
Changes in our anticipated ratio of medical expense to revenue can significantly impact our financial results. Accordingly, the failure to adequately
predict and control medical costs and expenses and to make reasonable estimates and maintain adequate accruals for incurred but not reported claims could have
a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. Additionally, the Medicare expenses of our At-Risk members
may be outside of our control in the event that such members take certain actions that increase such expenses, such as unnecessary hospital visits. These actions
or events also make it more difficult for us to estimate medical expenses and may cause delays in reporting them to payers. Any delays or failures to adequately
predict and control medical costs may also result in delayed negative impacts to our Capitated Revenue, including as compared to our estimates of cost of care
and capitation payments. Historically, our medical costs and expenses as a percentage of revenue have fluctuated. Factors that may cause medical expenses to
exceed estimates include:
•

the health status of our At-Risk members;

•

higher levels of hospitalization among our At-Risk members;

•

higher than expected utilization of new or existing healthcare services or technologies;

•

an increase in the cost of healthcare services and supplies, whether as a result of inflation or otherwise;

•

changes to mandated benefits or other changes in healthcare laws, regulations and practices;

•

increased costs attributable to specialist physicians, hospitals and ancillary providers;

•

changes in the demographics of our At-Risk members and medical trends;

•

contractual or claims disputes with providers, hospitals or other service providers within and outside a health plan’s network;

•

the occurrence of catastrophes, major epidemics or pandemics, including COVID-19, or acts of terrorism; and

•

the reduction of health plan premiums.

If reimbursement rates paid by private third-party payers are reduced or if these third-party payers otherwise restrain our ability to obtain or provide services
to patients, our business could be harmed.
Private third-party payers, including health maintenance organizations, or HMOs, preferred provider organizations and other managed care plans, as well
as medical groups and independent practice associations that contract with HMOs, pay for the services that we provide to many of our members. As a substantial
proportion of our members are commercially insured or covered under Medicare Advantage plans with our contracted payers, if any third-party payers reduce
their reimbursement rates or elect not to cover some or all of our services, our business may be harmed. Typically, our affiliated professional entities that provide
medical services enter into contracts with certain of these payers either directly, or indirectly through certain of our health network partners, which allow them to
participate in the payers’ respective networks and set forth reimbursement rates for services rendered thereunder. As a result, our ability to maintain or increase
patient volumes covered by private third-party payers and to maintain and obtain favorable contracts with private third-party payers significantly affects our
revenue and operating results. See also “—We are dependent upon a limited number of key existing payers and loss of contracts with those
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payers, disruptions in those relationships or the inability of such payers to maintain their contracts with CMS, could adversely affect our business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects.”
Private third-party payers often use plan structures, such as narrow networks or tiered networks, to encourage or require members to use in-network
providers. In-network providers typically provide services through private third-party payers for a negotiated lower rate or other less favorable terms. Private
third-party payers generally attempt to limit use of out-of-network providers by requiring members to pay higher copayment and/or deductible amounts for outof-network care. Additionally, private third-party payers have become increasingly aggressive in attempting to minimize the use of out-of-network providers by
disregarding the assignment of payment from members to out-of-network providers (i.e., sending payments directly to members instead of to out-of-network
providers), capping out-of-network benefits payable to members, waiving out-of-pocket payment amounts and initiating litigation against out-of-network
providers for interference with contractual relationships, insurance fraud and violation of state licensing and consumer protection laws. If we become out of
network for payers, our business could be harmed and our revenue could be reduced because patients could stop using our services.
If reimbursement rates paid by Medicare or other federal or state healthcare programs are reduced, if changes in the rules governing such programs occur,
or if government payers otherwise restrain our ability to obtain or provide services to patients, our business, financial condition and results of operations
could be harmed.
A significant portion of our revenue comes from government healthcare programs, principally Medicare, either through Medicare Advantage plans or
directly, including through the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Innovation's, or CMMI's, Global and Professional Direct Contracting Model, or the GPDC
Model. In addition, many commercial payers base their reimbursement rates on the published Medicare rates or are themselves reimbursed by Medicare for the
services we provide. As a result, our results of operations are, in part, dependent on the continuation of Medicare programs, including the GPDC Model and
Medicare Advantage, as well as the levels of government funding provided therewith. Any changes that limit or reduce the GPDC Model, Medicare Advantage,
or general Medicare reimbursement levels, such as reductions in or limitations of reimbursement amounts or rates under programs, reductions in funding of
programs, expansion of benefits without adequate funding, elimination of coverage for certain benefits, or elimination of coverage for certain individuals or
treatments under programs, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
The Medicare program and its reimbursement rates and rules, are subject to frequent change. These include statutory and regulatory changes, rate
adjustments (including retroactive adjustments), administrative rulings or executive orders, interpretations and determinations, requirements for utilization
review and government funding restrictions, each of which may materially and adversely affect the rates at which CMS reimburses us for our services, as well as
affect the cost of providing service to patients and the timing of payments to our affiliated professional entities. Budget pressures often lead the federal
government to reduce or place limits on reimbursement rates under Medicare. Implementation of these and other types of measures has in the past and could in
the future result in substantial reductions in our revenue and operating margins. The final impact of the Medicare Advantage rates can vary from any estimate we
may have and may be further impacted by the relative growth of our Medicare Advantage patient volumes across certain geographies as well as by the benefit
plan designs submitted. It is possible that we may underestimate the impact of the Medicare Advantage rates on our business, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. In addition, our Medicare Advantage revenues may continue to be
volatile in the future which could have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
In addition, CMS often changes the rules governing the Medicare program, including those governing reimbursement. Changes that could adversely affect
our business include:
•

administrative or legislative changes to base rates or the bases of payment;

•

limits on the services or types of providers for which Medicare will provide reimbursement;

•

changes in methodology for patient assessment and/or determination of payment levels;

•

the reduction or elimination of annual rate increases; or

•

an increase in co-payments or deductibles payable by beneficiaries.

We are unable to predict the effect of recent and future policy changes on our operations. Recent legislative, judicial and executive efforts to enact further
healthcare reform legislation have also caused many core aspects of the current U.S. healthcare system to be unclear. While specific changes and their timing are
not yet apparent, enacted reforms and future
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legislative, regulatory, judicial, or executive changes, particularly any changes to the Medicare Advantage program, could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
Further, there is additional uncertainty around the long-term future of CMS’ GPDC Model in which we presently participate. The GPDC Model has been
developed by CMS as a means to test various financial risk-sharing arrangements in the Medicare program over a nearly six-year period, from April 1, 2021
through December 31, 2026. At the end of that nearly six-year period, CMS may discontinue the GPDC Model, which may have a material adverse effect on our
business.
The GPDC Model is a new pilot program by CMS and we may not be able to realize the expected benefits of the GPDC Model.
In 2021, CMMI announced the GPDC Model to create value-based payment arrangements directly with Direct Contracting Entities, or DCEs, which is
part of CMMI's’ strategy to test the next evolution of risk-sharing arrangement to produce value and high quality health care by permitting DCEs to participate
in value-based care arrangements with beneficiaries in Medicare fee-for-service. The GPDC Model began its first performance period on April 1, 2021.
Our wholly owned subsidiary, Iora Health NE DCE, LLC, was one of a limited number of companies chosen by CMMI as a DCE. Given the recent
launch of the GPDC Model, we have no experience serving as a DCE and may not be able to realize its expected benefits. For example, we may encounter
difficulties calibrating our historical medical expense estimates to this new beneficiary population, which has not chosen to participate in risk-based care
arrangements (unlike Medicare Advantage beneficiaries) and thus may utilize medical services differently than our current members. Moreover, beneficiaries
assigned to us under the GPDC Model may not generate revenue as expected, initially or at all, and we cannot assure you that direct contracting will allow us to
achieve the same financial outcomes on Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries as we do on our existing patients.
Additionally, adding new members through the GPDC Model will also require absorbing new members into our affiliated professional entities, which
may strain resources or negatively affect our quality of care.
We cannot assure you that the GPDC Model will continue beyond its initial nearly six-year period or that it will expand our total addressable market. We
also cannot assure you that the GPDC Model will continue as currently contemplated without material changes and/or that it will not be replaced with a different
government program. Changes to the GPDC Model could negatively impact our revenue as currently anticipated from that program.
Our business model and future growth are substantially dependent on the success of our strategic relationships with health network partners, enterprise
clients and distribution partners.
We will continue to substantially depend on our relationships with third parties, including health network partners, enterprise clients and distribution
partners to grow our business. In particular, our growth depends on maintaining existing, and developing new, strategic affiliations with health network partners,
including health systems and private and government payers. We also rely on a number of partners such as benefits enrollment platforms, professional
employment organizations, consultants and other distribution partners in order to sell our solutions and services and enroll members onto our platform.
Our agreements with our enterprise clients often provide for fees based on the number of members that are covered by such clients’ programs each month,
known as capitation arrangements. Certain of our enterprise clients and partners also pay us a fixed fee per year regardless of the number of registered members.
The number of individuals who register as members through our enterprise clients is often affected by factors outside of our control, such as plan endorsement
by the employer, member outreach and retention initiatives. Enterprise clients may also prohibit us from engaging in direct outreach with employees as potential
members, or we may be unsuccessful in spreading brand awareness among employees who perceive competitors as offering better solutions and services, which
would decrease growth in membership and reduce our net revenue. Increasing rates of unemployment may also result in loss of members at our enterprise
clients, and economic recessions or slowdowns can result in our enterprise clients terminating their employee sponsorship arrangements with us. In addition,
during periods of economic slowdown, enterprise clients may face less competition for new hires or may not need to hire as many employees and as a result,
they may not need to sponsor memberships with us as a means to attract new hires. Even if the geographies in which our enterprise clients operate experience
growth, it is possible that such client’s program membership could fail to grow at similar rates, if at all. If the number of members covered by one or more of
such clients’ programs were to be reduced, including due to benefits reductions or layoffs during and after the COVID-19 pandemic, it would lead to a reduction
of membership fees, a decrease in our net fee-for-service revenue and partnership revenue, and may also result in the enterprise client electing not to renew our
contract for another year. In addition, the growth forecasts of our clients are subject to significant uncertainty, including after the COVID-19 pandemic and any
prolonged ensuing economic recession, and are based
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on assumptions and estimates that may prove to be inaccurate. Further, historical activation rates within a given enterprise client may not be indicative of future
membership levels at that enterprise client or activation rates of similarly situated enterprise clients. High activation rates (i.e., the percentage of individuals
eligible for membership who are enrolled as members) do not necessarily result in increased net fee-for-service revenue and do not typically result in increased
membership revenue.
Health network partnerships also comprise a significant portion of our revenue. For example, under certain health network partnership contracts, we
closely collaborate with a health network on certain strategic initiatives such as the expansion of practice sites in a particular jurisdiction or service area, and
clinical and digital integration between our primary care and their specialty care services. Our contracts with health network partners can sometimes be bespoke,
with varying terms across health network partners. However, many contracts provide for fees on a PMPM basis or a fee-for-service basis. Under contracts
providing for PMPM fees, when our medical offices provide professional clinical services to covered members, we, as administrator, perform billing and
collection services on behalf of the health network, and the health network receives the fees for services provided, including those paid by members’ insurance
plans. If we do not adequately satisfy the objectives of our partners or perform against contractual obligations, we may lose revenue under the applicable health
network partner contract and the health network partner may become dissatisfied with the terms or our performance under the contract, which could result in its
early termination or amendment, if permitted, and as a result, harm to our business and results of operations, including a reduction in net revenue. Even
regardless of our performance under the contracts, we cannot guarantee that our health network partners will continue to be satisfied with the terms or
circumstances under existing contracts, particularly given constraints and challenges posed by the COVID-19 pandemic. We have experienced contractual
disputes and renegotiations with health network partners in the past and may experience additional disputes and renegotiations in the future. In certain situations,
we may need to take legal or other action to enforce our contractual rights, which may strain relationships with our partners, delay payments owed to us, make
us less attractive for potential or future partners and harm our business and reputation. Certain contracts with health network partners can be exclusive in the
applicable jurisdiction; as a result, in new potential geographies, should we pursue a health network partnership, we would need to successfully contract with a
sufficiently competitively viable health network partner, as we may not be able to terminate any such contract for several years without penalty or be able to
partner with other health network partners in the same geographies due to competitive pressures or lack of counterparties. If we are unable to successfully
continue our strategic relationships with our health network partners on terms favorable to us or at all, or if we do not successfully contract with health network
partners in new jurisdictions, our business and results of operations could be harmed.
Most of our enterprise clients and health network partners have no obligation to renew their agreements with us after the initial term expires. In addition,
our health network partners and enterprise clients may negotiate terms less advantageous to us upon renewal, which may reduce our revenue from these entities.
If our health network partners or enterprise clients fail to renew their contracts, or renew their contracts upon less favorable terms or at lower fee levels, our
revenue may decline or our future revenue growth may be constrained. In addition, certain of our health network partners and enterprise clients may terminate
their contracts with us early for various reasons. If a partner or customer terminates its contract early and revenue and cash flows expected from a partner or
enterprise client are not realized in the time period expected or not realized at all, our business could be harmed.
Identifying partners, and negotiating and documenting relationships with them, requires significant time and resources. Our competitors may be more
effective in executing such relationships and performing against them. If we are unsuccessful in establishing or maintaining our relationships with third parties,
our ability to compete in the marketplace or to grow our net revenue could be impaired and our results of operations may suffer. Even if we are successful, we
cannot assure you that these relationships will result in increased member use of our solutions and services or increased net revenue.
We conduct business in a heavily regulated industry, and any failure to comply with applicable healthcare laws and government regulations, could result in
financial penalties, exclusion from participation in government healthcare programs and adverse publicity, or could require us to make significant
operational changes, any of which could harm our business.
The U.S. healthcare industry is heavily regulated and closely scrutinized by federal, state and local authorities. Comprehensive statutes and regulations
govern the manner in which we provide and bill for services and collect reimbursement from governmental programs and private payers, our contractual
relationships with our providers, vendors, health network partners, enterprise clients, members and patients, our marketing activities and other aspects of our
operations. Of particular importance are:
•

state laws that prohibit general business corporations, such as us, from practicing medicine, controlling physicians’ medical decisions or engaging in
practices such as splitting fees with physicians;
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•

federal and state laws pertaining to non-physician practitioners, such as nurse practitioners and physician assistants, including requirements for
physician supervision of such practitioners and licensure and reimbursement-related requirements;

•

Medicare and Medicaid billing and reimbursement rules and regulations;

•

the federal physician self-referral law, commonly referred to as the Stark Law, which, subject to certain exceptions, prohibits physicians from referring
Medicare or Medicaid patients to an entity for the provision of certain “designated health services” if the physician or a member of the physician’s
immediate family has a direct or indirect financial relationship (including an ownership interest or a compensation arrangement) with the entity;

•

the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which, subject to certain exceptions known as “safe harbors,” prohibits the knowing and willful offer, payment,
solicitation or receipt of any bribe, kickback, rebate or other remuneration, in cash or in kind, in return for the referral of an individual for, or the lease,
purchase, order or recommendation of, items or services covered, in whole or in part, by government healthcare programs such as Medicare and
Medicaid;

•

the federal False Claims Act, which imposes civil and criminal liability on individuals or entities that knowingly or recklessly submit false or fraudulent
claims to Medicare, Medicaid, and other government-funded programs or make or cause to be made false statements in order to have a claim paid;

•

a provision of the Social Security Act that imposes criminal penalties on healthcare providers who fail to disclose or refund known overpayments;

•

the criminal healthcare fraud provisions of the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, as amended by the Health
Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, or HITECH, and their implementing regulations, or collectively, HIPAA, and related
rules that prohibit knowingly and willfully executing a scheme or artifice to defraud any healthcare benefit program or falsifying, concealing or
covering up a material fact or making any material false, fictitious or fraudulent statement in connection with the delivery of or payment for healthcare
benefits, items or services;

•

the Civil Monetary Penalties Law, which prohibits the offering or giving of remuneration to Medicare and Medicaid beneficiaries that is likely to
influence the beneficiary’s selection of a particular provider or supplier;

•

federal and state laws that prohibit providers from billing and receiving payment from Medicare and Medicaid for services unless the services are
medically necessary, adequately and accurately documented, and billed using codes that accurately reflect the type and level of services rendered;

•

federal and state laws and policies related to healthcare providers’ licensure, certification, accreditation, Medicare and Medicaid program enrollment
and reassignment of benefits;

•

federal and state laws and policies related to the prescribing and dispensing of pharmaceuticals and controlled substances;

•

state laws related to the advertising and marketing of services by healthcare providers;

•

federal and state laws related to confidentiality, privacy and security of personal information, including medical information and records, that limit the
manner in which we may use and disclose that information, impose obligations to safeguard such information and require that we notify third parties in
the event of a breach;

•

federal laws that impose civil administrative sanctions for, among other violations, inappropriate billing of services to government healthcare programs
or employing or contracting with individuals who are excluded from participation in government healthcare programs;

•

laws and regulations limiting the use of funds in health savings accounts for individuals with high deductible health plans;

•

state laws pertaining to anti-kickback, fee splitting, self-referral and false claims, some of which are not limited to relationships involving governmentfunded programs; and
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•

state laws governing healthcare entities that bear financial risk.

Because of the breadth of these laws and the narrowness of the statutory exceptions and safe harbors available, it is possible that some of our business
activities could be subject to challenge under one or more of such laws. Achieving and sustaining compliance with these laws requires us to implement controls
across our entire organization and it may prove costly and challenging to monitor and enforce compliance. In particular, given the prevalence of laws, rules and
regulations restricting the corporate practice of medicine in certain of the states that we operate, we are prohibited from interfering with or inappropriately
influencing providers’ professional judgment and are typically reliant on the providers and other healthcare professionals at our affiliated professional entities to
operate in compliance with applicable laws related to the practice of medicine and the provision of healthcare services. The risk of our being found in violation
of healthcare laws and regulations is increased by the fact that many of them have not been fully interpreted by regulatory authorities or the courts, and their
provisions are sometimes complex and open to a variety of interpretations. Failure to comply with these laws and other laws can result in civil and criminal
penalties such as fines, damages, recoupments of overpayments, imprisonment, loss of enrollment status and exclusion from the Medicare and Medicaid
programs.
To enforce compliance with the federal laws, the U.S. Department of Justice and the Office of Inspector General for the HHS regularly scrutinize
healthcare providers, which has led to a number of investigations, prosecutions, convictions and settlements in the healthcare industry. The operation of medical
practices is also subject to various state laws enforced by state regulators, including state attorneys general, boards of professional licensure and departments of
health. A review of our business by judicial, law enforcement, regulatory or accreditation authorities could result in challenges or actions against us that could
harm our business and operations. Responding to and managing government investigations or any action against us for violation of these laws or regulations,
even if we successfully defend against it, could cause us to incur significant legal expenses, divert resources and management’s attention from the operation of
our business and result in adverse publicity. Moreover, if one of our health system partners or another third party fails to comply with applicable laws and
becomes the target of a government investigation, government authorities could require our cooperation in the investigation, which could cause us to incur
additional legal expenses and result in adverse publicity.
In addition, because of the potential for large monetary exposure under the federal False Claims Act, which provides for treble damages and penalties of
$12,537 to $25,076 per false claim or statement (as of January 2022, and subject to annual adjustments for inflation), healthcare providers often resolve
allegations without admissions of liability for significant amounts to avoid the uncertainty of treble damages that may be awarded in litigation proceedings. Such
settlements often contain additional compliance and reporting requirements as part of a consent decree, settlement agreement or corporate integrity agreement.
Given the significant size of actual and potential settlements, it is expected that the government will continue to devote substantial resources to investigating
healthcare providers’ compliance with the healthcare reimbursement rules and fraud and abuse laws.
Further, our ability to provide our full range of services in each state is dependent upon a state’s treatment of telehealth and emerging technologies (such
as digital health services), which are subject to changing political, regulatory and other influences. Many states have laws that limit or restrict the practice of
telehealth, such as laws that require a provider to be licensed and/or physically located in the same state where the patient is located. Failure to comply with
these laws could result in denials of reimbursement for our services (to the extent such services are billed), recoupments of prior payments, professional
discipline for our providers or civil or criminal penalties.
The laws, regulations and standards governing the provision of healthcare services may change significantly in the future and may harm our business and
operations. For example, we have had to adapt our business as a result of the CARES Act and other emergency orders, laws and regulations enacted in response
to the COVID-19 pandemic. While some of these changes have allowed us to rapidly respond to the COVID-19 pandemic including via expanded telehealth
visits and testing arrangements, they have also required us to adapt to new offerings, processes and procedures. We cannot assure you that such emergency
orders, laws and regulations will continue to apply or that regulators or other governmental entities will agree with our interpretation of these arrangements
under applicable law. The Vaccine Inquiries or any other regulatory or governmental investigations or other disputes as a result of these arrangements, or the
failure of various waivers for limitations of liability or other provisions under such emergency orders, laws and regulations to apply to us could divert resources
and harm our reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations.
If the prevalence of private health insurance coverage declines, including due to a decline in the prevalence of employer-sponsored health care, our revenue
may be reduced.
We currently derive a significant portion of our revenue from members acquired under contracts with enterprise clients that purchase health care for their
employees (either via insurance or self-funded benefit plans). A large part of the demand for
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our solutions and services among enterprise clients depends on the need of these employers to manage the costs of healthcare services that they pay on behalf of
their employees. While the percentage of employers who are self-insured has been increasing over the past decade, this trend may not continue. Over time,
employees may also increasingly decide to obtain their own insurance through state-sponsored insurance marketplaces rather than through their employers.
While such employees may remain members, our reimbursement from providing services to these members would likely decrease. Employees who obtain their
own insurance may also cancel their memberships, which may decrease the fees we receive under our contracts with health network partners as fewer members
engage in their healthcare networks. If any of these trends accelerate, there is no guarantee that we would be able to compensate for the loss in revenue derived
from enterprise clients and health network partners by increasing retail member acquisition. A decline in overall prevalence of private health insurance coverage,
including due to the passage of healthcare reform proposals such as “Medicare for All,” could further harm our revenue, particularly if accompanied by a
reduction in employer-sponsored health insurance. In addition, health network partners who rely on patient use of their networks, particularly specialty care,
through our contracts with them, may become dissatisfied with the terms under the applicable contract and seek to amend or terminate, or elect not to renew,
these contracts. In these cases, our business, financial condition and results of operations would be harmed.
If we fail to cost-effectively develop widespread brand awareness and maintain our reputation, or if we fail to achieve and maintain market acceptance for
our healthcare services, our business could suffer.
We believe that developing and maintaining widespread awareness of our brand and maintaining our reputation for providing access to high quality and
efficient health care in a cost-effective manner is critical to attracting new members, enterprise clients, and health network partners, maintaining existing
members, clients and partners and thus growing our business and revenue. Market acceptance of our solutions and services and member acquisition depends on
educating people, as well as enterprise clients and health networks, as to the distinct features, ease-of-use, positive lifestyle impact, cost savings, quality, and
other perceived benefits of our solutions and services as compared to traditional or competing healthcare access options and our ability to directly market our
solutions or services to the employees of our enterprise clients. In particular, market acceptance is highly dependent on sufficient geographic market saturation
of medical offices, whether we are in-network with payers, customization of healthcare services, and word of mouth and informal member referrals. While we
are in-network with CMS and our health network partners, shortfalls in any of the above areas, the loss or dissatisfaction of a significant contingent of our
members or patients, adverse media reports or negative feedback about our solutions and services may substantially harm our brand and reputation, inhibit
widespread adoption of our solutions and services, reduce our revenue from enterprise clients and health networks, and impair our ability to attract new or
maintain existing members and patients.
Our brand promotion activities may not generate awareness or increase revenue and, even if they do, any increase in revenue may not offset the expenses
we incur in building our brand. We also cannot guarantee the quality and efficiency of healthcare service, particularly specialty healthcare, from our health
network partners, over which we have no control. Many of our health network partners are large institutions with significant operations across a wide network of
patients and may be unable to provide consistent levels of service to our members. Patients who experience poor quality healthcare provision from such partners
may impute such dissatisfaction to our solutions and services, which could negatively impact member retention and acquisition, reduce our revenue and harm
our business.
We have a history of losses, which we expect to continue, and we may never achieve or sustain profitability.
We have incurred significant losses in each period since our inception. We incurred net losses of $89.4 million and $254.6 million for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2021, respectively. As of December 31, 2021, we had an accumulated deficit of $618.2 million. Our net losses and accumulated deficit
reflect the substantial investments we made to acquire new health network partners and members, build our proprietary network of healthcare providers and
develop our technology platform. We intend to continue scaling our business to increase our enterprise client, member and provider bases, broaden the scope of
our health network and other partnerships and expand our applications of technology through which members can access our services. Accordingly, we
anticipate that our cost of care and other operating expenses will continue to increase in the foreseeable future. Moreover, as we sign up new At-Risk members
for whom we are responsible for managing a range of healthcare services and associated costs, our medical claims expense for such members may be higher
relative to the Capitated Revenue earned or any excess revenue over medical claims expense may not be enough to cover our cost of care or other operating
expenses. Our efforts to scale our business and manage the health of At-Risk members may prove more expensive than we currently anticipate, and we may not
succeed in increasing our revenue sufficiently to offset these higher expenses. We cannot assure you that we will achieve profitability in the future or that, if we
do become profitable, we will be able to sustain or increase profitability. Our prior net losses, combined with our expected future net losses, have had and will
continue to have a negative impact on our total (deficit) equity and working capital. As a result of these factors, we may need to raise additional capital through
debt or equity financings in order to fund our operations, and such capital may not be available on reasonable terms, if at all.
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Our net revenue depends in part on the number of members enrolled or patient visits, and a decrease in member utilization of our services could harm our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
Historically, we have relied on patient visits for a substantial portion of our net revenue. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2021, net fee-forservice revenue accounted for 39% and 29% of our net revenue, respectively. As we develop additional digital health solutions through our mobile platform and
continue providing and expanding availability of remote visits, we cannot guarantee that our members will consistently make in-office visits in addition to using
our digital health solutions, particularly after the COVID-19 pandemic and as related shelter-in-place and quarantine measures and orders are relaxed or lifted.
Further, it may be difficult for us to accurately forecast future patient in-office visits over time, which may vary across geographies and depend on patient
demographics within a given market. In part due to the reduction of in-office visits observed due to COVID-19, we have introduced billable remote visits. We
cannot predict with any certainty the number of remote billable services and their impact on our in-office visits. As remote billable services on average generate
lower reimbursement than in-office visits, this may impact our operations and financial results. In addition, we will continue to rely on our reputation and
recommendations from members and key enterprise clients to promote our solutions and services to potential new members. A substantial portion of our
members hold subscriptions through their respective employers with which we have membership arrangements. The loss of any of our key enterprise clients, or
a failure of some of them to renew or expand their arrangements with us, could have a significant impact on the growth rate of our revenue. If we are unable to
attract and retain sufficient members in any given market, we may have reduced visits, which could harm our results of operations, reduce our revenue and harm
our business.
In addition, under certain of our contracts with enterprise clients, we base our fees on the number of individuals to whom our clients provide benefits.
Under certain of our health network partner agreements, we also collect fees from members who receive healthcare services within the health network partner’s
network. Many factors, most of which we do not control, may lead to a decrease in the number of individuals covered by our enterprise clients, including, but
not limited to, the following:
•

changes in the nature or operations of our enterprise clients or the failure of our enterprise clients to adopt or maintain effective business practices;

•

changes of control of our enterprise clients;

•

reduced demand in particular geographies;

•

shifts away from employer-sponsored health plans toward employee self-insurance;

•

shifting regulatory climate and new or changing government regulations; and

•

increased competition or other changes in the benefits marketplace.
If the number of members covered by our enterprise clients and health network partners decreases, our revenue will likely decrease.

We operate in a competitive industry, and if we are not able to compete effectively our business would be harmed.
The market for healthcare solutions and services is highly fragmented and intensely competitive, with direct and indirect competitors offering varying
levels of impact to key stakeholders such as consumers, employers, providers, and health networks. We compete across various segments within the healthcare
market and currently face competition from a range of companies and providers for market share and for quality providers and personnel, including:
•

traditional healthcare providers and medical practices nationally, regionally and locally, that offer similar services, often at lower prices, and that are
continuing to develop additional products and becoming more sophisticated and effective;

•

health networks, including our health network partners, who employ or affiliate with primary care providers, unaffiliated freestanding outpatient centers
and specialty hospitals (some of which are physician-owned);

•

episodic, consumer-driven point solutions such as telemedicine as well as urgent care providers, which may typically pay providers on a fee-for-service
basis rather than the salary-based model we employ;
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•

health care or expert medical service tools developed by well-financed health plans which may be provided to health plan customers at discounted
prices; and

•

other companies providing healthcare-focused products and services, including companies offering specialized software and applications, technology
platforms, care management and coordination, digital health, telehealth and telemedicine and health information exchange.

Our competitive success and growth, which can be measured in part by retention of existing members and gaining of new members in both existing and
target geographies, are contingent on our ability to simultaneously address the needs of key stakeholders efficiently while delivering superior outcomes at scale
compared with competitors. In recent years, the number of freestanding specialty hospitals, surgery centers, emergency departments, urgent care centers and
diagnostic imaging centers has increased significantly in the geographic areas in which we serve and may provide services similar to those we offer. Some of our
existing and potential competitors may be larger, have greater name recognition, have longer operating histories, offer a broader array of services or a larger or
more specialized medical staff, provide newer or more desirable facilities or have significantly greater resources than we do. Some of the clinics and medical
offices that compete with us are also owned by government agencies or not-for-profit organizations that can finance capital expenditures and operations on a taxexempt basis. In addition, our current or potential competitors may be acquired by third parties with greater available resources. As a result, our competitors may
be able to respond more quickly and effectively than we can to new or changing opportunities, technologies, standards or customer requirements and may have
the ability to initiate or withstand substantial price competition. In light of the COVID-19 pandemic, existing or new competitors have developed or further
invested in telemedicine and remote medicine programs and ventures, which would compete with our virtual care offerings. Also, current and potential
competitors have established, and may in the future establish, cooperative relationships with vendors of complementary technologies or services to increase the
availability of their solutions in the marketplace. Accordingly, new competitors or alliances may emerge that have greater market share, a larger member or
patient base, more widely adopted proprietary technologies, greater marketing expertise, greater financial resources and larger sales forces than we have, which
could put us at a competitive disadvantage. Our competitors could also be better positioned to serve certain segments of the healthcare market, which would
limit our member and patient growth. In light of these factors, even if our solution is more effective than those of our competitors, current or potential members,
health network partners and enterprise clients may accept competitive solutions in lieu of purchasing our solution.
Our enterprise clients or health network partners may also elect to terminate their arrangements with us and enter into arrangements with our competitors,
particularly in primary care, to the extent they are more favorable from a fee or price perspective or provide greater exposure to, or volume of, patients. In
addition, in any geographic area, we may enter into an exclusive contractual arrangement with a single health network partner, which could allow competitors to
contract with other health network partners in the same area and gain market share for potential patients. Competitors may also be better positioned to contract
with leading health network partners in our target geographies, including existing geographies, after our current contracts expire. If our competitors are better
able to attract patients, contract with health network partners, recruit providers, expand services or obtain favorable managed care contracts at their facilities than
we are, we may experience an overall decline in member volumes and net revenue. Competition from specialized providers, health plans, medical practices,
digital health companies and other parties will result in continued member acquisition and patient visit and utilization volume pressure, which could negatively
impact our revenue and market share.
Competition in our industry also involves consumer perceptions of quality and pricing, rapidly changing technologies, evolving regulatory requirements
and industry expectations, frequent new product and service introductions and changes in customer requirements. As access to hospital performance data on
quality measures, patient satisfaction surveys, and standard charges for services increases, healthcare consumers also have more tools to compare competing
providers. If any of our affiliated professional entities achieve poor results (or results that are lower than our competitors’) on quality measures or patient
satisfaction surveys, or if our standard charges are or are perceived to be higher than our competitors, we may attract fewer members. Moreover, if we are unable
to keep pace with the evolving needs of our clients, members and partners and continue to develop, enhance and market new applications and services in a
timely and efficient manner, demand for our solutions and services may be reduced and our business and results of operations would be harmed. We cannot
guarantee that we will possess the resources, either financial or personnel, for the research, design and development of new applications or services, or that we
will be able to utilize these resources successfully and avoid technological or market obsolescence. Further, we cannot assure you that technological advances by
one or more of our competitors or future competitors will not result in our present or future applications and services becoming uncompetitive or obsolete. If we
are unable to successfully compete in the healthcare market, our business would be harmed.
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We may not grow at the rates we historically have achieved or at all, even if our key metrics may imply future growth, which could have a negative impact on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We have experienced significant growth in our recent history. Future revenue may not grow at these same rates or may decline. Our future growth will
depend, in part, on our ability to grow members in existing geographies, expand into new geographies, expand our service offerings and grow our health network
partnerships while maintaining high quality and efficient services. We are continually executing a number of growth initiatives, strategies and operating plans
designed to enhance our business. For example, we are expanding our strategic relationships with health network partners to build integrated delivery networks
for broad access to their networks of specialists and hospitals. The anticipated benefits from these efforts are based on several assumptions that may prove to be
inaccurate. We may not be able to successfully complete these growth initiatives, strategies and operating plans and realize all of the benefits, including growth
targets and cost savings, that we expect to achieve, or it may be more costly to do so than we anticipate. We can provide no assurances that even if our key
metrics indicate future growth, we will continue to grow our revenue or to generate net income. Moreover, our continued implementation of these programs may
disrupt our operations and performance. If, for any reason, the benefits we realize are less than our estimates or the implementation of these growth initiatives,
strategies and operating plans negatively impact our operations or cost more or take longer to effectuate than we expect, or if our assumptions prove inaccurate,
our business, financial condition and results of operations may be harmed.
If we fail to manage our growth effectively, our expenses could increase more than expected, our revenue may not increase proportionally or at all, and we
may be unable to implement our business strategy.
We have experienced significant growth in recent periods, which puts strain on our business, operations and employees. For example, we grew from 1,340
employees as of December 31, 2018 to 3,090 employees as of December 31, 2021 (including 791 employees from our acquisition of Iora). We have also
increased our customer and membership bases significantly over the past two years. We anticipate that our operations will continue to rapidly expand. To
manage our current and anticipated future growth effectively, we must continue to maintain and enhance our IT infrastructure, financial and accounting systems
and controls. In particular, in order for our providers to provide quality healthcare services and longitudinal care to patients and avoid burn-out, we need to
provide them with adequate IT and technology support, which requires sufficient staffing for these areas. In addition, as we expand in existing geographies and
move into new geographies, we will need to attract and retain an increasing number of quality healthcare professionals and providers. Failure to retain a
sufficient number of providers may result in overworking of existing personnel leading to burn-out or poor quality of healthcare services. In addition, our
strategy is to provide longitudinal care to members and patients, which requires substantial time and attention from our providers. We must also attract, train and
retain a significant number of qualified sales and marketing personnel, customer support personnel, professional services personnel, software engineers,
technical personnel and management personnel, and the availability of such personnel, in particular software engineers, may be constrained.
A key aspect to managing our growth is our ability to scale our capabilities to implement our solutions and services satisfactorily with respect to both
large and demanding enterprise clients and health network partners as well as individual consumers. Large clients and partners often require specific features or
functions unique to their membership base, which, at a time of significant growth or during periods of high demand, may strain our implementation capacity and
hinder our ability to successfully provide our services to our clients and partners in a timely manner. We may also need to make further investments in our
technology to decrease our costs. If we are unable to address the needs of our clients, partners or members, or our clients, partners or members are unsatisfied
with the quality of our solutions or services, they may not renew their contracts or memberships, seek to cancel or terminate their relationship with us or may
renew on less favorable terms, any of which could harm our business and results of operations.
Failure to effectively manage our growth could also lead us to over-invest or under-invest in development and operations, result in weaknesses in our
infrastructure, internal systems, processes or controls, give rise to operational mistakes, financial losses, loss of productivity or business opportunities and result
in loss of employees and reduced productivity of remaining employees. In order to manage the increasing complexities of our business, we will need to continue
to scale and adapt our operational, financial and management controls, as well as our reporting systems and procedures. We may not be able to successfully
implement and scale improvements to our systems, processes and controls or in connection with third party software in a timely or efficient manner or in a
manner that does not negatively affect our operating results. For example, we may not be able to effectively monitor certain extraordinary contract requirements
or provisions that are individually negotiated as the number of transactions continues to grow. In addition, our systems and processes may not prevent or detect
all errors, omissions, or fraud, including any fraudulent activities conducted or facilitated by our employees or the providers or staff at our affiliated professional
entities. Any of these events could result in our expenses increasing more than expected, lack of growth or slower than expected growth in our revenue, and
inability to implement our business strategies. The quality of our services
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may also suffer, which could negatively affect our reputation and harm our ability to attract and retain members, clients and partners.
Investment of significant capital expenditures to support our growth may also divert financial resources from other projects such as the development of
new applications and services. In particular, as we enter new geographies or seek to expand our presence in existing geographies, we will need to make upfront
capital expenditures, including to lease and furnish medical office space, acquire medical equipment, staff providers at such medical offices and incur related
expenses. As we do not recognize patient revenue until those offices open and begin receiving patients, our margins may be reduced during the periods in which
such capital expenditures were incurred. Expansion in new or existing geographies can be lengthy and cost-intensive, and we may encounter difficulties or
unanticipated issues during the process of opening such new medical offices. We cannot assure you that we will be able to open our planned new medical
offices, in existing or new geographies, within our operating budgets and planned timelines, or at all. Cost overruns in the process of opening new offices can
result in higher than expected cost of care, exclusive of depreciation and amortization, and operating expenses as compared to revenue in the applicable quarter.
In addition, we cannot assure you that new medical offices will operate efficiently or be strategically placed to attract the optimal number of patients. If an office
is underperforming for any reason, we could incur additional costs to relocate or shut down that office.
It is essential to our ongoing business that our affiliated professional entities attract and retain an appropriate number of quality primary care providers to
support our services and that we maintain good relations with those providers.
The success of our business depends in significant part on the number, availability and quality of licensed primary care providers employed or contracted
by our affiliated professional entities. Providers employed or contracted with our affiliated professional entities are free to terminate their association at any time.
In addition, although providers who own interests in affiliated professional entities are generally subject to agreements restricting them from owning an interest
in competitive facilities or transferring their ownership interests in the affiliated professional entity without our consent, we may not learn of, or may be
unsuccessful in preventing, our provider partners from acquiring interests in competitive facilities or making transfers without our consent. Moreover, in certain
states in which we operate, such as California, non-competition and other restrictive covenants may be limited in their enforceability, particularly against
physicians and providers.
If we are unable to recruit and retain providers and other healthcare professionals, our business and results of operations could be harmed and our ability
to grow could be impaired. In any particular geographical location, providers could demand higher payments or take other actions that could result in higher
medical costs, less attractive service for our members or difficulty meeting regulatory or accreditation requirements. Our ability to develop and maintain
satisfactory relationships with providers also may be negatively impacted by other factors not associated with us, such as changes in Medicare reimbursement
levels and other pressures on healthcare providers and consolidation activity among hospitals, provider groups and healthcare providers.
We expect to encounter increased competition from health insurers and private equity companies seeking to acquire providers in the geographies where
we operate practices and, where permitted by law, employ providers. In some geographies, provider recruitment and retention are affected by a shortage of
providers and the difficulties that providers can experience in obtaining affordable malpractice insurance or finding insurers willing to provide such insurance.
Providers may also leave our affiliated professional entities or perceive them as providing a poor quality of life if our affiliated professional entities do not
adequately manage causes of provider burnout and workload, some of which we have little to no control over under the administrative services agreements, or
ASAs. Our business is dependent on providing longitudinal and long-term care for members and requires providers to consistently follow members over time,
track overall long-term health and, in certain geographies, be available 24/7 for virtual care questions and services. If we are unable to efficiently manage
provider workload and capacity to provide longitudinal and long-term care, our providers may depart and our patients may experience lower quality of care,
which would harm our business. Furthermore, our ability to recruit and employ providers is closely regulated. For example, the types, amount and duration of
compensation and assistance we can provide to recruited providers are limited by the Stark law, the Anti-kickback Statute, state anti-kickback statutes and
related regulations. If we are unable to attract and retain sufficient numbers of quality providers by providing adequate support personnel, technologically
advanced equipment and facilities that meet the needs of those providers and their patients, memberships and patient visits may decrease, our enterprise clients
may alter or terminate their membership contracts with us and our operating performance may decline.
We incur significant upfront costs in our enterprise client and health network partner relationships, and if we are unable to maintain and grow these
relationships over time, we are likely to fail to recover these costs, which could have a negative impact on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.
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Our business model and growth depend heavily on achieving economies of scale because our initial upfront investment for any enterprise client or certain
health network partners is costly and the associated revenue is recognized on a ratable basis. We devote significant resources to establishing relationships with
our clients and partners and implementing our solutions and services. This is particularly so in the case of large enterprises that, to date, have contributed a large
portion of our membership base and revenue as well as health network partners, who may require specific features or functions unique to their particular
processes or under the terms of their contracts with us, including significant systems integration and interoperability undertakings. Accordingly, our results of
operations will depend in substantial part on our ability to deliver a successful experience for these clients and related members and partners to persuade our
clients and partners to maintain and grow their relationship with us over time. Additionally, as our business is growing significantly, our new customer and
partner acquisition costs could outpace our revenue growth and we may be unable to reduce our total operating costs through economies of scale such that we
are unable to achieve profitability. Our costs of doing business could also increase significantly due to labor shortages and inflationary pressures, which could
increase the cost of labor, healthcare services and supplies and rental payments for our office locations. If we fail to achieve appropriate economies of scale or if
we fail to manage or anticipate the evolution and in future periods, demand of our clients and partners, our business may be harmed.
Our marketing cycle can be long and unpredictable and requires considerable time and expense, which may cause our results of operations to fluctuate.
The marketing cycle for our solutions and services from initial contact with a potential enterprise client or health network partner to contract execution
and implementation varies widely by enterprise client or partner. Some of our partners undertake a significant and prolonged evaluation process, including to
determine whether our solutions and services meet their unique healthcare needs, which evaluation can be complex given the size and scale of our clients and
partners. Our contractual arrangements with our health network partners are often highly specific to each partner depending on their needs, the characteristics
and patient demographics of the geographical region they serve, their growth plans and their operations, among other things. As a result, our marketing efforts to
any new health network partner must be tailored to meet its specific strategic demands, which can be time consuming and require significant upfront cost. These
efforts also must address interoperability between our IT infrastructure and systems and such partner’s systems, which can result in substantial cost without any
assurance that we will ultimately enter into a contractual arrangement with any such partner.
Our large enterprise clients often initially restrict direct access by us to their employees to curb information overflow. As a result, we may not be able to
directly market our solutions and services to, and educate, employees at our enterprise clients until much later after execution of an agreement with such clients.
This can result in limited membership acquisition at any such enterprise client for a significant period of time following contract execution, and we cannot assure
you that we will be able to gain sufficient membership acquisition to justify our upfront investments. Further, even after contract execution with a particular
enterprise client, we generally compete with other health service providers who market to the same employees at such enterprise client, and our marketing and
employee education efforts may not be successful in winning members from other competing services, many of which are traditional healthcare models that
employees are more familiar with. We also incur significant marketing costs to grow awareness of our solution and services in both existing and new
geographical locations for potential new members. Our marketing efforts for member acquisition are dependent in part on word of mouth, which may take
substantial time to spread. In addition, for both new and existing geographic locations, we will need to continuously open medical offices in targeted locations to
build awareness, which is both time-intensive and requires substantial upfront fixed costs. If our substantial upfront marketing and implementation investments
do not result in sufficient sales to justify our investments, it could harm our business and results of operations.
We could experience losses or liability, including medical liability claims, causing us to incur significant expenses and requiring us to pay significant
damages if not covered by insurance.
Our business entails the risk of medical liability claims against our affiliated professional entities, their providers, and 1Life and its subsidiaries and we
have in the past been subject to such claims in the ordinary course of business. Although 1Life, its subsidiaries, our affiliated professional entities and individual
providers may carry insurance at the entity level and at the provider level covering medical malpractice claims in amounts that we believe are appropriate in
light of the risks attendant to our business, successful medical liability claims could result in substantial damage awards that exceed the limits of our affiliated
professional entities' insurance coverage. Professional liability insurance is expensive and insurance premiums may increase significantly in the future,
particularly as we expand our services and as the professional liability insurance market becomes more challenging due to COVID-19. As a result, adequate
professional liability insurance may not be available to our providers or to us in the future at acceptable costs or at all. Any claims made against us that are not
fully covered by insurance could be costly to defend against, result in substantial damage awards against us and divert the attention of our management and our
providers from our operations, which could harm our business. In addition, any claims may significantly harm our business or reputation.
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Moreover, we do not control the providers and other healthcare professionals at our affiliated professional entities with respect to the practice of medicine
and the provision of healthcare services. While we seek to attract high quality professionals, the risk of liability, including through unexpected medical
outcomes, is inherent in the healthcare industry, and negative outcomes may result for any of our members. We attempt to limit our liability to members, clients
and partners by contract; however, the limitations of liability set forth in the contracts may not be enforceable or may not otherwise protect us from liability for
damages. Additionally, we may be subject to claims that are not explicitly covered by such contractual limits.
We also maintain general liability coverage for certain risks, claims and litigation proceedings. However, this coverage may not continue to be available
on acceptable terms or in sufficient amounts to cover one or more large claims against us, and may include larger self-insured retentions or exclusions. In
addition, the insurer might deny coverage for the claims we submit or disclaim coverage as to any future claim. Any liability claim brought against us, or any
ensuing litigation, regardless of merit, could result in a substantial cost to us, divert management’s attention from operations and could also result in an increase
of our insurance premiums and damage to our reputation. A successful claim not fully covered by our insurance could have a negative impact on our liquidity,
financial condition, and results of operations.
Current or future litigation against us could be costly and time-consuming to defend.
We are subject, and in the future may become subject from time to time, to legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business such
as claims brought by our members, clients or partners in connection with commercial disputes, consumer class action claims, employment claims made by our
current or former employees, technology errors or omissions, medical malpractice, professional negligence or other related actions or claims inherent in the
provision of healthcare services as well as other litigation matters. In particular, as we grow our base of consumer members, we may be subject to an increasing
number of consumer claims, disputes and class action complaints, including an ongoing claim alleging misrepresentations with respect to our membership fees.
While our membership terms generally require individual arbitration, we cannot assure you that such terms will be enforced, which may result, and has resulted
in the past, in costly class action litigation. Litigation may result in substantial costs, settlement and judgments and may divert management’s attention and
resources, which may substantially harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. Insurance may not cover such claims, may not provide
sufficient payments to cover all of the costs to resolve one or more such claims and may not continue to be available on terms acceptable to us. A claim brought
against us that is uninsured or underinsured could result in unanticipated costs, thereby leading analysts or potential investors to reduce their expectations of our
performance, which could reduce the market price of our common stock.
Our labor costs could be negatively impacted by competition for staffing, the shortage of experienced nurses and providers and labor union activity.
The operations of our affiliated professional entities are dependent on the efforts, abilities and experience of our management and medical support
personnel, including nurses, therapists and lab technicians, as well as our providers. We compete with other healthcare providers in recruiting and retaining
employees, and, like others in the healthcare industry, we continue to experience a shortage of nurses and providers in certain disciplines and geographic areas.
As a result, from time to time, we may be required to enhance wages and benefits to recruit and retain experienced employees, make greater investments in
education and training for newly licensed medical support personnel, or hire more expensive temporary or contract employees. Furthermore, state-mandated
nurse-staffing ratios in California affect not only our labor costs, but, if we are unable to hire the necessary number of experienced nurses to meet the required
ratios, they may also cause us to limit patient volumes, which would have a corresponding negative impact on our net revenue. In addition, while none of our
employees are represented by a labor union as of December 31, 2021, our employees may seek to be represented by one or more labor unions in the future. If
some or all of our employees were to become unionized, it could increase labor costs, among other expenses, and may require us to adjust our employee policies
and protocols. Further, labor is subject to external factors that are beyond our control, including the competitive market for skilled workers and leaders in the
healthcare industry, cost inflation, the COVID-19 pandemic and workforce participation rates. In general, our failure to recruit and retain qualified management,
experienced nurses and other medical support personnel, or to control labor costs, could harm our business.
In order to support the growth of our business, we may need to incur additional indebtedness or seek capital through new equity or debt financings, which
sources of additional capital may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all.
Our operations have consumed substantial amounts of cash since inception and we intend to continue to make significant investments to support our
business growth, respond to business challenges or opportunities, expand our services in new geographic locations, enhance our operating infrastructure and
existing solutions and services and potentially acquire complementary businesses and technologies. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2021, our net
cash used in operating
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activities was $4.4 million and $88.6 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2021, we had $342.0 million of cash and cash equivalents and $160.0 million of
marketable securities, which are held for working capital purposes. As of December 31, 2021, we had $316.3 million aggregate principal amount of debt
outstanding under our convertible senior notes issued in May 2020, or the 2025 Notes.
As of December 31, 2021, we have also deferred payroll taxes in the amount of $5.0 million and received $1.8 million in grants as part of the Coronavirus
Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act, or CARES Act, through the Provider Relief Fund, or PRF, of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, or
HHS, to help offset the impact of increased healthcare related expenses and lost revenues attributable to the COVID-19 pandemic. We are not required to repay
this grant, provided we attest to and comply with certain terms and conditions, including the use of PRF funds for only permitted purposes and only after funds
from other sources obligated to reimburse recipients have been applied. If we are unable to attest to or comply with current or future terms and conditions, our
ability to retain some or all of the PRF funds received may be impacted.
Our future capital requirements may be significantly different from our current estimates and will depend on many factors, including our growth rate,
membership renewal activity and growth, the timing and extent of spending to support development efforts, the expansion of sales and marketing activities, the
introduction of new or enhanced services, expansion of services to new geographic locations, addition of new health network partners and the continuing market
acceptance of our healthcare services. Accordingly, we may need to engage in equity or debt financings or collaborative arrangements to secure additional funds.
If we raise additional funds through further issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders could suffer significant dilution, and any
new equity securities we issue could have rights, preferences and privileges superior to those of holders of our common stock. Moreover, while we are not
restricted from incurring additional debt, securing existing or future debt, recapitalizing our debt or taking a number of other actions under the terms of the
indenture governing the 2025 Notes, such actions could have the effect of diminishing our ability to make payments on the notes when due.
Any debt financing secured by us in the future could involve additional restrictive covenants relating to our capital-raising activities and other financial
and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities, including potential
acquisitions. In addition, during times of economic instability, including the recent disruptions to, and volatility in, the credit and financial markets in the United
States and worldwide resulting from the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, it has been difficult for many companies to obtain financing in the public markets or to
obtain debt financing, and we may not be able to obtain additional financing on commercially reasonable terms, if at all. If we are unable to obtain adequate
financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us, it could harm our business and growth prospects.
Our revenues have historically been concentrated among our top customers, and the loss of any of these customers could reduce our revenues and adversely
impact our operating results.
Historically, our revenue has been concentrated among a small number of customers. In 2020 and 2021, our top three customers accounted for 35% and
32% of our net revenue, respectively. These customers included commercial payers and a health network partner. This customer mix may also shift in the near
and medium term as a result of our recent acquisition of Iora. The loss of one or more of these customers could reduce our revenue, harm our results of
operations and limit our growth.
Our quarterly results may fluctuate significantly, which could adversely impact the value of our common stock.
Our quarterly results of operations, including our net revenue, loss from operations, net loss and cash flows, have varied and may vary significantly in the
future, and period-to-period comparisons of our results of operations may not be meaningful. Accordingly, our quarterly results should not be relied upon as an
indication of future performance. Our quarterly financial results have fluctuated, and may fluctuate in the future, as a result of a variety of factors, many of
which are outside of our control, including, without limitation, the following:
•

the addition or loss of health network partners or enterprise clients, including through acquisitions or consolidations of such entities;

•

the addition or loss of contracts with, or modification of contract terms with, payers, including the reduction of reimbursements for our services or the
termination of our network contracts with payers;

•

seasonal and other variations in the timing and volume of patient visits, such as the historically higher volume of use of our service during peak cold
and flu season months;
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•

fluctuations in unemployment rates resulting in reductions in total members;

•

slowdown in the overall economy resulting in losses of enterprise clients as they scale back on expenses;

•

new enterprise sponsorships and renewal of existing enterprise sponsorships and the timing thereof as well as enterprise and consumer member
activation and renewal and timing thereof;

•

the timing of recognition of revenue;

•

the amount and timing of operating expenses related to the maintenance and expansion of our business, operations and infrastructure, including upfront
capital expenditures and other costs related to expanding in existing or entering new geographical locations, as well as providing administrative and
operational services to our affiliated professional entities under the ASAs;

•

our ability to effectively estimate the potential costs of medical services incurred, including under our at-risk arrangements, and the adequacy of our
reserves for such incurred but not reported claims for medical services, which could result in fluctuations in our quarterly results and may not accurately
reflect the underlying performance of our business within a given period;

•

our ability to effectively manage the size and composition of our proprietary network of healthcare professionals relative to the level of demand for
services from our members;

•

the timing and success of introductions of new applications and services by us or our competitors, including well-known competitors with significant
market clout and perceived ability to compete favorably due to access to resources and overall market reputation;

•

changes in the competitive dynamics of our industry, including consolidation among competitors, health network partners or enterprise clients; and

•

the timing of expenses related to the development or acquisition of technologies or businesses and potential future charges for impairment of goodwill
from acquired companies.
Most of our net revenue in any given quarter is derived from contracts entered into with our partners and clients during previous quarters as well as
membership fees that are recognized ratably over the term of each membership. Consequently, a decline in new or renewed contracts or memberships in any one
quarter may not be fully reflected in our net revenue for that quarter. Such declines, however, would negatively affect our net revenue in future periods and the
effect of loss of members, and potential changes in our rate of renewals or renewal terms, may not be fully reflected in our results of operations until future
periods. While we encourage enterprise clients to purchase memberships off of their periodic enrollment cycle, we cannot guarantee that they will do so.
Accordingly, the effect of changes in the industry impacting our business or loss of members may not be reflected in our short-term results of operations.
In addition, revenues associated with our At-Risk arrangements are subject to significant estimation risk related to reserves for incurred but not reported
claims. If the actual claims expense differs significantly from the estimated liability due to differences in utilization of healthcare services, the amount of charges
and other factors, it could negatively impact our revenue and have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash
flows. Any fluctuation in our quarterly results may not accurately reflect the underlying performance of our business and could cause a decline in the trading
price of our common stock.
If we lose key members of our senior management team or are unable to attract and retain executive officers and employees we need to support our
operations and growth, our business and growth may be harmed.
Our success depends largely upon the continued services of our key executive officers, particularly our Chair, Chief Executive Officer and President and
1Life's Chief Medical Officer. These executive officers are at-will employees and therefore they may terminate employment with us at any time with no advance
notice. We also do not maintain any key person life insurance policies. Further, we rely on our leadership team in the areas of research and development,
marketing, services and general and administrative functions. From time to time, there may be changes in our executive management team resulting from the
hiring or departure of executives, which could disrupt our business. The replacement of one or more of our executive officers or other key employees would
likely involve significant time and costs and may significantly delay or prevent the achievement of our business objectives. We are particularly dependent on
1Life's Chief Medical Officer, who is the sole
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director and officer of many of the affiliated professional entities and is responsible for overseeing the operation of several of such entities, among other roles.
While we have succession plans in place and have employment or service arrangements with a limited number of key executives, these measures do not
guarantee that the services of these or suitable successor executives will continue to be available to us.
To continue to execute our growth strategy, we also must attract and retain highly skilled personnel. Competition is intense for qualified professionals and
we may not be successful in continuing to attract and retain qualified personnel. We have from time to time in the past experienced, and we expect to continue to
experience in the future, difficulty in hiring and retaining highly skilled personnel with appropriate qualifications. The pool of qualified personnel with
experience working in the healthcare market is limited overall. In addition, many of the companies with which we compete for experienced personnel have
greater resources than we have. Further, labor is subject to external factors that are beyond our control, including the competitive market for skilled workers and
leaders in the healthcare industry, cost inflation, the COVID-19 pandemic and workforce participation rates. As a result, our success is dependent on our ability
to evolve our culture, align our talent with our business needs, engage our employees and inspire our employees to be open to change, to innovate and to
maintain member- and customer-focus when delivering our services.
In addition, job candidates often consider the value of the stock options or other equity-based awards they are to receive in connection with their
employment. Volatility in the price of our stock may, therefore, negatively impact our ability to attract or retain highly skilled personnel. Further, the requirement
to expense stock options and other equity-based compensation may discourage us from granting the size or type of stock option or equity awards that job
candidates require to join our company. Our business would be harmed if we fail to adequately plan for succession of our executives and senior management; or
if we fail to effectively recruit, integrate, retain and develop key talent and/or align our talent with our business needs and the current rapidly changing
environment.
We may acquire other companies or technologies, which could divert our management’s attention, result in dilution to our stockholders and otherwise
disrupt our operations and we may have difficulty integrating any such acquisitions successfully or realizing the anticipated benefits therefrom, any of
which could harm our business.
We may seek to acquire or invest in businesses, applications and services or technologies that we believe could complement or expand our business,
enhance our technical capabilities or otherwise offer growth opportunities. For example, we recently completed our acquisition of Iora in an all-stock transaction
and our stockholders incurred substantial dilution. For additional risks related to the acquisition of Iora, please refer to "—Risks Related to the Acquisition of
Iora." The pursuit of potential acquisitions may divert the attention of management and cause us to incur various expenses in identifying, investigating and
pursuing suitable acquisitions, whether or not they are consummated. We do not have a history of acquiring or investing in businesses, applications and services
or technologies and may not have the experience or capabilities to successfully execute such transactions or integrate them following consummation.
In addition, if we acquire additional businesses, we may not be able to integrate the acquired personnel, operations and technologies successfully, or
effectively manage the combined business following the acquisition. We also may not achieve the anticipated benefits from the acquired business due to a
number of factors, including, but not limited to:
•

inability to integrate or benefit from acquired technologies or services in a profitable manner;

•

lack of experience in making acquisitions and integrating acquired businesses or assets;

•

unanticipated costs or liabilities associated with the acquisition;

•

difficulty integrating the accounting systems, operations and personnel of the acquired business;

•

difficulties and additional expenses associated with supporting legacy products and hosting infrastructure of the acquired business;

•

diversion of management’s attention from other business concerns;

•

negative impacts to our existing relationships with enterprise clients or health network partners as a result of the acquisition;

•

the potential loss of key employees;
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•

use of resources that are needed in other parts of our business;

•

deficiencies associated with the assets or companies we acquire or ineffective or inadequate controls, procedures or policies at any acquired business
that were not identified in advance and may result in significant unanticipated costs; and

•

use of substantial portions of our available cash to consummate the acquisition.

The effectiveness of our due diligence review of potential acquisitions and assessments of potential benefits or synergies are dependent upon the accuracy
and completeness of statements and disclosures made or actions taken by the companies we acquire or their representatives. We may fail to accurately forecast
the financial impact of an acquisition transaction, including tax and accounting charges. In addition, a significant portion of the purchase price of companies we
acquire may be allocated to acquired goodwill and other intangible assets, which must be assessed for impairment at least annually. In the future, if our
acquisitions do not yield expected returns, we may be required to take charges to our results of operations based on this impairment assessment process, which
could harm our results of operations.
Acquisitions could also result in dilutive issuances of equity securities or the incurrence of debt, which could harm our results of operations. In addition, if
an acquired business fails to meet our expectations, our business may be harmed.
The estimates of market opportunity and forecasts of market and revenue growth included in this Annual Report may prove to be inaccurate, and even if the
market in which we compete achieves the forecasted growth, our business could fail to grow at similar rates, if at all.
Market opportunity estimates and growth forecasts are subject to significant uncertainty and are based on assumptions and estimates that may not prove to
be accurate. In particular, the size and growth of the overall U.S. healthcare market is subject to significant variables, including a changing regulatory
environment and population demographic, which can be difficult to measure, estimate or quantify. Our business depends on member acquisition and retention,
which further drives revenue from our contracts with health network partners. Estimates and forecasts of these factors in any given market is difficult and
affected by multiple variables such as population growth, concentration of enterprise clients and population density, among other things. Further, we cannot
assure you that we will be able to sufficiently penetrate certain market segments included in our estimates and forecasts, including due to limited deployable
capital, ineffective marketing efforts or the inability to develop sufficient presence in a given market to gain members or contract with employers and health
network partners in that market. Once we acquire a member, apart from fixed annual membership fees and payments from health care partners, we primarily
derive revenue from patient in-office visits, which may be difficult to forecast over time, particularly as our billable service mix continues to expand, including
due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Finally, our contractual arrangements with health network partners typically have highly tailored capitation and other fee
structures which vary across health network partners and are dependent on either the number of members that receive healthcare services in a health network
partner’s network or the volume and expense of the care received by At-Risk members. As a result, we may not be able to accurately forecast revenue from our
health network partners. For these reasons, the estimates and forecasts in this Annual Report relating to the size and expected growth of our target markets may
prove to be inaccurate. Even if the markets in which we compete meet our size estimates and forecasted growth, our business could fail to grow at similar rates,
if at all.
Natural or man-made disasters and other similar events may significantly disrupt our business and negatively impact our business, financial condition and
results of operations.
Our offices and facilities may be harmed or rendered inoperable by natural or man-made disasters, including earthquakes, extreme weather conditions
(including adverse weather conditions caused by global climate change or otherwise), power outages, fires, floods, protests and civil unrest, nuclear disasters and
acts of terrorism or other criminal activities, which may result in physical damage to our offices, temporary office closures and could render it difficult or
impossible for us to operate our business for some period of time. In particular, certain of the facilities we lease to house our computer and telecommunications
equipment are located in the San Francisco Bay Area, a region known for seismic activity, and our insurance coverage may not compensate us for losses that
may occur in the event of an earthquake or other significant natural disaster. Any disruptions in our operations related to the repair or replacement of our offices,
could negatively impact our business and results of operations and harm our reputation. Although we maintain an insurance policy covering damages to our
property and, in certain situations, interruptions to our business, such insurance may not be available or sufficient to compensate for the different types of
associated losses that may occur, including business interruption losses. Any such losses or damages could harm our business, financial condition and results of
operations. In addition, our health network partners’ facilities may be harmed or rendered inoperable by such natural or man-made disasters, which may cause
disruptions, difficulties or other negative effects on our business and operations.
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Risks Related to Government Regulation
The impact of healthcare reform legislation and other changes in the healthcare industry and in healthcare spending is currently unknown, but may harm
our business.
Our revenue is dependent on the healthcare industry and could be affected by changes in healthcare spending and policy. The healthcare industry is
subject to changing political, regulatory and other influences. The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, or ACA, made major changes in how health care
is delivered and reimbursed, and increased access to health insurance benefits to the uninsured and underinsured populations in the United States. ACA, among
other things, increased the number of individuals with Medicaid and private insurance coverage.
ACA has been subject to legislative and regulatory changes and court challenges and there is uncertainty regarding whether, when, and how ACA may be
changed, the ultimate outcome of court challenges and how the law will be interpreted and implemented. Changes by Congress or government agencies could
eliminate or alter provisions beneficial to us, while leaving in place provisions reducing our reimbursement or otherwise negatively impacting our business.
In addition, current and prior healthcare reform proposals have included the concept of creating a single payer such as “Medicare for All” or a public
option for health insurance. If enacted, these proposals could have an extensive impact on the healthcare industry, including us and may impact our business,
financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and the trading price of our security. We are unable to predict whether such reforms may be enacted or their
impact on our operations.
We are also impacted by the Medicare Access and CHIP Reauthorization Act, under which physicians must choose to participate in one of two payment
formulas, Merit-Based Incentive Payment System, or MIPS, or Alternative Payment Models, or APMs. Beginning in 2019, MIPS allows eligible physicians to
receive upward or downward adjustments to their Medicare Part B payments based on certain quality and cost metrics, among other measures. As an alternative,
physicians can choose to participate in an Advanced APM. Advanced APMs are exempt from the MIPS requirements, and physicians who are meaningful
participants in APMs will receive bonus payments from Medicare pursuant to the law.
We expect that additional state and federal healthcare reform measures will be adopted in the future, any of which could limit the number of individuals
who qualify for health care coverage and amounts that federal and state governments and other third-party payers will pay for healthcare services, which could
harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Our arrangements with health networks may be subject to governmental or regulatory scrutiny or challenge.
Some of our relationships with health networks involve risk arrangements, such as capitated payments designed to achieve alignment of financial
incentives and to encourage close collaboration on clinical care for patients. Although we believe that our health network contracts involving capitated payments
comply with the federal Anti-Kickback Statute and the Stark Law, we cannot assure you that regulators or other governmental entities will agree with our
interpretation of these arrangements under applicable law. Our health network partnerships may be subject to scrutiny or investigation from time to time by
regulators or other governmental entities, which may be lengthy, costly, and divert resources and our management’s attention from managing our business and
growth. If our health network partnerships are challenged and found to violate the Anti-Kickback Statute or the Stark Law, we could incur substantial financial
penalties, reimbursement denials, repayments or recoupments, or exclusion from participation in government healthcare programs, any of which could harm our
business.
Evolving government regulations may increase costs or negatively impact our results of operations.
Our operations may be subject to direct and indirect adoption, expansion, revision or reinterpretation of various laws and regulations. In the event any
such changes in law or interpretation impacts our services or contractual arrangements, we may be required to modify such services, or revise our arrangements,
in a manner that undermines the attractiveness of services or may not preserve the same economics, or may be required to discontinue such arrangements. In
each case, our revenue may decline and our business may be harmed. Compliance with changes in interpretation of laws and regulations may require us to
change our practices at an undeterminable and possibly significant initial and recurring monetary expense. These additional monetary expenditures may increase
future overhead, which could harm our results of operations.
We have identified what we believe are areas of government regulation that, if changed, could be costly to us. These include: fraud, waste and abuse laws;
rules governing the practice of medicine by providers; licensure standards for primary care providers and behavioral health professionals; laws limiting the
corporate practice of medicine and professional fee
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splitting; tax laws and regulations applicable to our annual membership fees; cybersecurity and privacy laws; laws and rules relating to the distinction between
independent contractors and employees (including recent developments in California that have expanded the scope of workers that are treated as employees
instead of independent contractors); and tax and other laws encouraging employer-sponsored health insurance and group benefits. There could be laws and
regulations applicable to our business that we have not identified or that, if changed, may be costly to us, and we cannot predict all the ways in which
implementation of such laws and regulations may affect us.
We are dependent on our relationships with affiliated professional entities that we may not own to provide healthcare services and our business would be
harmed if those relationships were disrupted or if our arrangements with these affiliated professional entities become subject to legal challenges.
The corporate practice of medicine prohibition exists in some form, by statute, regulation, board of medicine or attorney general guidance, or case law, in
certain of the states in which we operate. These laws generally prohibit the practice of medicine by lay persons or entities and are intended to prevent unlicensed
persons or entities from interfering with or inappropriately influencing providers’ professional judgment. As a result, many of our affiliated professional entities
that deliver healthcare services to our members are wholly owned by providers licensed in their respective states, including Andrew Diamond, M.D., Ph.D.,
1Life's Chief Medical Officer who oversees the operation of several of the affiliated professional entities as the sole director and officer of many of the affiliated
professional entities. Under the ASAs between 1Life and/or its subsidiaries with each affiliated professional entity, we provide various administrative and
operations support services in exchange for scheduled fees at the fair market value of our services provided to each affiliated professional entity. As a result, our
ability to receive cash fees from the affiliated professional entities is limited to the fair market value of the services provided under the ASAs. To the extent our
ability to receive cash fees from the affiliated professional entities is limited, our ability to use that cash for growth, debt service or other uses at the affiliated
professional entity may be impaired and, as a result, our results of operations and financial condition may be adversely affected.
Our ability to perform medical and digital health services in a particular U.S. state is directly dependent upon the applicable laws governing the practice
of medicine, healthcare delivery and fee splitting in such locations, which are subject to changing political, regulatory and other influences. The extent to which
a U.S. state considers particular actions or contractual relationships to constitute the practice of medicine is subject to change and to evolving interpretations by
medical boards and state attorneys general, among others, each of which has broad discretion. There is a risk that U.S. state authorities in some jurisdictions may
find that our contractual relationships with the affiliated professional entities, which govern the provision of medical and digital health services and the payment
of administrative and operations support fees, violate laws prohibiting the corporate practice of medicine and fee splitting. Accordingly, we must monitor our
compliance with laws in every jurisdiction in which we operate on an ongoing basis, and we cannot provide assurance that our activities and arrangements, if
challenged, will be found to be in compliance with the law. Additionally, it is possible that the laws and rules governing the practice of medicine, including the
provision of digital health services, and fee splitting in one or more jurisdictions may change in a manner adverse to our business. While the ASAs prohibit us
from controlling, influencing or otherwise interfering with the practice of medicine at each affiliated professional entity, and provide that physicians retain
exclusive control and responsibility for all aspects of the practice of medicine and the delivery of medical services, we cannot assure you that our contractual
arrangements and activities with the affiliated professional entities will be free from scrutiny from U.S. state authorities, and we cannot guarantee that
subsequent interpretation of the corporate practice of medicine and fee splitting laws will not circumscribe our business operations. State corporate practice of
medicine doctrines also often impose penalties on physicians themselves for aiding the corporate practice of medicine, which could discourage providers from
participating in our network of physicians. If a successful legal challenge or an adverse change in relevant laws were to occur, and we were unable to adapt our
business model accordingly, our operations in affected jurisdictions would be disrupted, which could harm our business.
Any material changes in our relationship with or among the affiliated professional entities, whether resulting from a dispute among the entities, a
challenge from a governmental regulator, a change in government regulation, or the loss of these relationships or contracts with the affiliated professional
entities, could impair our ability to provide services to our members and could harm our business. For example, our arrangements in place to help ensure an
orderly succession of the owner or owners of certain of the affiliated professional entities upon the occurrence of certain events may be challenged, which may
impact our relationship with the affiliated professional entities and harm our business and results of operations. The ASAs and these succession arrangements
could also subject us to additional scrutiny by federal and state regulatory bodies regarding federal and state fraud and abuse laws. Any scrutiny, investigation or
litigation with regard to our arrangement with the affiliated professional entities, and any resulting penalties, including monetary fines and restrictions on or
mandated changes to our current business and operating arrangements, could harm our business.
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Noncompliance with billing and documentation requirements could result in non-payment or subject us to audits, billing or other compliance investigations
by government authorities, private payers or health network partners.
Payers typically have differing and complex billing and documentation requirements. If we fail to comply with these payer-specific requirements, we may
not be paid for our services or payment may be substantially delayed or reduced. Moreover, federal and state laws, rules and regulations impose substantial
penalties, including criminal and civil fines, monetary penalties, exclusion from participation in government healthcare programs and imprisonment, on entities
or individuals (including any individual corporate officers or physicians deemed responsible) that fraudulently or wrongfully bill government-funded programs
or other third-party payers for healthcare services. Both federal and state government agencies have heightened and coordinated civil and criminal enforcement
efforts as part of numerous ongoing investigations of healthcare companies, as well as their executives and managers, with enforcement actions covering a
variety of topics, including referral and billing practices. Further, the federal False Claims Act and a growing number of state laws allow private parties to bring
qui tam or “whistleblower” lawsuits against companies for false billing violations. Some of our activities could become the subject of governmental
investigations or inquiries.
From time to time in the ordinary course of business, governmental agencies and private payers also conduct audits of healthcare providers like us. For
example, as a result of our participation in the Medicare program, including through CMS’ Direct Contracting Program, we are also subject to various
governmental inspections, reviews, audits and investigations to verify our compliance with the Medicare program and applicable laws and regulations. We also
periodically conduct internal audits and reviews of our regulatory compliance and our health network partners can also conduct audits under their agreements
with us. Such audits could result in the incurrence of additional costs and diversion of management’s time and attention. In addition, such audits could trigger
repayment demands based on findings that our services were not medically necessary, were billed at an improper level or otherwise violated applicable billing
requirements or contractual terms. Our failure to comply with rules related to billing or adverse findings from such audits could result in, among other penalties:
•

non-payment for services rendered or recoupments or refunds of amounts previously paid for such services by our health network partners;

•

refunding amounts we have been paid pursuant to the Medicare program or from payers;

•

state or federal agencies imposing fines, penalties and other sanctions on us;

•

temporary suspension of payment from payers for new patients to the facility or agency;

•

decertification or exclusion from participation in the Medicare program or one or more payer networks;

•

self-disclosure of violations to applicable regulatory authorities;

•

damage to our reputation;

•

the revocation of a facility’s or agency’s license; and

•

loss of certain rights under, or termination of, our contracts with and health network partners.

We will likely be required in the future to refund amounts that have been paid and/or pay fines and penalties as a result of these inspections, reviews,
audits and investigations. If adverse inspections, reviews, audits or investigations occur and any of the results noted above occur, it could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and the trading price of our securities. Furthermore, the legal, document production
and other costs associated with complying with these inspections, reviews, audits or investigations could be significant.
Our use and disclosure of personal information, including PHI, is subject to federal and state privacy and security regulations, and our failure to comply
with those regulations or to adequately secure such information we hold could result in significant liability or reputational harm and, in turn, substantial
harm to our health network partner and enterprise client base, membership base and revenue.
In the ordinary course of our business, we and third parties upon whom we rely receive, collect, store, process and use personal information as part of our
business. Numerous state and federal laws and regulations inside the United States govern the collection, dissemination, use, privacy, confidentiality, security,
availability and integrity of personal information including PHI. These laws and regulations include HIPAA, as amended by the HITECH Act, and its
implementing regulations, as well as
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state privacy and data protection laws. HIPAA establishes a set of baseline national privacy and security standards for the protection of PHI, by health plans,
healthcare clearinghouses and certain healthcare providers, referred to as covered entities, which includes our affiliated professional entities, and the business
associates with whom such covered entities contract for services that involve the use or disclosure of PHI, which includes 1Life and our affiliated professional
entities. States may enforce more stringent privacy and data protection laws exceeding the requirements of HIPAA.
Compliance with privacy, data protection and information security laws and regulations in the United States could cause us to incur substantial costs or
require us to change our business practices and compliance procedures in a manner adverse to our business. We strive to comply with applicable laws,
regulations, policies and other legal obligations relating to privacy, data protection and information security. However, as the various regulatory frameworks for
privacy, data protection and information security continue to develop, uncertainties exist as to their application, and it is possible that these or other actual or
alleged obligations may be interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent from one jurisdiction to another and may conflict with other rules and subject
our business practices to uncertainty.
Penalties for violations of these laws vary. For example, penalties for violations of HIPAA and its implementing regulations are assessed at varying rates
per violation, subject to a statutory cap for violations of the same standard in a single calendar year. Such penalties may be subject to periodic adjustments.
However, a single breach incident can result in violations of multiple standards, which could result in significant fines. HIPAA also authorizes state attorneys
general to file suit on behalf of their residents. Courts may award damages, costs and attorneys’ fees related to violations of HIPAA in such cases, which may be
significant. While HIPAA does not create a private right of action allowing individuals to sue us in civil court for violations of HIPAA, its standards have been
used as the basis for duty of care in state civil suits such as those for negligence or recklessness in the misuse or breach of PHI. Any such penalties or lawsuits
could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
In addition, HIPAA mandates that the Secretary of HHS conduct periodic compliance audits of HIPAA covered entities or business associates for
compliance with the HIPAA Privacy and Security Standards and Breach Notification Rule. It also tasks HHS with establishing a methodology whereby harmed
individuals who were the victims of breaches of unsecured PHI may receive a percentage of the civil monetary penalty fine or settlement paid by the violator.
HIPAA further requires that patients be notified of any unauthorized acquisition, access, use or disclosure of their unsecured PHI that compromises the
privacy or security of such information, with certain exceptions related to unintentional or inadvertent use or disclosure by employees or authorized individuals
or where there is a good faith belief that the person who received the impermissible disclosure would not have been able to retain the information. HIPAA
specifies that such notifications must be made “without unreasonable delay and in no case later than 60 calendar days after discovery of the breach.” If a breach
affects 500 patients or more, it must be reported to HHS without unreasonable delay, and HHS will post the name of the breaching entity on its public web site.
Breaches affecting 500 patients or more in the same state or jurisdiction must also be reported to the local media. If a breach involves fewer than 500 people, the
covered entity must record it in a log and notify HHS at least annually. Any such notifications, including notifications to the public, could harm our business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
Numerous other federal and state laws protect the confidentiality, privacy, availability, integrity and security of personal information, including health
information. For example, various states, such as California and Massachusetts, have implemented privacy laws and regulations that in many cases are more
restrictive than, and may not be preempted by, the HIPAA rules and may be subject to varying interpretations by courts and government agencies, creating
complex compliance issues for us and our health network partners and enterprise clients and potentially exposing us to additional expense, adverse publicity and
liability. The cost of compliance could be significant and require investments to enhance our technology and security infrastructure. In addition, in certain
situations, regulators, partners, clients and consumers may disagree with our analysis of, and response to, data-related incidents and our execution of obligations
under the laws, which may cause disputes, liability and negative publicity and harm our business, operations and prospects. In particular, some laws, such as the
California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018, or CCPA, allow for a private right of action and statutory damages, which may motivate plaintiffs’ attorneys to file
class action claims, which can be resource-intensive and costly to defend.
If our security measures, some of which are managed by third parties, are breached or fail, and unauthorized access to personal information or PHI occurs,
our reputation could be severely damaged, harming member, client and partner confidence and may result in members curtailing their use of our services. In
addition, we could face litigation, significant damages for contract breach, significant penalties and regulatory actions for violation of HIPAA and other
applicable laws or regulations and significant costs for remediation, notification to individuals and the public and measures to prevent future occurrences. Any
potential security breach could also result in increased costs associated with liability for stolen assets or information, inaccessibility of systems or information,
repairing system damage that may have been caused by such breaches, remediation
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offered to employees, contractors, health network partners, enterprise clients or members in an effort to maintain our business relationships after a breach and
implementing measures to prevent future occurrences, including organizational changes, deploying additional personnel and protection technologies, training
employees and engaging third-party experts and consultants.
We outsource important aspects of the storage and transmission of personal information and PHI, and thus rely on third parties to manage functions that
have material cybersecurity risks. We require our vendors who handle personal information and PHI to contractually commit to safeguarding personal
information and PHI such as by signing information protection addenda and/or business associate agreements, as applicable, to the same extent that applies to us
and require such vendors to undergo security examinations. In addition, we periodically hire third-party security experts to assess and test our security posture.
However, we cannot assure that these contractual measures and other safeguards will adequately protect us from the risks associated with the storage and
transmission of employees’, contractors’, patients’ and members’ personal information and PHI. Any violation of applicable laws, regulations or policies by
these parties, including violations that cause us to incur significant liability and put sensitive data at risk, could in turn harm our business.
We also publish statements to our members that describe how we handle and protect personal information and PHI. If federal or state regulatory
authorities or private litigants consider any portion of these statements to be untrue, we may be subject to claims of misrepresentation and/or deceptive practices,
which could lead to significant liabilities and consequences, including, without limitation, significant costs of responding to investigations, defending against
litigation, settling claims and complying with regulatory or court orders.
As public and regulatory focus on privacy issues continues to increase, we expect that there will continue to be new laws, regulations and industry
standards concerning privacy, data protection and information security. For example, the CCPA imposes obligations on businesses to which it applies. These
obligations include, without limitation, providing specific disclosures in privacy notices, affording California residents certain rights related to their personal
information, and requiring businesses subject to the CCPA to implement certain measures to effectuate California residents' rights to their personal information.
The CCPA allows for statutory fines for noncompliance. The California Privacy Rights Act, or the CPRA, approved by California voters in November 2020 and
expected to go into effect on January 1, 2023, builds upon the CCPA and affords consumers expanded privacy rights and protections. Colorado and Virginia
passed similar consumer privacy laws expected to go into effect in 2023. The potential effects of state privacy, data protection and information security laws are
far-reaching and will require us to modify our data processing practices and policies and to incur substantial costs and expenses to comply. Further, obligations
under new laws and regulations may not be clear, creating uncertainty and risk despite our efforts to comply. If we fail, or are perceived to have failed, to address
or comply with our privacy, data protection and information security obligations, we could be subject to governmental enforcement actions such as
investigations, fines, penalties, audits, or inspections, class action or other litigation, contract breach claims, additional reporting requirements and/or oversight,
bans on processing personal information, orders to destroy or not use personal information, reputational harm and imprisonment of company officials.
Any significant change to applicable privacy, data protection and information security laws, regulations or industry practices regarding the collection, use,
retention, security or disclosure of our members’ personal information, or regarding the manner in which the express or implied consent for the collection, use,
retention or disclosure of such personal information is obtained, could increase our costs to comply and require us to modify our services and features, possibly
in a material manner, which we may be unable to complete and may limit our ability to store and process the personal information of our members, optimize our
operations or develop new services and features. Any of the foregoing could harm our competitive position, business, financial condition, results of operations
and prospects.
Individuals may claim our call and text messaging services are not compliant with applicable law, including the Telephone Consumer Protection Act.
We call and send short message service, or SMS, text messages to members and potential members who are eligible to use our service. While we obtain
consent from these individuals to call and send text messages, federal or state regulatory authorities or private litigants may claim that the notices and disclosures
we provide, form of consents we obtain or our call and SMS texting practices are not adequate to comply with, or violate applicable law, including the
Telephone Consumer Protection Act, or TCPA. The TCPA imposes specific requirements relating to the marketing to individuals leveraging technology such as
telephones, mobile devices and texts. TCPA violations can result in significant financial penalties as businesses can incur civil forfeiture penalties or criminal
fines imposed by the Federal Communications Commission or be fined for each violation through private litigation or state attorneys general or other state actor
enforcement. Class action suits are the most common method for private enforcement. Our call and SMS texting campaigns are potential sources of risk for class
action lawsuits and liability for our company. Numerous class-action suits under federal and state laws have been filed in recent years against
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companies who conduct call and SMS texting programs, with many resulting in multi-million-dollar settlements to the plaintiffs. While we strive to adhere to
strict policies and procedures, the Federal Communications Commission, as the agency that implements and enforces the TCPA, may disagree with our
interpretation of the TCPA and subject us to penalties and other consequences for noncompliance. Determination by a court or regulatory agency that our call or
SMS text messaging violate the TCPA could subject us to civil penalties, could require us to change some portions of our business and could otherwise harm our
business. Even an unsuccessful challenge by members, consumers or regulatory authorities of our activities could result in adverse publicity and could require a
costly response from and defense by us.
Negative publicity regarding the managed healthcare industry generally could adversely affect our results of operations or business.
Negative publicity regarding the managed healthcare industry generally, or the Medicare Advantage program in particular, may result in increased
regulation and legislative review of industry practices that further increase the costs of doing business and adversely affect our results of operations or business
by:
•

requiring us to change our products and services provided to patients;

•

increasing the regulatory burdens under which we operate, which may increase the costs of providing services;

•

adversely affecting our ability to market our products or services through the imposition of further regulatory restrictions regarding the manner in which
plans and providers market to Medicare Advantage enrollees; or

•

adversely affecting our ability to attract and retain patients.

Risks Related to Information Technology
We rely on internet infrastructure, bandwidth providers, other third parties and our own systems to provide proprietary service platforms to our members
and providers, and any failure or interruption in the services provided by these third parties or our own systems could expose us to liability and hurt our
reputation and relationships with members and clients.
Our ability to maintain our proprietary service platform, including our digital health services and our electronic health records systems, is dependent on
the development and maintenance of the infrastructure of the internet and other telecommunications services by third parties, including bandwidth and
telecommunications equipment providers. This includes maintenance of a reliable network connection with the necessary speed, data capacity and security for
providing reliable internet access and services and reliable telephone and facsimile services. We exercise limited control over these third-party providers.
Our platforms are designed to operate without perceptible interruption in accordance with our service level commitments. We have, however, experienced
limited interruptions in these systems in the past, including server failures that temporarily slowed down or diminished the performance of our platforms, and we
may experience similar or more significant interruptions in the future. We do not currently maintain redundant systems or facilities for some of these services.
Interruptions to third party systems or services, whether due to system failures, cyber incidents (the risk of which has been higher due to the significant increase
in remote work across the technology industry as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic), ransomware, physical or electronic break-ins, phishing campaigns or
other events, could affect the security or availability of our platforms or services and prevent or inhibit the ability of our members or providers to access our
platforms or services. In the event of a catastrophic event with respect to one or more of these systems or facilities, we may experience an extended period of
system unavailability, which could result in liability, substantial costs to remedy those problems or harm our relationship with our members and our business.
Additionally, any disruption in the network access, telecommunications or co-location services provided by third-party providers or any failure of or by
third-party providers’ systems or our own systems to handle current or higher volumes of use could significantly harm our business. The reliability and
performance of our third-party providers’ systems and services may be harmed by increased usage or by ransomware, denial-of-service attacks or related cyber
incidents, which has increased due to more opportunities created by remote work necessitated by the COVID-19 pandemic. Any errors, failures, interruptions or
delays experienced in connection with these third-party services or our own systems could hurt our ability to deliver our services platform and damage our
relationships with health network partners, enterprise clients and members and expose us to third-party liabilities, which could in turn harm our competitive
position, business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
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We rely on third-party vendors to host and maintain our technology platform.
We rely on third-party vendors to host and maintain our technology platform. Our ability to operate our business is dependent on maintaining our
relationships with third-party vendors and entering into new relationships to meet the changing needs of our business. Any deterioration in our relationships with
such vendors or our failure to enter into agreements with vendors in the future could significantly disrupt our operations or hinder our ability to execute our
growth strategies. Because we rely on certain vendors to store and process our data, it is possible that, despite precautions taken at our vendors’ facilities, the
occurrence of a natural disaster, cyber incident, decision to close the facilities without adequate notice or other unanticipated problems could result in our noncompliance with data protection laws and regulations, loss of proprietary information, personal information, and other confidential information, and disruption to
our technology platform. These service interruptions could also cause our platform to be unavailable to our health network partners, enterprise clients and
members, and impair our ability to deliver services and negatively impact our relationships with new and existing health network partners, enterprise clients and
members.
Some of our vendor agreements may be unilaterally terminated by the vendor for convenience, including with respect to Amazon Web Services, and if
such agreements are terminated, we may not be able to enter into similar relationships in the future on reasonable terms or at all. We may also incur substantial
costs, delays and disruptions to our business in transitioning such services to ourselves or other third-party vendors. In addition, third-party vendors may not be
able to provide the services required in order to meet the changing needs of our business. Any of the foregoing could harm our competitive position, business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
If our or our vendors’ security measures fail or are breached and unauthorized access to our employees’, contractors’, members’, clients’ or partners’ data
is obtained, our services may be perceived as insecure, we may incur significant liabilities, including through private litigation or regulatory action, our
reputation may be harmed, and we could lose members, clients and partners.
Our services and operations involve the storage and transmission of personal information and other sensitive data, including proprietary and confidential
business data, trade secrets and intellectual property and the personal information (including health information) of employees, contractors, clients, partners,
members and others. Because of the sensitivity of the information we store and transmit, the security features of our and our third-party vendors’ computer,
network, and communications systems infrastructure are critical to the success of our business.
A breach or failure of our or our third-party vendors’ security measures could result from a variety of circumstances and events, including, but not limited
to, social engineering attacks (including through phishing attacks), malicious code (such as viruses and worms), malware (including as a result of advanced
persistent threat intrusions), denial-of-service attacks (such as credential stuffing), ransomware attacks, supply-chain attacks, employee negligence or human
errors, software bugs, server malfunction, software or hardware failures, loss of data or other information technology assets, adware, telecommunications
failures, earthquakes, fire, flood, and other similar threats. Ransomware attacks, including those perpetrated by organized criminal threat actors, nation-states,
and nation-state supported actors, are becoming increasingly prevalent and severe and can lead to significant interruptions in our operations, loss of data and
income, reputational harm, and diversion of funds. Extortion payments may alleviate the negative impact of a ransomware attack, but we may be unwilling or
unable to make such payments due to, for example, strategic security objectives or applicable laws or regulations prohibiting payments. Similarly, supply-chain
attacks have increased in frequency and severity, and we cannot guarantee that third parties and infrastructure in our supply chain have not been compromised or
that they do not contain exploitable defects or bugs that could result in a breach of or disruption to our information technology systems (including our services)
or the third-party information technology systems that support us and our services. The COVID-19 pandemic and our remote workforce poses increased risks to
our information technology systems and data, as more of our employees work from home, utilizing network connections outside our premises.
Any of the previously identified or similar threats could cause a security incident. If we our or our third-party vendors experience a security incident, it
could result in unauthorized, unlawful or accidental acquisition, modification, destruction, loss, alteration, encryption, disclosure of or access to data. A security
incident could disrupt our (and third parties upon whom we rely) ability to provide our services. We may expend significant resources or modify our business
activities in an effort to protect against security incidents. While we have implemented security measures designed to protect against a security incident, there
can be no assurance that these measures will always be effective. We have not always been able in the past and may be unable in the future to detect
vulnerabilities in our information technology systems because such threats and techniques change frequently, are often sophisticated in nature, and may not be
detected until after a security incident has occurred. Some security incidents may remain undetected for an extended period of time. Despite our efforts to
identify and remediate vulnerabilities, if any, in our information technology systems (including our products), our efforts may not be successful. Further, as
cyber threats
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continue to evolve, we may be required to expend additional resources to enhance our information security measures and/or to investigate and remediate any
information security vulnerabilities and we may experience delays in developing and deploying remedial measures designed to address any such identified
vulnerabilities.
Certain privacy, data protection and information security obligations may require us to implement and maintain specific security measures, industrystandard or reasonable security measures to protect our information technology systems and data. Our clients, partners and members may demand that we adopt
additional security measures or make further security investments, which may be costly and time-consuming. Such failures or breaches of our or our third-party
vendors’ security measures, or our or our third-party vendors’ inability to effectively resolve such failures or breaches in a timely manner, could severely
damage our reputation, adversely impact customer, partner, member or investor confidence in us, and reduce the demand for our services. Applicable privacy,
data protection and security information obligations may require us to notify relevant stakeholders of security incidents. Such disclosures are costly, and the
disclosures or the failure to comply with such requirements, could lead to adverse impacts. In addition, we could face litigation, significant damages for contract
breach or other breaches of law, significant monetary penalties, or regulatory actions for violation of applicable laws or regulations, and incur significant costs
for remedial or preventive measures. Although we maintain insurance covering certain security and privacy damages and claim expenses, we may not carry
insurance or maintain coverage sufficient to compensate for all liability. Adequate insurance may not be available in the future at acceptable costs or at all and
coverage disputes could also occur with our insurers. If security and privacy claims are not fully covered by insurance, they could result in substantial costs to
us, which could harm our business. Insurance coverage would also not address the reputational damage that could result from a security incident. If an actual or
perceived breach or inadequacy of our or our third-party vendors’ security occurs, or if we or our third-party vendors are unable to effectively resolve a breach in
a timely manner, we could lose current and potential members, partners and clients, which could harm our business, results of operations, financial condition and
prospects.
Our proprietary technology platforms may not operate properly, which could damage our reputation, subject us to claims or require us to divert application
of our resources from other purposes, any of which could harm our business and growth.
Our proprietary technology platforms provide members with the ability to, among other things, register for our services, request a visit (either scheduled
or on demand) and communicate and interact with providers, and allows our providers to, among other things, chart patient notes, maintain medical records, and
conduct visits (via video, phone or the internet). Proprietary software development is time-consuming, expensive and complex, and may involve unforeseen
difficulties. We may encounter technical obstacles, and it is possible that we may discover additional problems that prevent our proprietary software from
operating properly. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, use of virtual care, including remote visits, has increased, which places a heavier demand on our
technology platform and may cause performance levels to deteriorate. When we launch new features and functions within our technology platform, we could
inadvertently introduce bugs or errors, including latent ones, into our platforms which could impact usability as well as technology and clinical operations. We
continue to implement software with respect to a number of new applications and services. The operation of our technology also depends in part on the
performance of third-party service providers. If our technology platform does not function reliably or fails to achieve member, provider, partner or client
expectations in terms of performance, we may be required to divert resources allocated for other business purposes to address these issues, may suffer
reputational harm, lose or fail to grow member usage, fail to retain or grow provider talent, members, partners and clients, and may be subject to liability claims.
The information that we provide to our health network partners, enterprise clients and members could be inaccurate or incomplete, which could harm our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
We provide healthcare-related information for use by our health network partners, enterprise clients and members. Because data in the healthcare industry
is fragmented in origin, inconsistent in format and often incomplete, the overall quality of data in the healthcare industry is poor, and we frequently discover data
issues and errors. If the data that we provide to our health network partners, enterprise clients and members is incorrect or incomplete or if we make mistakes in
the capture or input of this data, our reputation may suffer and our ability to attract and retain health network partners, enterprise clients and members may be
harmed. In addition, a court or government agency may take the position that our storage and display of health information exposes us to personal injury liability
or other liability for wrongful delivery or handling of healthcare services or erroneous health information, which could harm our business, financial condition
and results of operations.
If we cannot implement or optimize our technology solutions for members, integrate our systems with health network partners or resolve technical issues in
a timely manner, we may lose clients and partners and our reputation may be harmed.
Our health network partners utilize a variety of data formats, applications, systems and infrastructure. Moreover, each health network partner may have a
unique technology ecosystem and infrastructure or have specific technology or certification requirements. To maintain our relationships with such partners and
to continue to grow our business and membership, we may
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be required to meet such requirements and, in certain circumstances, our services must be seamlessly integrated and interoperable with our partners’ complex
systems, which may cause us to incur significant upfront and maintenance costs. Additionally, we do not control our partners’ integration schedules. As a result,
if our partners do not allocate the internal resources necessary to meet their integration responsibilities, which resources can be significant as many of them are
large healthcare institutions with substantial operations to manage, or if we face unanticipated integration difficulties, the integration may be delayed. In
addition, competitors with more efficient operating models with lower integration costs could jeopardize our partner relationships. If the integration process with
our partners is not executed successfully or if execution is delayed, we could incur significant costs, partners could become dissatisfied and decide not to
continue a strategic contractual relationship with us beyond an initial period during their term commitment or, in some cases, revenue recognition could be
delayed, any of which could harm our business and results of operations.
Our members depend on our digital health platform, including our mobile app, web portal, and support services to access on-demand digital health
services or schedule in-office visits. We may be unable to quickly accommodate increases in member technology usage, particularly as we increase the size of
our membership base, grow our services and as the COVID-19 pandemic drives more member demand for our digital health services and virtual care. We also
may be unable to modify the format of our technology solutions and support services to compete with developments from our competitors. If we are unable to
further develop and enhance our technology solutions or maintain effective technical support services to address members’ needs or preferences in a timely
fashion, our members, clients and partners may become dissatisfied, which could damage our ability to maintain or expand our membership and business. While
any refunds or credits we have issued historically have not had a significant impact on net revenue, we cannot assure you as to whether we may need to issue
additional refunds or credits for membership fees in the future as a result of member or client dissatisfaction. For example, our members expect on-demand
healthcare services through our mobile app and rapid in-office visit scheduling. Failure to maintain these standards or negative publicity related to our
technology solutions, regardless of its accuracy, may reduce our overall NPS, harm our reputation and cause us to lose current or potential members, enterprise
clients or partners. In addition, our enterprise clients expect our technology solutions to facilitate long-term cost of care reductions through high employee digital
engagement, which we market as potential benefits for employers in providing employees with One Medical memberships. If employers do not perceive our
solutions and services as providing such efficiencies and cost savings, they may terminate their contracts with us or elect not to renew. Any such outcomes could
also negatively affect our ability to contract with new enterprise clients through damage to our reputation. If any of these were to occur, our revenue may decline
and our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects could be harmed.
Risks Related to Taxation and Accounting Standards
Certain U.S. state tax authorities may assert that we have a state nexus and seek to impose state and local income taxes which could harm our results of
operations.
As of December 31, 2021, we are qualified to operate in, and file income tax returns in, 19 states as well as Washington, D.C. There is a risk that certain
state tax authorities where we do not currently file a state income tax return could assert that we are liable for state and local income taxes based upon income or
gross receipts allocable to such states. States are becoming increasingly aggressive in asserting a nexus for state income tax purposes. We could be subject to
state and local taxation, including penalties and interest attributable to prior periods, if a state tax authority successfully asserts that our activities give rise to a
nexus. Such tax assessments, penalties and interest to the extent the Company has taxable income in prior periods may adversely impact our results of
operations.
Our ability to use our net operating losses to offset future taxable income may be subject to certain limitations.
In general, under Section 382 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, a corporation that undergoes an “ownership
change” is subject to limitations on its ability to utilize its pre-change net operating losses, or NOLs, to offset future taxable income. A Section 382 “ownership
change” generally occurs if one or more stockholders or groups of stockholders who own at least 5% of our stock increase their ownership by more than 50
percentage points over their lowest ownership percentage within a rolling three-year period. Similar rules may apply under state tax laws. As of December 31,
2021, we have $894.3 million of federal net operating loss carryforwards and $598.5 million of state and local net operating loss carryforwards. The federal net
operating loss carryforwards of $687.1 million arising after 2017 carry forward indefinitely, but the deduction for these carryforwards is limited to 80% of post2020 current-year taxable income. The federal net operating loss carryforwards of $136.7 million from prior years will begin to expire in 2025. The state and
local net operating loss carryforwards begin to expire in 2024. The Company has identified $25.2 million and $31.0 million of the above federal and state net
operating losses, respectively, in certain affiliated professional entities that will expire unused due to prior ownership changes. In addition, future changes in our
stock ownership, some of which are outside of our control, could result in an ownership change under Section 382 of the Code, further limiting our ability to
utilize NOLs arising prior to such ownership
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change in the future. There is also a risk that due to statutory or regulatory changes, such as suspensions on the use of NOLs, or other unforeseen reasons, our
existing NOLs could expire or otherwise be unavailable to offset future income tax liabilities. We have recorded a full valuation allowance against the deferred
tax assets attributable to our NOLs.
Taxing authorities may successfully assert that we should have collected or in the future should collect sales and use or similar taxes for our membership,
enterprise and other service offerings, which could negatively impact our results of operations.
We do not collect sales and use and similar taxes in any states for our membership, enterprise and other service offerings based on our belief that our
services are not subject to such taxes in any state. Sales and use and similar tax laws and rates vary greatly from state to state. Certain states in which we do not
collect such taxes may assert that such taxes are applicable, which could result in tax assessments, penalties and interest with respect to past services, and we
may be required to collect such taxes for services in the future. For example, the State of New York audited our sales and use tax records from March 2011
through February 2017 and issued a determination that we owe back taxes, penalties and interest. If we are not successful in disputing such proposed
assessments, we may be required to make payments in tax assessments, penalties or interest, and may be required to collect sales and use taxes in the future.
Such tax assessments, penalties and interest or future requirements may negatively impact our results of operations.
Our financial results may be adversely impacted by changes in accounting principles applicable to us.
Generally accepted accounting principles in the United States are subject to interpretation by the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, the
SEC and other various bodies formed to promulgate and interpret appropriate accounting principles. For example, in May 2014, the FASB issued accounting
standards update No. 2014-09 (Topic 606), Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which supersedes nearly all existing revenue recognition guidance under
GAAP and specifies that an entity should recognize revenue from the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services; this new accounting standard also impacted the recognition of
sales commissions. Changes in accounting standards and interpretations or in our accounting assumptions and judgments could significantly impact our
consolidated financial statements and our reported financial position and financial results may be harmed if our estimates or judgments prove to be wrong,
assumptions change, or actual circumstances differ from those in our assumptions. Any difficulties in implementing these pronouncements could cause us to fail
to meet our financial reporting obligations, which could result in regulatory discipline and harm our business.
If our estimates or judgments relating to our critical accounting policies prove to be incorrect, our results of operations could be harmed.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that
we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, as provided in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
—Critical Accounting Estimates” in Part II, Item 7 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021. The results of these
estimates form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets, liabilities, and equity and the amount of revenue and expenses that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Significant assumptions and estimates used in preparing our consolidated financial statements include those related to
revenue recognition, liability for medical claims incurred in the period but not yet reported (“IBNR”), valuation and related impairment recognition of intangible
assets and goodwill, and stock-based compensation. Our results of operations may be harmed if our assumptions change or if actual circumstances differ from
those in our assumptions, which could cause our results of operations to fall below the expectations of securities analysts and investors, resulting in a decline in
the trading price of our common stock.
There are significant risks associated with estimating revenue under our At-Risk arrangements with certain payers, and if our estimates of revenues are
materially inaccurate, it could negatively impact the timing and the amount of our revenue recognition or have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
We recognize revenue net of risk shares and adjustments in the month in which eligible members are entitled to receive healthcare benefits during the
contract term. Due to reporting lag times and other factors, significant judgment is required to estimate risk adjustments to PMPM fees received from payers for
At-Risk members. The billing and collection process with payers is complex due to ongoing insurance coverage changes, geographic coverage differences,
differing interpretations of contract coverage and other payer issues, such as ensuring appropriate documentation. Determining applicable primary and secondary
coverage for our patients, together with the changes in patient coverage that occur each month, requires complex, resource-intensive processes. Errors in
determining the correct coordination of benefits may result in refunds to payers.
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Revenues associated with Medicare programs are also subject to estimation risk related to the amounts not paid by the primary government payer that will
ultimately be collectible from other government programs paying secondary coverage, the patient’s commercial health insurance plan secondary coverage or the
patient. Collections, refunds and payer retractions typically continue to occur for up to three years and longer after services are provided. Inaccurate estimates of
revenues could negatively impact the timing and the amount of our revenue recognition and have a material adverse impact on our business, results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows.
If our goodwill, intangible assets or other long-lived assets become impaired, we may be required to record a significant charge to earnings.
Consummation of the acquisition of Iora resulted in us recognizing additional goodwill, intangible assets and other long-lived assets such as leases and
fixed assets on our consolidated balance sheet. Intangible assets with finite lives will be amortized using the method that best reflects how their economic
benefits are utilized or, if a pattern of economic benefits cannot be reliably determined, on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Goodwill will
not be amortized, but instead tested for potential impairment at least annually. Goodwill, intangible assets and other long-lived assets will also be tested for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. If our goodwill, intangible assets or other
long-lived assets are determined to be impaired in the future, we may be required to record additional significant, non-cash charges to earnings during the period
in which the impairment is determined to have occurred.
Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
If we are unable to obtain, maintain and enforce intellectual property protection for our business assets or if the scope of our intellectual property protection
is not sufficiently broad, others may be able to develop and commercialize technology and solutions substantially similar to ours, and our ability to conduct
business may be compromised.
Our business depends on proprietary technology and other business assets, including software, processes, databases, confidential information and knowhow, the protection of which is crucial to the success of our business. We rely on a combination of trademark, trade-secret and copyright laws, confidentiality
policies and procedures, cybersecurity practices and contractual provisions to protect our intellectual property. We do not currently own any issued patents. Third
parties, including our competitors, may have or obtain patents relating to technologies that overlap or compete with our technology, which they may assert
against us to seek licensing fees or preclude the use of our technology.
We may, over time, increase our investment in protecting our intellectual property through additional trademark, patent, copyright and other intellectual
property filings, which could be expensive and time-consuming. While our operations are currently based in the United States, we may also be required to
protect our intellectual property in foreign jurisdictions, a process that can be prolonged and costly, and one that we may choose not to pursue in every instance.
We may not be able to obtain protection for our technology and even if we are successful, it is expensive to maintain intellectual property rights and the costs of
defending our rights could be substantial. Moreover, these measures may not be sufficient to offer us meaningful protection or provide us with any competitive
advantage. Furthermore, changes to U.S. intellectual property laws may jeopardize the enforceability and validity of our intellectual property portfolio and harm
our ability to obtain patent protection of certain inventions.
If we are unable to adequately protect our intellectual property and other proprietary rights, our competitive position and our business could be harmed, as
competitors may be able to commercialize similar offerings without having incurred the development and licensing costs that we have incurred. Any of our
owned or licensed intellectual property rights could be challenged, invalidated, circumvented, infringed, misappropriated or violated, our trade secrets and other
confidential information could be disclosed in an unauthorized manner to third parties, which could result in costly redesign efforts, business disruptions,
discontinuance of some of our offerings or other competitive harm.
We may become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce or defend our intellectual property rights, which could be expensive, time consuming and
unsuccessful.
Third parties, including our competitors, could infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate our intellectual property rights. Monitoring unauthorized use
of our intellectual property is difficult and costly. From time to time, we seek to analyze our competitors’ solutions and services, and may in the future seek to
enforce our rights against potential infringement, misappropriation or violation of our intellectual property. However, the steps we have taken to protect our
proprietary rights may not be adequate to enforce our rights as against such infringement, misappropriation or violation of our intellectual property. We may not
be able to detect unauthorized use of, or take appropriate steps to enforce, our intellectual property rights.
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Any inability to meaningfully enforce our intellectual property rights could harm our ability to compete and reduce demand for our services.
In recent years, companies are increasingly bringing and becoming subject to lawsuits and proceedings alleging infringement, misappropriation or
violation of intellectual property rights, particularly patent rights. Our competitors and other third parties may hold patents or other intellectual property rights,
which could be related to our business. We expect that we may receive in the future notices that claim we or our partners, clients or members using our solutions
and services have misappropriated or misused other parties’ intellectual property rights, particularly as the number of competitors in our market grows and the
functionality of applications amongst competitors overlaps. If we are found to infringe, misappropriate or violate another party’s intellectual property rights, we
could be prohibited, including by court order, from further use of the intellectual property asset or be required to obtain a license from such third party to
continue commercializing or using such technologies, solutions or services, which may not be available on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Even if we
were able to obtain a license, it could be non-exclusive, thereby giving our competitors and other third parties access to the same technologies licensed to us, and
it could require us to make substantial licensing and royalty payments. Accordingly, we may be forced to design around such violated intellectual property,
which may be expensive, time-consuming or infeasible. In addition, we could be found liable for significant monetary damages, including treble damages and
attorneys’ fees, if we are found to have willfully infringed a patent or other intellectual property right. Claims that we have misappropriated the confidential
information or trade secrets of third parties could similarly harm our business. Any adverse outcome in such cases could affect our competitive position,
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
Litigation or other legal proceedings relating to intellectual property claims, regardless of merits and even if resolved in our favor, can be expensive, time
consuming, and resource intensive. In addition, there could be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions, or other interim proceedings or
developments, and if securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a substantial adverse effect on the price of our common
stock. Such litigation or proceedings could substantially increase our operating losses and reduce the resources available for development activities or any future
sales, marketing, or other business activities. We may not have sufficient financial or other resources to conduct such litigation or proceedings adequately. Some
of our competitors may be able to sustain the costs of such litigation or proceedings more effectively than we can because of their greater financial resources and
more mature and developed intellectual property portfolios. Uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of intellectual property proceedings
could harm our ability to compete in the marketplace. In addition, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual
property litigation, there is a risk that some of our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation. Any of the
foregoing could harm our competitive position, business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
If we fail to comply with our license obligations, if our license rights are challenged, or if we cannot license rights to use technologies on reasonable terms,
we may experience business disruption, increased costs, or inability to commercialize certain services.
We license certain intellectual property, including content, technologies and software from third parties, that are important to our business. In the future
we may need to enter into additional agreements that provide us with licenses and rights to valuable intellectual property or technology. If we fail to comply with
any of the obligations under our license agreements, or if our use or license rights are challenged, we may be required to pay damages, the licensor may have the
right to terminate the license and the owner of the intellectual property asset may assert claims against us. Termination by the licensor or dispute with an owner
of an intellectual property asset would cause us to lose valuable rights, and could disrupt or prevent us from providing our services, or adversely impact our
ability to commercialize future solutions and services. In addition, our rights to certain technologies are licensed to us on a non-exclusive basis. The owners of
these non-exclusively licensed technologies are therefore free to license them to third parties, including our competitors, on terms that may be superior to those
offered to us, which could place us at a competitive disadvantage. Our licensors may also own or control intellectual property that has not been licensed to us
and, as a result, we may be subject to claims, regardless of their merit, that we are infringing or otherwise violating the licensor’s rights. In addition, the
agreements under which we license intellectual property or technology from third parties are generally complex, and certain provisions in such agreements may
be susceptible to multiple interpretations. The resolution of any contract interpretation disagreement that may arise could narrow what we believe to be the scope
of our rights to the relevant intellectual property or technology, or increase what we believe to be our financial or other obligations under the relevant agreement.
Moreover, the licensing or acquisition of third-party intellectual property rights is a competitive area, and established companies may have a competitive
advantage over us due to their size, capital resources and greater development or commercialization capabilities. Companies that perceive us to be a competitor
may also be unwilling to license or grant rights to us. Even if such licenses are available, we may be required to pay the licensor substantial fees or royalties.
Such fees or
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royalties will become a cost of our operations and may affect our margins. If we are unable to obtain licenses on acceptable terms or at all, if any licenses are
subsequently terminated, if our licensors fail to abide by the terms of the licenses, if our licensors fail to prevent infringement by third parties, or if the licensed
intellectual property rights are found to be invalid or unenforceable, we could be restricted from commercializing our solutions and services and may be required
to incur substantial costs to seek or develop alternatives. Any of the foregoing could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects.
If our trademarks and trade names are not adequately protected, we may not be able to build and maintain name recognition in our markets of interest and
our competitive position may be harmed.
The registered or unregistered trademarks or trade names that we own may be challenged, infringed, circumvented, declared generic, lapsed or determined
to be infringing on or dilutive of other marks. We may not be able to protect our rights in these trademarks and trade names, which we need in order to build and
maintain name recognition with the public. In addition, third parties have filed, and may in the future file, for registration of trademarks similar or identical to
our trademarks, thereby impeding our ability to build and maintain brand identity and possibly leading to market confusion. If they succeed in registering or
developing common law rights in such trademarks, and if we are not successful in challenging such third-party rights, we may not be able to use these
trademarks to develop or maintain brand recognition of our services or be required to expend substantial resources and expenses to rebrand. In addition, there
could be potential trade name or trademark infringement claims brought by owners of other registered trademarks or trademarks that incorporate variations of
our registered or unregistered trademarks or trade names. If we are unable to establish or protect our trademarks and trade names, or if we are unable to build or
maintain name recognition based on our trademarks and trade names, we may not be able to compete effectively, which could harm our competitive position,
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets, our business and competitive position would be harmed.
We rely heavily on trade secrets and confidentiality agreements to protect our unpatented know-how, technology, and other proprietary information,
including our technology platform, and to maintain our competitive position. With respect to our technology platform, we consider trade secrets and know-how
to be one of our primary sources of intellectual property. However, trade secrets and know-how can be difficult to protect. We seek to protect these trade secrets
and other proprietary technology, in part, by implementing topical policies and processes and by entering into non-disclosure and confidentiality agreements
with parties who have access to them, such as our employees, contractors, consultants, advisors, clients, prospects, partners, and other third parties. We also enter
into confidentiality and invention or patent assignment agreements with our employees and consultants. We cannot guarantee that we have entered into such
agreements with each party that may have or have had access to our trade secrets or proprietary information. Despite these efforts, any of these parties may
breach the agreements and disclose our proprietary information, including our trade secrets, and we may not be able to obtain adequate remedies for such
breaches. Enforcing a claim that a party illegally disclosed or misappropriated a trade secret is difficult, expensive, and time-consuming, and the outcome is
unpredictable. If any of our trade secrets were to be lawfully obtained or independently developed by a competitor or other third party, we would have no right to
prevent them from using that technology or information to compete with us. If any of our trade secrets are misappropriated, improperly disclosed, or
independently developed by a competitor or other third party, it could harm our competitive position, business, financial condition, results of operations, and
prospects.
We may be subject to claims that our employees, consultants, or advisors have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade secrets of their current or former
employers or claims asserting ownership of what we regard as our own intellectual property.
Many of our employees, consultants, and advisors are currently or were previously employed at other companies in our field, including our competitors or
potential competitors. Although we try to ensure that our employees, consultants, and advisors do not use the proprietary information or know-how of others in
their work for us, we may be subject to claims that we or these individuals have used or disclosed intellectual property, including trade secrets or other
proprietary information, of any such individual’s current or former employer. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. If we fail in defending
any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or personnel. Even if we are successful in defending
against such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management.
In addition, while it is our policy to require our employees and contractors who may be involved in the conception or development of intellectual property
to execute agreements assigning such intellectual property to us, we may be unsuccessful in executing such an agreement with each party who, in fact, conceives
or develops intellectual property that we regard as our
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own. The assignment of intellectual property rights may not be self-executing, or the assignment agreements may be breached, and we may be forced to bring
claims against third parties, or defend claims that they may bring against us, to determine the ownership of what we regard as our intellectual property. Any of
the foregoing could harm our competitive position, business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
Our use of open source software could compromise our ability to offer our services and subject us to possible litigation.
We use open source software in connection with our solutions and services. Companies that incorporate open source software into their solutions have,
from time to time, faced claims challenging the use of open source software and compliance with open source license terms. As a result, we could be subject to
suits by parties claiming ownership of what we believe to be open source software or claiming noncompliance with open source licensing terms. Some open
source software licenses require users who distribute software containing open source software to publicly disclose all or part of the source code to the licensee’s
software that incorporates, links or uses such open source software, and make available to third parties for no cost, any derivative works of the open source code
created by the licensee, which could include the licensee’s own valuable proprietary code. While we monitor our use of open source software and try to ensure
that none is used in a manner that would require us to disclose our proprietary source code or that would otherwise breach the terms of an open source
agreement, such use could inadvertently occur, or could be claimed to have occurred, in part because open source license terms are often ambiguous. There is
little legal precedent in this area and any actual or claimed requirement to disclose our proprietary source code or pay damages for breach of contract could harm
our business and could help third parties, including our competitors, develop solutions and services that are similar to or better than ours. Any of the foregoing
could harm our competitive position, business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock
Our stock price may be volatile, and the value of our common stock may decline.
The market price of our common stock may be highly volatile and may fluctuate or decline substantially as a result of a variety of factors, some of which
are beyond our control or are related in complex ways, including:
•

actual or anticipated fluctuations in our financial condition and operating results;

•

variance in our financial performance from expectations of securities analysts or investors;

•

changes in the pricing we offer our members;

•

changes in our projected operating and financial results;

•

the impact of COVID-19 on our financial performance, financial condition and results of operations, and the financial performance and financial
condition of our health network partners, our enterprise clients and others;

•

the impact of protests and civil unrest;

•

our relationships with our health network partners and any changes to or terminations of our contracts with the health network partners;

•

changes in laws or regulations applicable to our industry and our solutions and services;

•

announcements by us or our competitors of significant business developments, acquisitions, or new offerings;

•

publicity associated with issues with our services and technology platform;

•

our involvement in litigation, including medical malpractice claims and consumer class action claims;

•

any governmental investigations or inquiries into our business and operations or challenges to our relationships with our affiliated professional entities
under the ASAs or to our relationships with health network partners;

•

future sales of our common stock or other securities, by us or our stockholders;

•

changes in senior management or key personnel;
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•

developments or disputes concerning our intellectual property or other proprietary rights, including allegations that we have infringed, misappropriated
or otherwise violated any intellectual property of any third party;

•

changes in accounting standards, policies, guidelines, interpretations or principles;

•

actual or anticipated developments in our business, our competitors’ businesses or the competitive landscape generally, including competition or
perceived competition from well-known and established companies or entities;

•

the trading volume of our common stock, including effects of inflation;

•

changes in the anticipated future size and growth rate of our market;

•

rates of unemployment; and

•

general economic, regulatory and market conditions, including economic recessions or slowdowns and inflationary pressures.

Broad market and industry fluctuations, as well as general economic, political, regulatory and market conditions, may negatively impact the market price
of our common stock, which has recently been volatile. In the past, securities class action litigation has often been brought against a company following a
decline in the market price of its securities. This risk is especially relevant for us, because companies reliant on technology solutions have experienced
significant stock price volatility in recent years. If we face such litigation, it could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management’s attention and
resources, which could harm our business.
As a result of being a public company, we are obligated to maintain proper and effective internal control over financial reporting and any failure to
maintain the adequacy of these internal controls may negatively impact investor confidence in our company and, as a result, the value of our common stock.
We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the
rules and regulations of Nasdaq. In particular, we are required pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act to furnish a report by management on, among
other things, the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. This assessment includes disclosure of any material weaknesses identified by our
management in our internal control over financial reporting. In addition, our independent registered public accounting firm is required to attest to the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting commencing from this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The process of compiling the system and
process documentation necessary to perform the evaluation required under Section 404 is costly and challenging. Also, we currently do not have an internal
audit group, and we may need to hire additional accounting and financial staff with appropriate public company experience and technical accounting knowledge
and compile the system and process documentation necessary to support ongoing work to comply with Section 404. Any failure to maintain effective internal
control over financial reporting could severely inhibit our ability to accurately report our financial condition or results of operations. If we are unable to conclude
that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, or if our independent registered public accounting firm determines we have a material weakness in
our internal control over financial reporting, we could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, the market price of our
common stock could decline, we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by Nasdaq, the SEC or other regulatory authorities and our access to the capital
markets could be restricted in the future.
We reported in our Annual Report on Form 10-K as of December 31, 2019, material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting related
to controls over the accounting for significant and unusual transactions, segregation of duties and adequate information technology general controls. A material
weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of a company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. During 2020, we completed the
remediation measures related to our previously reported material weaknesses and have concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective
as of December 31, 2020 and 2021. However, remediation of these material weaknesses does not provide assurance that our remediated controls will continue to
operate properly or that our financial statements will be free from error.
We cannot assure you that the measures we have taken will be sufficient to avoid potential future material weaknesses. Our current controls and any new
controls that we develop may become inadequate because of changes in conditions in our business and we may discover weaknesses in our disclosure controls
and internal control over financial reporting in the future.
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Any failure to develop or maintain effective internal control over financial reporting could severely inhibit our ability to accurately report our financial condition
or results of operations. Accordingly, there could continue to be a possibility that a material misstatement of our financial statements would not be prevented or
detected on a timely basis.
If we are unable to conclude that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, or if our independent registered public accounting firm
determines we have a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting, we could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of
our financial reports, the market price of our common stock could decline, we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by Nasdaq, the SEC or other
regulatory authorities and our access to the capital markets could be restricted in the future.
A significant portion of our total outstanding common stock may be sold into the market in the near future. This could cause the market price of our
common stock to drop significantly, even if our business is doing well.
Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could occur at any time. If our stockholders sell, or the market perceives
that our stockholders intend to sell, substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market, the market price of our common stock could decline
significantly. All of our outstanding shares of common stock are eligible for sale in the public market, other than shares held by directors, executive officers and
other affiliates that are subject to volume and other limitations under Rule 144 under the Securities Act. In addition, we have reserved shares for future issuance
under our equity incentive plan.
Certain holders of our common stock, or their transferees, also have rights, subject to some conditions, to require us to file one or more registration
statements covering their shares or to include their shares in registration statements that we may file for ourselves or other stockholders. If we were to register
the resale of these shares, they could be freely sold in the public market without limitation. If these additional shares are sold, or if it is perceived that they will
be sold, in the public market, the trading price of our common stock could decline.
Future sales and issuances of our capital stock or rights to purchase capital stock could result in additional dilution of the percentage ownership of our
stockholders and could cause our stock price to decline.
We may issue additional securities in the future and from time to time. Future sales and issuances of our capital stock or rights to purchase our capital
stock could result in substantial dilution to our existing stockholders. We may sell or issue common stock, convertible securities and other equity securities in
one or more transactions at prices and in a manner as we may determine from time to time, including in connection with future acquisitions or strategic
transactions. If we sell any such securities in subsequent transactions, investors may be materially diluted.
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish unfavorable or inaccurate research about our business, our common stock price and
trading volume could decline.
Our stock price and trading volume will be heavily influenced by the way analysts and investors interpret our financial information and other disclosures.
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, delay publishing reports about our business or publish negative reports
about our business, regardless of accuracy, or cease covering us, our common stock price and trading volume could decline.
Even if our common stock is actively covered by analysts, we do not have any control over the analysts or the measures that analysts or investors may
rely upon to forecast our future results. Over-reliance by analysts or investors on any particular metric to forecast our future results may result in forecasts that
differ significantly from our own. Regardless of accuracy, unfavorable interpretations of our financial information and other public disclosures could have a
negative impact on our stock price. If our financial performance fails to meet analyst estimates, for any of the reasons discussed above or otherwise, or one or
more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our common stock or change their opinion of our common stock, our stock price would likely decline.
We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future and, as a result, your ability to achieve a return on your investment will depend on appreciation
in the price of our common stock.
We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock, and we do not intend to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any
determination to pay dividends in the future will be at the discretion of our board of directors and may be restricted by the terms of any outstanding debt
obligations. Accordingly, investors must rely on sales of their common stock after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any
future gains on their investments.

53

We incur increased costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management will be required to devote substantial time to compliance with
our public company responsibilities and corporate governance practices.
As a public company, we incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company. We expect such expenses to
further increase now that we are no longer an emerging growth company. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Protection Act, the listing requirements of Nasdaq, and other applicable securities rules and regulations impose various requirements on public companies.
Furthermore, the senior members of our management team do not have significant experience with operating a public company. As a result, our management and
other personnel will have to devote a substantial amount of time to compliance with these requirements. Moreover, these rules and regulations will increase our
legal and financial compliance costs and will make some activities more time-consuming and costly. We cannot predict or estimate the amount of additional
costs we will incur as a public company or the timing of such costs. If, notwithstanding our efforts, we fail to comply with new laws, regulations and standards,
regulatory authorities may initiate legal proceedings against us and our business may be harmed.
Failure to comply with these rules might also make it more difficult for us to obtain certain types of insurance, including director and officer liability
insurance, and we might be forced to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain the same or similar coverage. The
impact of these events could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our board of directors, on committees of our
board of directors or as members of senior management.
Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents, under Delaware law and under the indenture governing our 2025 Notes could make an acquisition of
our company more difficult, limit attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management and limit the market price of our common
stock.
Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws may have the effect of delaying or preventing a
change of control or changes in our management. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws include provisions
that:
•

provide for a classified board of directors whose members serve staggered terms;

•

authorize our board of directors to issue, without further action by the stockholders, shares of undesignated preferred stock with terms, rights, and
preferences determined by our board of directors that may be senior to our common stock;

•

require that any action to be taken by our stockholders be affected at a duly called annual or special meeting and not by written consent;

•

specify that special meetings of our stockholders can be called only by our board of directors, the chairperson of our board of directors, or our chief
executive officer;

•

establish an advance notice procedure for stockholder proposals to be brought before an annual meeting, including proposed nominations of persons for
election to our board of directors;

•

prohibit cumulative voting in the election of directors;

•

provide that our directors may be removed for cause only upon the vote of the holders of at least 66 2⁄3% of our outstanding shares of common stock;

•

provide that vacancies on our board of directors may be filled only by a majority of directors then in office, even though less than a quorum; and

•

require the approval of our board of directors or the holders of at least 66 2/3% of our outstanding shares of common stock to amend our bylaws and
certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation.

These provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult for
stockholders to replace members of our board of directors, which is responsible for appointing the members of our management. In addition, because we are
incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which generally, subject to certain
exceptions, prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in any of a broad range of business combinations with any “interested” stockholder for a
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period of three years following the date on which the stockholder became an “interested” stockholder. Furthermore, the indenture governing our 2025 Notes
requires us to repurchase such notes for cash if we undergo certain fundamental changes and, in certain circumstances, to increase the conversion rate for a
holder of our 2025 Notes. A takeover of us may trigger the requirement that we purchase our 2025 Notes and/or increase the conversion rate, which could make
it more costly for a potential acquiror to engage in a business combination transaction with us. Any delay or prevention of a change of control transaction or
changes in our management could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or, under certain circumstances, the
federal district courts of the United States of America will be the exclusive forums for certain types of actions and proceedings that may be initiated by our
stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers, employees or
agents.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (or, if the Court of Chancery of the
State of Delaware lacks subject matter jurisdiction, any state court located within the State of Delaware or, if all such state courts lack subject matter jurisdiction,
the federal district court for the District of Delaware) is the sole and exclusive forum for the following types of actions or proceedings under Delaware statutory
or common law for:
•

any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf;

•

any action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty;

•

any action arising pursuant to the Delaware General Corporation Law, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, or our amended and
restated bylaws; and

•

any action asserting a claim against us that is governed by the internal-affairs doctrine.

These provisions would not apply to suits brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or any claim for which the federal district
courts of the United States of America have exclusive jurisdiction. Furthermore, Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and
state courts over all such Securities Act actions. Accordingly, both state and federal courts have jurisdiction to entertain such claims.
Our stockholders cannot waive compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. Any person or entity purchasing or
otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of our capital stock will be deemed to have notice of, and consented to, the provisions of our amended and restated
certificate of incorporation described in the preceding sentences.
To prevent having to litigate claims in multiple jurisdictions and the threat of inconsistent or contrary rulings by different courts, among other
considerations, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation further provides that the federal district courts of the United States will be the exclusive
forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act. While the Delaware courts have determined that such choice of
forum provisions are facially valid, a stockholder may nevertheless seek to bring a claim in a venue other than those designated in the exclusive forum
provisions. In such instance, we would expect to vigorously assert the validity and enforceability of the exclusive forum provisions of our amended and restated
certificate of incorporation. This may require significant additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions and there can be no
assurance that the provisions will be enforced by a court in those other jurisdictions.
These exclusive forum provisions may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our
directors, officers, or other employees, which may discourage lawsuits against us and our directors, officers and other employees. If a court were to find either
exclusive-forum provision in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur further
significant additional costs associated with resolving the dispute in other jurisdictions, all of which could harm our business.
Risks Related to Our Outstanding Notes
Servicing our debt requires a significant amount of cash, and we may not have sufficient cash flow from our business to pay our substantial debt.
Our ability to make scheduled payments of the principal of, to pay interest on or to refinance our indebtedness, including the 2025 Notes, depends on our
future performance, which is subject to economic, financial, competitive and other factors beyond our control. Our business may not continue to generate cash
flow from operations in the future sufficient to service our
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debt and make necessary capital expenditures. If we are unable to generate such cash flow, we may be required to adopt one or more alternatives, such as selling
assets, restructuring debt or obtaining additional equity capital on terms that may be onerous or highly dilutive. Our ability to refinance our indebtedness will
depend on the capital markets and our financial condition at such time. We may not be able to engage in any of these activities or engage in these activities on
desirable terms, which could result in a default on our debt obligations.
Regulatory actions and other events may adversely impact the trading price and liquidity of the 2025 Notes.
We expect that many investors in, and potential purchasers of, the 2025 Notes will employ, or seek to employ, a convertible arbitrage strategy with respect
to the notes. Investors would typically implement such a strategy by selling short the common stock underlying the 2025 Notes and dynamically adjusting their
short position while continuing to hold the notes. Investors may also implement this type of strategy by entering into swaps on our common stock in lieu of or in
addition to short selling the common stock.
The SEC and other regulatory and self-regulatory authorities have implemented various rules and taken certain actions, and may in the future adopt
additional rules and take other actions, that may impact those engaging in short selling activity involving equity securities (including our common stock). Such
rules and actions include Rule 201 of SEC Regulation SHO, the adoption by the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. and the national securities
exchanges of a “Limit Up-Limit Down” program, the imposition of market-wide circuit breakers that halt trading of securities for certain periods following
specific market declines, and the implementation of certain regulatory reforms required by the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of
2010. Any governmental or regulatory action that restricts the ability of investors in, or potential purchasers of, the notes to effect short sales of our common
stock, borrow our common stock or enter into swaps on our common stock could adversely impact the trading price and the liquidity of our 2025 Notes.
We may not have the ability to raise the funds necessary to settle conversions of the 2025 Notes in cash or to repurchase the notes upon a fundamental
change, and our future debt may contain limitations on our ability to pay cash upon conversion or repurchase of the 2025 Notes.
Subject to limited exceptions, holders of the 2025 Notes will have the right to require us to repurchase all or a portion of their 2025 Notes upon the
occurrence of a fundamental change at a fundamental change repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2025 Notes to be repurchased, plus
accrued and unpaid interest, if any, as described under Note 12 to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
In addition, upon conversion of the 2025 Notes, unless we elect to deliver solely shares of our common stock to settle such conversion (other than paying cash in
lieu of delivering any fractional share), we will be required to make cash payments in respect of the 2025 Notes being converted as described under Note 12 to
our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. However, we may not have enough available cash or be able to
obtain financing at the time we are required to make repurchases of 2025 Notes surrendered therefor or 2025 Notes being converted. In addition, our ability to
repurchase the 2025 Notes or to pay cash upon conversions of the 2025 Notes may be limited by law, by regulatory authority or by agreements governing our
existing or future indebtedness. Our failure to repurchase 2025 Notes at a time when the repurchase is required by the indenture or to pay any cash payable on
future conversions of the 2025 Notes as required by the indenture would constitute a default under the indenture governing the 2025 Notes. A default under the
indenture or the fundamental change itself could also lead to a default under agreements governing our existing or future indebtedness. If the repayment of the
related indebtedness were to be accelerated after any applicable notice or grace periods, we may not have sufficient funds to repay the indebtedness and
repurchase the 2025 Notes or make cash payments upon conversions thereof.
The conditional conversion feature of the 2025 Notes, if triggered, may adversely impact our financial condition and operating results.
In the event the conditional conversion feature of the 2025 Notes is triggered, holders of 2025 Notes will be entitled to convert the 2025 Notes at any time
during specified periods at their option. If one or more holders elect to convert their 2025 Notes, unless we elect to satisfy our conversion obligation by
delivering solely shares of our common stock (other than paying cash in lieu of delivering any fractional share), we would be required to settle a portion or all of
our conversion obligation through the payment of cash, which could adversely impact our liquidity. In addition, even if holders do not elect to convert their 2025
Notes, we could be required under applicable accounting rules to reclassify all or a portion of the outstanding principal of the 2025 Notes as a current rather than
long-term liability, which would result in a significant reduction of our net working capital.
Risks Related to Our Acquisition of Iora
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We may be unable to successfully integrate Iora's business and realize the anticipated benefits of the merger.
We will be required to devote significant management attention and resources to integrating our and Iora's business practices and operations to effectively
realize synergies as a combined company, including opportunities to maintain members as they become Medicare eligible, sign up incremental members, reduce
combined costs, and reduce combined capital expenditures compared to both companies’ standalone plans. Potential difficulties the combined company may
encounter in the integration process include the following:
•

the inability to successfully combine our and Iora's businesses in a manner that permits the combined company to realize the growth, operations and
cost synergies anticipated to result from the merger, which would result in the anticipated benefits of the merger, including projected financial targets,
not being realized in the time frames currently anticipated, previously disclosed or at all;

•

lost patients or members, or a reduction in the increase in patients or members as a result of certain enterprise clients, patients, members or partners of
either of the two companies deciding to terminate or reduce their business with the combined company or not to engage in business in the first place;

•

a reduction in the combined company’s ability to recruit or maintain providers;

•

an inability of the combined company to maintain its health network partnerships or payer contracts on substantially the same terms;

•

the complexities associated with managing the larger combined businesses and integrating personnel from the two companies, while at the same time
attempting to (i) provide consistent, high quality services under a unified culture and (ii) focus on other ongoing transactions;

•

the additional complexities of combining two companies with different histories, regulatory restrictions, operating structures and markets;

•

the failure to retain key employees of either of the two companies;

•

compliance by us with additional regulatory regimes and with the rules and regulations of additional regulatory entities, including the Centers for
Medicare and Medicaid Services, which we refer to as CMS;

•

potential unknown liabilities and unforeseen increased expenses, delays or regulatory conditions associated with the merger; and

•

performance shortfalls at one or both of the two companies as a result of the diversion of management’s attention caused by completing the merger and
integrating the companies’ operations.

For all these reasons, you should be aware that it is possible that the integration process could result in the distraction of the combined company’s
management, the disruption of the combined company’s ongoing business or inconsistencies in the combined company’s services, standards, controls,
procedures and policies, any of which could adversely affect the ability of the combined company to maintain relationships with enterprise clients, patients,
members, vendors, partners, employees or providers or to achieve the anticipated benefits of the merger, or could otherwise adversely affect the business and
financial results of the combined company.
We expect to continue to incur substantial expenses related to the integration of Iora.
We have incurred and expect to continue to incur substantial expenses in connection with integrating Iora's business, operations, networks, systems,
technologies, policies and procedures of Iora with our business, operation, networks, systems, technologies, policies and procedures.
While we have assumed that a certain level of integration expenses would be incurred, there are a number of factors beyond our control that could affect
the total amount or the timing of our integration expenses. Many of the expenses that were and will be incurred, by their nature, are difficult to estimate
accurately at the present time. In addition, the combined company may need significant additional capital in the form of equity or debt financing to implement or
expand its business plan and there can be no assurance that such capital will be available to the combined company on terms acceptable to it, or at all. If the
combined company issues additional capital stock in the future in connection with financing activities, stockholders will
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experience dilution of their ownership interests and the per share value of the combined company’s common stock may decline. Due to these factors, the
transaction and integration expenses could be greater or could be incurred over a longer period of time than we currently expect.
We and Iora have been and may continue to be targets of securities class action and derivative lawsuits which could result in substantial costs and have an
adverse effect on our financial condition.
Securities class action lawsuits and derivative lawsuits are often brought against public companies and particularly those that have entered into merger
agreements, and several shareholders have filed lawsuits related to the One Medical and Iora merger. We believe these lawsuits are without merit; however,
defending against these lawsuits, or any that may be brought in the future, could result in substantial costs and divert management time and resources. An
adverse judgment could result in monetary damages, which could have a negative impact on our liquidity and financial condition. Additionally, if a plaintiff is
successful in obtaining injunctive relief, it may adversely affect our business, financial position and results of operations.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.
Item 2. Properties.
Our headquarters are located in San Francisco, California and consist of approximately 60,874 square feet of leased space. Our lease on this space
expires on July 31, 2029. As of December 31, 2021, we also leased approximately 862,008 square feet of clinical space for our subsidiaries and affiliated
professional entities pursuant to our ASAs. We believe that our headquarters and other offices are adequate for our immediate needs and that additional or
substitute space is available if needed to accommodate growth and expansion.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
We are currently involved in, and may in the future become involved in, legal proceedings, claims and investigations in the ordinary course of our
business, including medical malpractice and consumer claims. Although the results of these legal proceedings, claims and investigations cannot be predicted
with certainty, we do not believe that the final outcome of any matters that we are currently involved in are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition or results of operations. Regardless of final outcomes, however, any such proceedings, claims, and investigations may
nonetheless impose a significant burden on management and employees and be costly to defend, with unfavorable preliminary or interim rulings.
Please see Note 17, "Commitments and Contingencies" to our consolidated financial statements in Part IV, Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K
for a discussion of our legal proceedings.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable.
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PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
Market Information
Our common stock has been listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol "ONEM" since January 31, 2020. Prior to that, there was no
public trading market for our common stock.
Holders of Record
As of the close of business on February 14, 2022, there were approximately 147 stockholders of record of our common stock. The actual number of
stockholders is greater than this number of record holders, and includes stockholders who are beneficial owners, but whose shares are held in street name by
brokers and other nominees. This number of holders of record also does not include stockholders whose shares may be held in trust by other entities.
Dividend Policy
We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock and do not intend to declare or pay any cash dividends on our capital stock in the
foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings to support operations and to finance the growth and development of
our business. Any future determination to pay dividends will be made at the discretion of our board of directors, subject to applicable laws, and will depend
upon, among other factors, our results of operations, financial condition, contractual restrictions and capital requirements. Our future ability to pay cash
dividends on our capital stock may be limited by the terms of any future debt or preferred securities.
Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans
The information required by this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K by reference.
Stock Performance Graph
The following graph compares the 23-month total stockholder return on our common stock with the comparable cumulative returns of the Standard &
Poor's 500 Stock Index ("S&P 500") and the S&P Health Care Index ("S&P Health Care"). This graph assumes that on January 31, 2020, the initial trading day
of our common stock on Nasdaq, $100 was invested in our common stock and in each of the other two indices and assumes the reinvestment of any dividends.
However, no dividends have been declared on our common stock to date. The stock price performance on the following graph represents past performance and is
not necessarily indicative of possible future stock price performance.
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(1) $100 invested on January 31, 2020 in shares and in indices
The information above shall not be deemed "soliciting material" or to be "filed" for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, or otherwise subject to the liabilities under that section, and shall not be incorporated by reference into any of our other filings under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, regardless of any general incorporation language in those filings.
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
None.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
None.
Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities
On January 30, 2020, our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-235792) relating to the initial public offering of our common stock was
declared effective by the SEC. Pursuant to such registration statement, we issued and sold an aggregate of 20,125,000 shares of our common stock at a price of
$14.00 per share for aggregate cash proceeds of
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approximately $258.2 million, net of underwriting discounts and commissions and offering costs, which includes the full exercise by the underwriters of their
option to purchase additional shares of common stock. No payments for offering expenses were made directly or indirectly to (i) any of our officers or directors
or their associates, (ii) any persons owning 10% or more of any class of our equity securities or (iii) any of our affiliates. J.P. Morgan Securities LLC and
Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC acted as joint-bookrunning managers for the offering.
There has been no material change in the expected use of the net proceeds from our initial public offering, as described in our final prospectus filed with
the SEC on February 3, 2020 pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
Item 6. Reserved
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
The following Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations should be read together with our consolidated
financial statements and accompanying notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report. This discussion includes both historical information and forwardlooking statements based upon current expectations that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. We have omitted discussion of 2019 results where it would
be redundant to the discussion previously included in Part II, Item 7 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020. Our results of
operations include the results of operations of Iora for the period from the close of our acquisition on September 1, 2021 through December 31, 2021. Our
actual results may differ materially from management’s expectations and those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors,
including, but not limited to, our ability to timely and successfully achieve the anticipated benefits and potential synergies of our acquisition of Iora Health, Inc.
and the continuing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and societal and governmental responses as well as those discussed in “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Overview
Our mission is to transform health care for all through our human-centered, technology-powered model. Our vision is to delight millions of members with
better health and better care while reducing the total cost of care. We are a membership-based primary care platform with seamless digital health and inviting inoffice care, convenient to where people work, shop, live and click. We are disrupting health care from within the existing ecosystem by simultaneously
addressing the frustrations and unmet needs of key stakeholders, which include consumers, employers, providers, and health networks.
We have developed a modernized healthcare membership model based on direct consumer enrollment and third-party sponsorship across commercially
insured and Medicare populations. Our membership model includes seamless access to 24/7 digital health services paired with inviting in-office care routinely
covered by most health care payers. Our technology drives high monthly active usage within our membership, promoting ongoing and longitudinal patient
relationships for better health outcomes and high member retention. Our technology also helps our service-minded team in building trust and rapport with our
members by facilitating proactive digital health outreach as well as responsive on-demand virtual and in-office care. Our digital health services and our wellappointed offices, which tend to be located in highly convenient locations, are staffed by a team of clinicians who are not paid on a fee-for-service basis, and
therefore free of misaligned compensation incentives prevalent in health care. Additionally, we have developed clinically and digitally integrated partnerships
with health networks, better coordinating more timely access to specialty care when needed by members. Together, this approach allows us to engage in valuebased care across all age groups, including through At-Risk arrangements with Medicare Advantage payers and CMS, in which One Medical is responsible for
managing a range of healthcare services and associated costs of our members.
Our focus on simultaneously addressing the unfulfilled needs and frustrations of key stakeholders has allowed us to consistently grow the number of
members we serve. From December 31, 2016 through December 31, 2021, inclusive of our acquisition of Iora, we grew our membership by 307%. During the
twelve months ended December 31, 2021 as compared to the twelve months ended December 31, 2016, inclusive of our acquisition of Iora, our net revenue
grew 342%, our digital interactions grew 422%, and the number of in-office visits grew 183%. As of December 31, 2021, we have grown to approximately
736,000 total members including 703,000 Consumer and Enterprise members and 33,000 At-Risk members, 182 medical offices in 25 markets, and have greater
than 8,500 enterprise clients across the United States.
Impact of COVID-19 on Our Business
The COVID-19 pandemic has impacted and may continue to impact our operations, and net revenues, expenses, collectability of accounts receivables and
other money owed, capital expenditures, liquidity, and overall financial condition.
During the first half of 2020, we believe the COVID-19 pandemic negatively impacted our business, as many of the communities we serve promoted selfisolation practices, and as shelter-in-place requirements were enacted. These measures and practices reduced in-office visits, and also resulted in temporary
closures of certain offices and delays in openings of some of our new medical offices which negatively affected our net revenue. Correspondingly, our cost of
care as a percentage of net revenue and loss from operations also increased.
Beginning in the second half of 2020, we believe the COVID-19 pandemic helped drive an increase in membership, an increase in total revenue due to
new and expanded service offerings, and an increase in our aggregate billable services. COVID-19 has also resulted in an increase in our medical claims
expenses for our At-Risk business.
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For example, we believe COVID-19 caused our value proposition to resonate with a broader audience of consumers seeking access to primary care, as
well as with a broader audience of employers focusing on safely reopening their workplaces and managing the ongoing health and well-being of employees and
their families. As a result, we experienced increased demand for our memberships beginning in the second half of 2020.
In addition, we expanded our service offering in part as a response to COVID-19 and launched several new billable services, including:
•

COVID-19 testing, and counseling across all of our markets, including in our offices and in several mobile COVID-19 testing sites;

•

COVID-19 vaccinations in select geographies;

•

Healthy Together, our COVID-19 screening and testing program for employers, schools and universities;

•

Mindset by One Medical, our behavioral health service integrated within primary care;

•

One Medical Now, an expansion of our 24/7 on-demand digital health solutions to employees of enterprise clients located in geographies where we are
not yet physically present; and,

•

Remote Visits, where our providers perform typical primary care visits with our members remotely

We believe some of the precautionary measures and challenges resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic may continue or be reinstated. Such actions or
events may present additional challenges to our business, financial condition and results of operations. As a result, we cannot assure you that our recent increase
in membership, aggregate reimbursement and revenue are indicative of future results or will be sustained, including following the COVID-19 pandemic, or that
we will not experience additional impacts associated with COVID-19, which could be significant. Additionally, it is unclear what the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic will be on future utilization, medical expense patterns, and the associated impact on our business.
The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”) was enacted on March 27, 2020. Intended to provide economic relief to those
impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, the CARES Act includes various tax and lending provisions, among others. Under the CARES Act, we received an
income grant of $1.8 million and $2.6 million from the Provider Relief Fund administered by the Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”), which we
recognized as Grant income during the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Please see Note 5, "Revenue Recognition" to our consolidated
financial statements in Part IV, Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Acquisition of Iora
On September 1, 2021, we acquired all outstanding equity and capital stock of Iora Health, Inc. ("Iora"), a human-centered, value-based primary care
group with built-for-purpose technology focused on serving the Medicare population, for an aggregate purchase consideration of approximately $1.4 billion. Iora
developed an innovative, technology-enabled, and relationship-based health care delivery model designed to provide value-based primary care and aims to
deliver superior health outcomes and lower overall health care costs primarily for the Medicare population. During 2021, we incurred approximately $39.5
million expenses related to this transaction. Our results of operations include the activity of Iora beginning from the close of our acquisition on September 1,
2021. See Note 8, "Business Combinations" to our consolidated financial statements in Part IV, Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Our Business Model
Our business is driven by growth in Consumer and Enterprise members, and At-Risk members (see also "Key Metrics and Non-GAAP Financial
Measures"). We have developed a modernized membership model based on direct consumer enrollment and third-party sponsorship. Our membership model
includes seamless access to 24/7 digital health paired with inviting in-office care routinely covered by most health care payers. Consumer and Enterprise
members join either individually as consumers by paying an annual membership fee or are sponsored by a third party. At-Risk members are members for whom
we are responsible for managing a range of healthcare services and associated costs. Digital health services are delivered via our mobile app and website,
through such modalities as video and voice encounters, chat and messaging. Our in-office care is delivered in our medical offices, and as of December 31, 2021,
we had 182 medical offices, compared to 107 medical offices as of December 31, 2020.
We derive net revenue, consisting of Medicare revenue and commercial revenue, from multiple stakeholders, including consumers, employers and health
networks such as health systems and government and private payers.
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Medicare Revenue
Medicare revenue consists of (i) Capitated Revenue and (ii) fee-for-service and other revenue that is not generated from Consumer and Enterprise
members.
We generate Capitated Revenue from At-Risk arrangements with Medicare Advantage payers and CMS. Under these At-Risk arrangements, we generally
receive capitated payments, consisting of each eligible member’s risk adjusted health care premium PMPM, for managing a range of healthcare services and
associated costs for such members. The risk adjusted health care premium PMPM is determined by payers and based on a variety of patients' factors such as age
and demographic benchmarks, and further adjusted to reflect the underlying complexity of a member’s health conditions. These fees give us revenue economics
that are contractually recurring in nature for a majority of our Medicare revenue. Capitated Revenue represents 97% of Medicare revenue and 20% of total net
revenue, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2021.
We generate fee-for-service and other revenue from fee-for-service visits for Other Patients not covered under At-Risk arrangements and from certain
payers for clinical start-up, administration, or on-going coordination of care activities associated with providing care to At-Risk members and other Medicare
patients.
Commercial Revenue
Commercial revenue consists of (i) partnership revenue (ii) net fee-for-service revenue and (iii) membership revenue.
We generate our partnership revenue from (i) our health network partners with whom we have clinically and digitally integrated, on a PMPM basis,
(ii) largely fixed price or fixed price per employee contracts with enterprise clients for medical services and (iii) COVID-19 on-site testing services for enterprise
clients, schools and universities where we typically bill such customers a fixed price per service performed. For our health network arrangements that provide
for PMPM payments, when our medical offices provide professional clinical services to covered members, we, as administrator, perform billing and collection
services on behalf of the health network, and the health network receives the fees for services provided, including those paid by members’ insurance plans. In
those circumstances, we earn and receive PMPM payments from the health network partners in lieu of per visit fees for services from member office visits. See
“Business—Our Health Network Partnerships.”
Our net fee-for-service revenue primarily consists of reimbursements received from our members' or other patients' health insurance plans or those with
billing rates based on our agreements with our health network partners for healthcare services delivered to Consumer and Enterprise members on a fee-forservice basis.
We generate our membership revenue through the annual membership fees charged to either consumer members or enterprise clients, as well as fees paid
for our One Medical Now service offering. As of December 31, 2021, our list price for new members for an annual consumer membership was $199. Our
enterprise clients typically pay a discounted fee collected in advance, based on a rate per employee per month.
Our membership fee revenue and partnership revenue are contractual and, with the exception of our COVID-19 on-site testing services, generally
recurring in nature. Membership revenue and partnership revenue as a percentage of commercial revenue was 63% and 60% for the year ended 2021 and 2020,
respectively. Membership revenue and partnership revenue as a percentage of total net revenue was 50% and 60% for the year ended 2021 and 2020,
respectively.
Key Factors Affecting Our Performance
•

Acquisition of Net New Members. Our ability to increase our membership will enable us to drive financial growth as members drive our
commercial revenue and Medicare revenue. We believe that we have significant opportunities to increase members in our existing geographies
through (i) new sales to consumers and enterprise clients, (ii) expansion of the number of enrolled members, including dependents, within our
enterprise clients, (iii) expansion of the number of At-Risk members including Medicare Advantage participants or Medicare members for which
we are at risk as a result of CMS' Direct Contracting Program, (iv) expansion of Medicare Advantage payers, with whom we contract and
(v) adding other potential services.

•

Components of Revenue. Our ability to maintain or improve pricing levels for our memberships and the pricing under our contracts with health
networks will also impact our total revenue. As of December 31, 2021, our list price for new members for an annual consumer membership was
$199. Our enterprise clients typically pay a discounted fee collected in advance, based on a rate per employee per month. In geographies where
our health network partners pay us on a PMPM basis for Consumer and Enterprise members, to the extent that the PMPM
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rate changes, our partnership revenue will change. Similarly, if the largely fixed price or number of employees covered by fixed price per
employee arrangements change or the number of COVID-19 on-site tests or vaccinations changes, our partnership revenue will also change. Our
net fee-for-service revenue is dependent on (i) our billing rates and third-party payer contracted rates through agreements with health networks,
(ii) the mix of members who are commercially insured and (iii) the nature of visits. Our net fee-for-service revenue may also change based on the
services we provide to commercially insured Other Patients as defined in "Key Metrics and Non-GAAP Financial Measures" below. Our
Medicare revenue is dependent on (i) the percentage of members in at-risk contracts, (ii) our contracted percentage of premium, (iii) our ability to
accurately document the acuity of our At-Risk members, and (iv) the services we provide to Other Patients who are Medicare participants. In the
future, we may add additional services for which we may charge in a variety of ways. To the extent the net amounts we charge our members,
patients, partners, payers and clients change, our net revenue will also change.
•

Medical Claims Expense. The nature of our contracting with Medicare Advantage payers and CMS requires us to be financially responsible for a
range of healthcare services of our At-Risk members. Our care model focuses on leveraging the primary care setting as a means of reducing
unnecessary or avoidable health care costs and balancing the cost of care with the impact of our service on medical claims expense. We are liable
for potentially large medical claims should we not effectively manage our At-Risk members’ health. We call the ratio between medical claims
expense divided by Capitated Revenue the "Medical Claims Expense Ratio". As we sign up new At-Risk members, our Medical Claims Expense
Ratio is likely to increase initially due to a potential increase in medical claims expense from a lag in improvement in health outcomes with
member tenure. Similarly, there may be a lag in adequately documenting the health status of our members, resulting in different Capitated
Revenue compared to what is indicated by the health status of an At-Risk member. We believe that the Medical Claims Expense Ratio for a given
set of At-Risk members can improve over time as we help improve their health outcomes relative to their underlying health conditions.

•

Cost of Care, Exclusive of Depreciation and Amortization. Cost of care primarily includes our provider and support employee-related costs for
both virtual and in-office care, occupancy costs, medical supplies, insurance and other operating costs. Providers include doctors of medicine,
doctors of osteopathy, nurse practitioners, physician assistants, and behavioral health specialists. Support employees include registered nurses,
phlebotomists, health coaches, and administrative assistants assisting our members with all non-medical related services. Virtual care includes
video visits and other synchronous and asynchronous communication via our app and website. A large portion of these costs are relatively fixed
regardless of member utilization of our services. Our care model focuses on leveraging the primary care setting as a means of reducing
unnecessary or avoidable health care costs and balancing the cost of care with the impact of increased service levels on medical claims expense.
An increase in cost of care may help us in reducing total health care costs for our members. For Consumer and Enterprise members, this reduction
in total health care costs typically accrues to the benefit of our enterprise clients or our members' health insurance plans through lower claims
costs, or our members through lower deductibles, making our membership more competitive. For our At-Risk members, reductions in total health
care costs typically accrue directly to us, to our health network partners such as Medicare Advantage payers and CMS, or to our At-Risk
members, making our membership more competitive. As a result, we seek to balance the cost of care based on a variety of considerations. For
example, cost of care as a percentage of net revenue may decrease if our net revenue increases. Similarly, our cost of care as a percentage of net
revenue may increase if we decide to increase our investments in our providers or support employees to try to reduce our medical claims expense.
As we open new offices, and expand into new geographies, we expect cost of care to increase. Our cost of care, exclusive of depreciation and
amortization, also excludes stock-based compensation.

•

Care Margin. Care Margin is driven by net revenue, medical claims expense, and cost of care. We believe we can (i) improve revenue over time
by signing up more members and increasing the revenue per member, (ii) reduce Medical Claims Expense Ratio over time from primary care
engagement and population health management, improving member health and satisfaction, while reducing the need for avoidable and costly care,
and (iii) reduce cost of care as a percentage of revenue by better leveraging our fixed cost base and technology.

•

Investments in Growth. We expect to continue to focus on long-term growth through investments in sales and marketing, technology research and
development, and existing and new medical offices. We are working to enhance our digital health and technology offering and increase the
potential breadth of our modernized platform solution. In particular, we plan to launch new offices and enter new geographies. As we expand to
new geographies, we expect to make significant upfront investments in sales and marketing to establish brand awareness and acquire new
members. Additionally, we intend to continue to invest in new offices in new and existing geographies. As we invest in new geographies, in the
short term, we expect these activities to increase our operating expenses and cost of care; however, in the long term we anticipate that these
investments will positively impact our results of operations.
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•

Seasonality. Seasonality affects our business in a variety of ways. In the near term, we expect these typical seasonal trends to fluctuate due to the
COVID-19 pandemic.
Medicare Revenue: We recognize Capitated Revenue from At-Risk members ratably over their period of enrollment. We typically experience the
largest portion of our At-Risk member growth in the first quarter, as the Medicare Advantage enrollment from the prior Medicare Annual
Enrollment Period (“AEP”) becomes effective January 1. Throughout the remainder of year, we can continue to enroll new At-Risk members
predominantly through (i) new Medicare Advantage enrollees joining us outside AEP, (ii) through expanding the Medicare Advantage plans we
are participating in, and (iii) adding additional geographies where we participate in At-Risk arrangements.
Commercial Revenue: Our partnership and membership revenue are predominantly driven by the number of Consumer and Enterprise members,
and recognized ratably over the period of each contract. While Consumer and Enterprise members have the opportunity to buy memberships
throughout the year, we typically experience the largest portion of our Consumer and Enterprise member growth in the first and fourth quarter of
each year, when enterprise customers tend to make and implement decisions on their employee benefits. Our net fee-for-service revenue is
typically highest during the first and fourth quarter of each year, when we generally experience the highest levels of reimbursable visits.
Medical Claims Expense: Medical claims expense is driven by our At-Risk members and varies seasonally depending on a number of factors,
including the weather and the number of business days in a quarter. Typically, we experience higher utilization levels during the first and fourth
quarter of the year.

Key Metrics and Non-GAAP Financial Measures
We review a number of operating and financial metrics, including members, Medical Claims Expense Ratio, Care Margin and Adjusted EBITDA, to
evaluate our business, measure our performance, identify trends affecting our business, formulate our business plan and make strategic decisions. These key
metrics are presented for supplemental informational purposes only and should not be considered a substitute for financial information presented in accordance
with GAAP. Care Margin and Adjusted EBITDA are not financial measures of, nor do they imply, profitability. We have not yet achieved profitability and, even
in periods when our net revenue exceeds our cost of care, exclusive of depreciation and amortization, we may not be able to achieve or maintain profitability.
The relationship of operating loss to cost of care, exclusive of depreciation and amortization is also not necessarily indicative of future performance.
Other companies may not publish similar metrics, or may present similarly titled key metrics that are calculated differently. As a result, similarly titled
measures presented by other companies may not be directly comparable to ours and these key metrics should be considered in addition to, not as a substitute for,
or in isolation from, measures prepared in accordance with GAAP, such as net loss. We provide investors and other users of our financial information with a
reconciliation of Care Margin and Adjusted EBITDA to their most closely comparable GAAP financial measure. We encourage investors and others to review
our financial information in its entirety, not to rely on any single financial measure and to view Care Margin and Adjusted EBITDA in conjunction with loss
from operations and net loss, respectively.
Year Ended December 31,
2021

2020

2019

(in thousands except for members)

Members (as of the end of the period)
Consumer and Enterprise
At-Risk
Total

703,000
33,000
736,000

549,000
—
549,000

422,000
—
422,000

Net revenue

$

623,315

$

380,223

$

276,258

Care margin

$

188,133

$

145,264

$

108,640

Adjusted EBITDA

$

(34,858) $

(13,890) $

(24,968)

Members
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Members include both Consumer and Enterprise members as well as At-Risk members as defined below. Our number of members depends, in part, on our
ability to successfully market our services directly to consumers including Medicare-eligible as well as non-Medicare eligible individuals, to Medicare
Advantage health plans and Medicare Advantage enrollees, to employers that are not yet enterprise clients, as well as our activation rate within existing
enterprise clients. We define estimated activation rate for any enterprise client at a given time as the percentage of eligible lives enrolled as members. While
growth in the number of members is an important indicator of expected revenue growth, it also informs our management of the areas of our business that will
require further investment to support expected future member growth. Member numbers as of the end of each period are rounded to the thousands.
Consumer and Enterprise Members
A Consumer and Enterprise member is a person who has registered with us and has paid for membership for a period of at least one year or whose
membership has been sponsored by an enterprise or other third party under an agreement having a term of at least one year. Consumer and Enterprise members
do not include trial memberships, our virtual only One Medical Now users, or any temporary users. Our number of Consumer and Enterprise members depends,
in part, on our ability to successfully market our services directly to consumers and to employers that are not yet enterprise clients and our activation rate within
existing clients. Consumer and Enterprise members may include individuals who are: (i) Medicare-eligible and (ii) have paid for a membership or whose
membership has been sponsored by an enterprise or other third party. Consumer and Enterprise members do not include any At-Risk members as defined below.
Consumer and Enterprise members help drive commercial revenue. As of December 31, 2021, we had 703,000 Consumer and Enterprise members.
At-Risk Members
An At-Risk member is a person for whom we are responsible for managing a range of healthcare services and associated costs. At-Risk members help
drive Medicare revenue. As of December 31, 2021, we had 33,000 At-Risk members.
Members (in thousands)*

*

Number of members is shown as of the end of each period.

Other Patients
An “Other Patient” is a person who is neither a Consumer and Enterprise member nor an At-Risk member, and who has received digital or in-person care
from us over the last twelve months. As of December 31, 2021, we had 21,000 Other Patients.
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Medical Claims Expense Ratio
We define Medical Claims Expense Ratio as medical claims expense divided by Capitated Revenue. The nature of our contracting with Medicare
Advantage payers and CMS requires us to be financially responsible for a range of healthcare services of our At-Risk members. Our care model focuses on
leveraging the primary care setting as a means of reducing unnecessary or avoidable health care costs and balancing our cost of care with the impact of our
service levels on medical claims expense. We are liable for potentially large medical claims should we not effectively manage our At-Risk members’ health. We
therefore consider the Medical Claims Expense Ratio to be an important measure to monitor our performance. As we sign up new At-Risk members or open new
offices to serve these members, our Medical Claims Expense Ratio is likely to increase initially due to a potential increase in medical claims expense from a lag
in improvement in health outcomes with member tenure. Similarly, there may be a lag in adequately documenting the health status of our members, resulting in
different Capitated Revenue compared to what is indicated by the health status of an At-Risk member. We believe that the Medical Claims Expense Ratio for a
given set of At-Risk members can improve over time as we help improve their health outcomes relative to their underlying health conditions.
The following table provides a calculation of the Medical Claims Expense Ratio for the year ended December 31, 2021:
Year Ended December 31,
2021
(in thousands)

Medical claims expense
Capitated Revenue
Medical Claims Expense Ratio

$
$

116,543
126,609
92 %

Medical Claims Expense Ratio Cohort Trends: 2017 to 2021
The following graph presents the historical Medical Claims Expense Ratio trended by Medicare Advantage At-Risk members by sign-up year. We believe
the 2017 to 2021 cohorts are a fair representation of our overall patient population because they include patients across geographies and demographics.

(1) At-Risk members are included in our members count beginning from the acquisition date of September 1, 2021.
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The following graph presents our Medicare Advantage At-Risk members by sign-up year. We believe the 2017 to 2021 cohorts are a fair representation of
our overall patient population because they include patients across geographies and demographics.

(1) At-Risk members are included in our members count beginning from the acquisition date of September 1, 2021.
Care Margin
We define Care Margin as income or loss from operations excluding depreciation and amortization, general and administrative expense and sales and
marketing expense. We consider Care Margin to be an important measure to monitor our performance, specific to the direct costs of delivering care. We believe
this margin is useful to both us and investors to measure whether we are effectively pricing our services and managing the health care and associated costs,
including medical claims expense and cost of care, of our At-Risk members successfully.
The following table provides a reconciliation of loss from operations, the most closely comparable GAAP financial measure, to Care Margin:
Year Ended December 31,
2020
(in thousands)

2021

Loss from operations
Sales and marketing*
General and administrative*
Depreciation and amortization

$

Care margin

$

30 %

Care margin as a percentage of net revenue
*

(243,484)
61,994
323,127
46,496
188,133

$

$

(71,359)
36,967
157,282
22,374
145,264
38 %

2019

$

$

(54,113)
39,520
108,965
14,268
108,640
39 %

Includes stock-based compensation

Adjusted EBITDA
We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income or loss excluding interest income, interest and other expense, depreciation and amortization, stock-based
compensation, change in the fair value of our redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant
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liability, provision for (benefit from) income taxes, certain legal or advisory costs, and acquisition and integration costs that we do not consider to be expenses
incurred in the normal operation of the business. Such legal or advisory costs may include but are not limited to expenses with respect to evaluating potential
business combinations, legal investigations, or settlements. Acquisition and integration costs include expenses incurred in connection with the closing and
integration of acquisitions, which may vary significantly and are unique to each acquisition. We started to exclude prospectively from our presentation certain
legal or advisory costs from the first quarter of 2021 and acquisition and integration costs from the second quarter of 2021, because amounts incurred in the prior
periods were insignificant relative to our consolidated operations. We include Adjusted EBITDA in this Annual Report because it is an important measure upon
which our management assesses and believes investors should assess our operating performance. We consider Adjusted EBITDA to be an important measure to
both management and investors because it helps illustrate underlying trends in our business and our historical operating performance on a more consistent basis.
Adjusted EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool, including:
•

although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized may have to be replaced in the future,
and Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect cash used for capital expenditures for such replacements or for new capital expenditures;

•

Adjusted EBITDA does not include the dilution that results from stock-based compensation or any cash outflows included in stock-based
compensation, including from our purchases of shares of outstanding common stock; and

•

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect interest expense on our debt or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments.

The following table provides a reconciliation of net loss, the most closely comparable GAAP financial measure, to Adjusted EBITDA, calculated as set
forth above:

2021

Net loss
Interest income
Interest and other expense
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation
Change in fair value of redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes
Legal or advisory costs (1) (2)
Acquisition and integration costs

$

Adjusted EBITDA

$

(1)
(2)

Year Ended December 31,
2020
(in thousands)

(254,641) $
(798)
13,757
46,496
112,298
—
(1,802)
16,514
33,318
(34,858) $

(89,421) $
(1,809)
13,434
22,374
35,095
6,560
(123)
—
—
(13,890) $

2019

(53,695)
(4,498)
474
14,268
14,877
3,519
87
—
—
(24,968)

Approximately $5.6 million of the legal or advisory costs relate to a legal settlement during the year ended December 31, 2021. See Note 17
"Commitments and Contingencies".
Amount excludes approximately $1.2 million of legal or advisory costs incurred during the year ended December 31, 2020. We began excluding
certain legal or advisory costs from Adjusted EBITDA starting from the first quarter of 2021.

Components of Our Results of Operations
Net Revenue
We generate net revenue through Medicare revenue and commercial revenue. We generate Medicare revenue from Capitated Revenue, and fee-for-service
and other revenue. We generate commercial revenue from partnership revenue, net fee-for-service revenue, and membership revenue.
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Capitated Revenue. We generate Capitated Revenue from At-Risk arrangements with payers including Medicare Advantage plans and CMS. Under these
At-Risk arrangements, we receive capitated payments, consisting of each eligible member’s risk adjusted health care premium per month ("PMPM"), for
managing a range of healthcare services and associated costs for such members. The risk adjusted health care premium per month is determined by payers and
based on a variety of a patient's factors such as age and demographic benchmarks, and further adjusted to reflect the underlying complexity of a member’s health
conditions. Capitated Revenue is recognized in the month in which eligible members are entitled to receive healthcare benefits during the contract term. We
expect our Capitated Revenue to increase as a percentage of total net revenue in future periods.
Fee-For-Service and Other Revenue. We generate fee-for-service and other revenue from fee-for-service visits for Other Patients not covered under AtRisk arrangements and from certain payers for clinical start-up, administration, on-going coordination of care activities associated with providing care to AtRisk members and other Medicare patients.
Partnership Revenue. We generate partnership revenue from (i) our health network partners on a PMPM basis, (ii) largely fixed price or fixed price per
employee contracts with enterprise clients for medical services and (iii) COVID-19 on-site testing services for enterprise clients, schools and universities for
which we typically bill such customers a fixed price per service performed. Under our partnership arrangements, we generally receive fees that are linked to
PMPM, fixed price, fixed price per employee, fixed price per service, or capitation arrangements. All partnership revenue is recognized during the period in
which we are obligated to provide professional clinical services to the member, employee, or participant, as applicable, and associated management, operational
and administrative services to the health network partner, enterprise client, schools and universities.
Net fee-for-service revenue. We generate net fee-for-service revenue from providing primary care services to patients in our offices when we bill the
member or their insurance plan on a fee-for-service basis as medical services are rendered. While significantly all of our patients are members, we occasionally
also provide care to non-members.
Membership Revenue. We generate membership revenue from the annual membership fees charged to either consumer members or enterprise clients, who
purchase access to memberships for their employees and dependents. Membership revenue also includes fees we receive from enterprise clients for trial
memberships or for access to our One Medical Now service offering. Membership revenue is recognized ratably over the contract period with the individual
member or enterprise client.
Grant Income. Under the CARES Act, we were eligible for and received grant income from the Provider Relief Fund administered by HHS during the
years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. The purpose of the payment is to reimburse us for healthcare-related expenses or lost revenues attributable to
COVID-19.
The following table summarizes the Company's net revenue by primary source as a percentage of net revenue. Amounts may not sum due to rounding.
Year Ended December 31,
2020

2021

Net revenue:
Capitated revenue
Fee-for-service and other revenue
Total Medicare revenue
Partnership revenue
Net fee-for-service revenue
Membership revenue
Grant income
Total commercial revenue
Total net revenue

20 %
1%
21 %
36 %
29 %
14 %
—%
79 %
100 %

Operating Expenses

72

—%
—%
—%
42 %
39 %
18 %
1%
100 %
100 %

2019

—%
—%
—%
29 %
53 %
19 %
—%
100 %
100 %

Medical Claims Expense
Medical claims expenses primarily consist of certain third-party medical expenses paid by payers contractually on behalf of us, including costs for
inpatient and outpatient services, certain pharmacy benefits and physician services but excludes cost of care, exclusive of depreciation and amortization. We
expect our medical claims expense to increase in absolute dollars as our Capitated Revenue increases in future periods.
Cost of Care, Exclusive of Depreciation and Amortization
Cost of care primarily includes provider and support employee-related costs for both virtual and in-office care, occupancy costs, medical supplies,
insurance and other operating costs. Providers include doctors of medicine, doctors of osteopathy, nurse practitioners, physician assistants, and behavioral health
specialists. Support employees include registered nurses, phlebotomists, health coaches, and administrative assistants assisting our members with all nonmedical related services. Virtual care includes video visits and other synchronous and asynchronous communication via our app and website. A large portion of
these costs are relatively fixed regardless of member utilization of our services. As we open new offices, and expand into new geographies, we expect cost of
care to increase. Our cost of care, exclusive of depreciation and amortization, also excludes stock-based compensation.
Sales and Marketing
Sales and marketing expenses consist of employee-related expenses, including salaries and related costs, commissions and stock-based compensation
costs for our employees engaged in marketing, sales, account management and sales support. Sales and marketing expenses also include advertising production
and delivery costs of communications materials that are produced to generate greater awareness and engagement among our clients and members, third-party
independent research, trade shows and brand messages and public relations costs.
We expect our sales and marketing expenses to increase as we strategically invest to expand our business. We expect to hire additional sales personnel and
related account management and sales support personnel to capture an increasing amount of our market opportunity. We also expect to continue our brand
awareness and targeted marketing campaigns. As we scale our sales and marketing, we expect these expenses to increase in absolute dollars.
General and Administrative
General and administrative expenses include employee-related expenses, including salaries and related costs and stock-based compensation for all
employees except sales and marketing teams, which are included in the sales and marketing expenses. In addition, general and administrative expenses include
corporate technology, occupancy costs, legal and professional services expenses.
We expect our general and administrative expenses to increase over time due to the additional costs associated with continuing to grow our business.
Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation and amortization consist primarily of depreciation of property and equipment and amortization of capitalized software development costs.
Other Income (Expense)
Interest Income
Interest income consists of income earned on our cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and marketable securities.
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Interest and Other Expense
Interest and other expense consists of interest costs associated with our notes payable issued pursuant to the loan and security agreement with an
institutional lender (the “LSA”) and our convertible senior notes (the “2025 Notes”). On September 1, 2020, the term loans pursuant to the LSA matured and the
remaining outstanding principal was repaid, plus accrued and unpaid interests. Interest and other expense also consists of remeasurement adjustment related to
our indemnification asset. Upon the close of the Iora acquisition, as part of the Merger Agreement, certain shares of our common stock were placed into a thirdparty escrow account to satisfy any then pending and unsatisfied or unresolved claim for indemnification for any indemnifiable loss incurred by us pursuant to
the indemnity provisions of the Merger Agreement. The indemnification asset is subject to remeasurement at each reporting date until the shares are released
from escrow, with the remeasurement adjustment reported as interest and other expense in our consolidated statement of operations.
Change in Fair Value of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock Warrant Liability
Prior to our initial public offering in January 2020, we classified our redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants as a liability in our consolidated
balance sheets. We remeasured the redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability to fair value at each reporting date and recognized changes in the fair
value of the redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability as a component of other income (expense), net in our consolidated statements of operations.
Upon the closing of our initial public offering, the warrants to purchase shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock became exercisable for shares of
common stock, at which time we adjusted the redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability to fair value prior to reclassifying the redeemable
convertible preferred stock warrant liability to additional paid-in capital. As a result, following the closing of our initial public offering, the warrants are no
longer subject to fair value accounting.
Provision for (Benefit from) Income Taxes
We account for income taxes using an asset and liability approach. Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Valuation allowances are provided
when necessary to reduce net deferred tax assets to an amount that is more likely than not to be realized.
In determining whether a valuation allowance for deferred tax assets is necessary, we analyze both positive and negative evidence related to the
realization of deferred tax assets and inherent in that, assess the likelihood of sufficient future taxable income. We also consider the expected reversal of deferred
tax liabilities and analyze the period in which these would be expected to reverse to determine whether the taxable temporary difference amounts serve as an
adequate source of future taxable income to support the realizability of the deferred tax assets.
Net Loss Attributable to Noncontrolling Interest
In September 2014, we entered into a joint venture agreement with a healthcare system to jointly operate physician-owned primary care offices in a
market. We had the responsibility for the provision of medical services and for the day-to-day operation and management of the offices, including the
establishment of guidelines for the employment and compensation of the physicians. Based upon this and other provisions of the operating agreement that
indicated that we directed the economic activities that most significantly affect the economic performance of the joint venture, we determined that the joint
venture was a variable interest entity and we were the primary beneficiary. Accordingly, we consolidated the joint venture and the healthcare system’s interest
was shown within equity (deficit) as noncontrolling interest. The healthcare system’s share of earnings was recorded in the consolidated statements of operations
as net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest.
Effective April 1, 2020, we terminated the joint venture agreement with the healthcare system and transferred our ownership interest in the joint venture
to the healthcare system. As a result, we determined that the joint venture no longer met the definition of a variable interest entity and accordingly, we
determined that the joint venture was no longer required to be consolidated under the variable interest entity model. The joint venture was deconsolidated in the
consolidated financial statements as of April 1, 2020 and we derecognized all assets and liabilities of the joint venture. We did not record a gain or loss in
association with the deconsolidation as we did not retain any noncontrolling interest in the joint venture and no consideration was transferred as a result of the
ownership interest transfer to the healthcare system.
The consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2020 includes the operations of the joint venture through the date of
deconsolidation. The consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020
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and the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2021 do not include the operations of the joint venture.
Results of Operations
The following tables set forth our results of operations for the periods presented and as a percentage of our net revenue for those periods. Percentages
presented in the following tables may not sum due to rounding.
Year Ended December 31,
2021
Amount

Net revenue:
Medicare revenue
Commercial revenue
Total net revenue
Operating expenses:
Medical claims expense
Cost of care, exclusive of depreciation and amortization shown separately
below
Sales and marketing (1)
General and administrative (1)
Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other income (expense), net:
Interest income
Interest and other expense
Change in fair value of redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability
Total other income (expense), net
Loss before income taxes
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes
Net loss
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest

$

Net loss attributable to 1Life Healthcare, Inc. stockholders
(1)

$

2020
% of
Revenue
Amount
(dollar amounts in thousands)

129,979
493,336
623,315

21 % $
79 %
100 %

% of
Revenue

—
380,223
380,223

—%
100 %
100 %

116,543

19 %

—

—%

318,639
61,994
323,127
46,496
866,799
(243,484)

51 %
10 %
52 %
7%
139 %
(39)%

234,959
36,967
157,282
22,374
451,582
(71,359)

62 %
10 %
41 %
6%
119 %
(19)%

798
(13,757)
—
(12,959)
(256,443)
(1,802)
(254,641)
—
(254,641)

—%
(2)%
—%
(2)%
(41)%
—%
(41)%
—%
(41)% $

1,809
(13,434)
(6,560)
(18,185)
(89,544)
(123)
(89,421)
(704)
(88,717)

—%
(4)%
(2)%
(5)%
(24)%
—%
(24)%
—%
(23)%

Includes stock-based compensation, as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2021
Amount

Sales and marketing
General and administrative

$
$

Total
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4,136
108,162
112,298

2020
% of
Revenue
Amount
(dollar amounts in thousands)

1% $
17 %
18 % $

2,385
32,710
35,095

% of
Revenue

1%
9%
9%

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
Net Revenue
Year Ended December 31,
2020
Change
(dollar amounts in thousands)

2021

Net revenue:
Capitated revenue
Fee-for-service and other revenue
Total Medicare revenue
Partnership revenue
Net fee-for-service revenue
Membership revenue
Grant income
Total commercial revenue
Total net revenue

$

$

126,609
3,370
129,979
224,051
181,811
85,711
1,763
493,336
623,315

$

$

—
—
—
159,482
149,695
68,466
2,580
380,223
380,223

$

$

126,609
3,370
129,979
64,569
32,116
17,245
(817)
113,113
243,092

% Change

nm
nm
nm
40 %
21 %
25 %
(32)%
30 %
64 %

nm - not meaningful
Medicare revenue increased $130.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the same period in 2020. The increase was due to
revenue contribution from our acquisition of Iora on September 1, 2021.
Commercial revenue increased $113.1 million, or 30%, for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the same period in 2020. The increase was
primarily due to an increase in Consumer and Enterprise members by 154,000, or 28%, from 549,000 as of December 31, 2020 to 703,000 as of December 31,
2021.
Partnership revenue increased $64.6 million, or 40%, for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the same period in 2020. The increase was
primarily a result of the new and expanded partnerships with health networks and increased members, in addition to an increase in the COVID-19 on-site testing
services for employers, schools and universities during the year ended December 31, 2021.
Net fee-for-service revenue increased $32.1 million, or 21%, for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the same period in 2020. The increase
was primarily due to an increase in aggregate billable services driven by an increase in billable in-office and remote visits, partially offset by a decrease in
COVID-19 testing visits for the year ended December 31, 2021.
Membership revenue increased $17.2 million, or 25%, for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the same period in 2020. The increase was
primarily due to an increase in Consumer and Enterprise members by 154,000, or 28%, from 549,000 as of December 31, 2020 to 703,000 as of December 31,
2021.
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Operating Expenses
Medical claims expense
Year Ended December 31,
2021

Medical claims expense

$

2020
$ Change
(dollar amounts in thousands)

116,543

$

—

$

%
Change

116,543

nm

Medical claims expense increased $116.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the same period in 2020. The increases were due to
medical claims expenses from our acquisition of Iora on September 1, 2021.
Cost of Care, Exclusive of Depreciation and Amortization
Year Ended
December 31,
2021

Cost of care, exclusive of depreciation and
amortization

$

2020
Change
(dollar amounts in thousands)

318,639

$

234,959

$

83,680

% Change

36 %

The $83.7 million, or 36%, increase in cost of care, exclusive of depreciation and amortization, for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the
same period in 2020 was primarily due to increases in provider employee and support employee-related expenses of $48.3 million, occupancy costs of $16.8
million, COVID-19 testing site and related security expenses of $7.5 million and medical supply costs of $7.3 million. In addition to growth in our existing
offices, we added 75 offices during the year, bringing our total number of offices to 182 as of December 31, 2021. The cost of care in 2021 included cost of care
from Iora from September 1, 2021 through the year end.
Cost of care, exclusive of depreciation and amortization, as a percentage of net revenue decreased from 62% for the year ended December 31, 2020 to
51% for the year ended December 31, 2021. This decrease was due to the impact of the Iora acquisition on September 1, 2021.
Sales and Marketing
Year Ended
December 31,
2021

Sales and marketing

$

61,994

2020
Change
(dollar amounts in thousands)

$

36,967

$

25,027

% Change

68 %

Sales and marketing expenses increased $25.0 million, or 68%, for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the same period in 2020. This
increase was primarily due to a $16.9 million increase in advertising expenses and a $7.6 million increase in employee-related expenses. The sales and
marketing expenses in 2021 included sales and marketing expenses from our acquired Iora business from September 1, 2021 through December 31, 2021.
General and Administrative
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Year Ended
December 31,
2021

General and administrative

$

2020
Change
(dollar amounts in thousands)

323,127

$

157,282

$

165,845

% Change

105 %

The $165.8 million, or 105%, increase in general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the same period in
2020 was primarily due to higher employee-related expenses by $97.3 million, $75.5 million of which was related to stock-based compensation expense and the
remainder of which was related to salaries and benefits as we expanded our team to support our growth. In addition, legal and professional services expenses
increased by $54.9 million, $5.6 million of which relates to expenses incurred in connection with the legal settlement during the year ended December 31, 2021.
See Note 17 "Commitments and Contingencies" in Part IV, Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The remainder of the increase in legal and professional
services expenses primarily relates to expenses incurred in connection with the Iora acquisition. The general and administrative expenses in 2021 included
general and administrative expenses from Iora from September 1, 2021 through December 31, 2021.

Depreciation and Amortization
Year Ended
December 31,
2021

Depreciation and amortization

$

2020
Change
(dollar amounts in thousands)

46,496

$

22,374

$

24,122

% Change

108 %

Depreciation and amortization expenses increased $24.1 million, or 108%, for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the same period in 2020.
This was primarily due to depreciation and amortization expenses recognized related to new medical offices, capitalization of software development, upgraded
office software, and the Iora acquisition during the year ended December 31, 2021.
Other Income (Expense)
Interest Income
Year Ended
December 31,
2021

Interest income

$

2020
Change
(dollar amounts in thousands)

798

$

1,809

$

(1,011)

% Change

(56)%

Interest income decreased $1.0 million, or 56%, for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the same period in 2020. The decrease was due to
higher amortization of premiums from marketable securities, partially offset by higher interest rates and investment yields, as well as interest income from the
note receivable issued in connection with the Iora acquisition prior to September 1, 2021.
Interest and Other Expense
Year Ended
December 31,
2021

Interest and other expense

$

(13,757) $

2020
Change
(dollar amounts in thousands)

(13,434) $

(323)

% Change

2%

Interest and other expense increased $0.3 million, or 2% for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the same period in 2020. The increase was
primarily due to the payment of cash interest, amortization of the issuance costs on our 2025 Notes, and an unrealized loss recorded for the indemnification asset
recognized as a result of the Iora acquisition, mostly offset
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by elimination of debt discount amortization on our 2025 Notes issued in the second quarter of 2020 as a result of the adoption of ASU 2020-06 on January 1,
2021.
Change in Fair Value of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock Warrant Liability
Year Ended
December 31,
2021

Change in fair value of redeemable convertible
preferred stock warrant liability

$

2020
Change
(dollar amounts in thousands)

—

$

(6,560) $

% Change

6,560

nm

nm - not meaningful
The change in fair value of the redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability decreased $6.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2021
compared to the same period in 2020. Upon the closing of our initial public offering in the first quarter of 2020, the warrants to purchase shares of redeemable
convertible preferred stock were automatically converted to warrants to purchase shares of common stock, at which time we adjusted the redeemable convertible
preferred stock warrant liability to fair value prior to reclassifying the redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability to additional paid-in capital. As a
result, following the closing of the initial public offering in the first quarter of 2020, the warrants are no longer subject to fair value accounting.
Provision for (Benefit from) Income Taxes
Year Ended
December 31,
2021

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes

$

2020
Change
(dollar amounts in thousands)

(1,802) $

(123) $

% Change

(1,679)

nm

nm - not meaningful
The provision for (benefit from) income taxes increased $1.7 million from a benefit of $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 to a benefit of
$1.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. This was primarily due to impact of amortization on book basis identified intangibles, establishing a
valuation allowance and state tax law changes.
Net Loss Attributable to Noncontrolling Interest
Year Ended
December 31,
2021

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest

$

2020
Change
(dollar amounts in thousands)

—

$

(704) $

% Change

704

nm

nm - not meaningful
The $0.7 million decrease in net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the same period in 2020
was due to the deconsolidation of the joint venture as of April 1, 2020.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Since our inception, we have financed our operations primarily with the issuance of the 2025 Notes, our initial public offering, the sale of redeemable
convertible preferred stock, and to a lesser extent, the issuance of term notes under credit
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facilities. As of December 31, 2021, we had cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities of $501.9 million, compared to $683.0 million as of December 31,
2020. We believe that our existing cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities will be sufficient to meet our working capital and capital expenditure needs
for at least the next twelve months. We believe we will meet longer-term expected future cash requirements and obligations through a combination of available
cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities, cash flows from operating activities, and access to private and public financing sources. We expect capital
expenditures to increase in future periods to support growth initiatives in existing and new markets.
On September 1, 2021, we completed the acquisition of Iora, a human-centered, value-based primary care group with built-for-purpose technology
focused on serving the Medicare population, for an aggregate purchase consideration of $1.4 billion, which was paid in part through the issuance of shares of our
common stock with a fair value of $1.3 billion, in part by cash of $62.9 million, and in part by stock options of Iora assumed by 1Life towards pre-combination
services of $48.6 million. During the year ended December 31, 2021, we incurred costs related to this acquisition of $39.5 million.
We may be required to seek additional equity or debt financing. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including our pace of new
member growth and expanded enterprise client and health network relationships, our pace and timing of expansion of new medical offices in existing and new
markets, the timing and extent of spend to support the expansion of sales, marketing and development activities, acquisitions and related costs, and the impact of
the COVID-19 pandemic. In the event that additional financing is required from outside sources, we may not be able to raise it on terms acceptable to us or at
all. If we are unable to raise additional capital when desired, our business, financial condition and results of operations would be harmed. See Part I - Item 1A. to
this Annual Report "Risk Factors-Risks Related to Our Business and Our Industry — In order to support the growth of our business, we may need to incur
additional indebtedness or seek capital through new equity or debt financings, which sources of additional capital may not be available to us on acceptable terms
or at all.”
In addition, given the uncertainty around the duration and extent of the COVID-19 pandemic, we cannot accurately predict at this time the future potential
impact of the pandemic on our business, results of operations, financial condition or liquidity.
The Company's material cash requirements include the following contractual and other obligations:
Debt
In May 2020, we issued $275.0 million aggregate principal amount of 3.0% convertible senior notes due June 2025 in a private offering and in June 2020,
an additional $41.2 million aggregate principal amount of such notes pursuant to the exercise in full of the over-allotment option by the initial purchasers. The
2025 Notes are unsecured obligations and bear interest at a fixed rate of 3.0% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on June 15 and December 15 of each
year, commencing on December 15, 2020. As of December 31, 2021, the principal amount of debt outstanding from the 2025 Notes was $316.3 million. Total
interest expense associated with the convertible senior notes is $33.2 million, of which $9.5 million is due within 12 months.
Leases
We have operating lease arrangements for medical offices and our headquarter office facilities. As of December 31, 2021, we had fixed lease payment
obligations of $408.1 million, with $51.3 million payable within 12 months.
Other Purchase Obligations
Our other purchase obligations primarily consist of non-cancelable purchase obligations related to professional and technology services and noncancelable purchase obligations to acquire capital assets. We did not have material non-cancellable purchase obligations as of December 31, 2021.
Summary Statement of Cash Flows
The following table summarizes our cash flows:
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Year Ended
December 31,
2021

Net cash used in operating activities
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities

$

Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

$

2020

(88,566) $
291,804
27,811
231,049 $

(4,378)
(514,474)
604,528
85,676

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
For the year ended December 31, 2021, our net cash used in operating activities was $88.6 million, resulting from our net loss of $254.6 million and net
cash used by our working capital of $15.7 million, partially offset by adjustments for non-cash charges of $181.7 million. Cash used by our working capital
consisted primarily of a $19.0 million increase in prepaid expenses and other current assets, a $20.9 million decrease in operating lease liabilities, and a $16.5
million increase in accounts receivables, net, partially offset by an increase of $20.3 million in other liabilities, an increase of $14.3 million in accrued expenses
and accounts payable, an increase of $3.4 million in deferred revenue, and a decrease of $2.8 million in inventory and other assets. The increase in prepaid
expenses and other current assets is primarily due to $8.9 million prepaid income taxes and a $6.0 million receivable from insurers related to a legal settlement
recovery as described in Note 17 "Commitments and Contingencies" to our consolidated financial statements. The increase in other liabilities is primarily due to
an indemnification liability of $13.0 million recognized as part of the Iora acquisition as described in Note 8 "Business Combinations", and a legal settlement
liability of $11.5 million as described in Note 17 "Commitments and Contingencies". The changes in accounts receivable and deferred revenue are primarily due
to timing of billing and cash collections from our health network partners and enterprise clients. The net increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses is
primarily related to timing of payments for accrued compensation and accrued interest on our 2025 Notes.
For the year ended December 31, 2020, our net cash used in operating activities was $4.4 million, resulting from our net loss of $89.4 million and net
cash used by our working capital needs of $3.1 million, largely offset by adjustments for non-cash charges of $82.0 million. The cash decrease resulting from
changes in our working capital in 2020 consisted primarily of a $35.2 million increase in accounts receivables, net, a $12.2 million decrease in operating lease
liabilities and a $4.9 million increase in inventories and other assets, partially offset by an increase of $27.1 million in accrued expenses and accounts payable,
an increase of $16.6 million in deferred revenue, a decrease of $6.5 million in prepaid expenses and other current assets and an increase of $5.1 million in other
liabilities. The increase in accounts receivable, net and deferred revenue is primarily due to growth of our partnership with health networks and growth of our
enterprise and on-site clients. The net increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses is primarily related to timing of payments for accrued compensation
and accrued interest on our 2025 Notes.
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
For the year ended December 31, 2021, our net cash provided by investing activities was $291.8 million, resulting primarily from sales and maturities of
marketable securities of $624.0 million, partially offset by purchases of marketable securities of $215.3 million, acquisition of business and issuance of note
receivable of $53.3 million and purchases of property and equipment of $63.6 million related to leasehold improvements, computer equipment, and furniture and
fixtures for new offices, remodels and improvements to existing offices, capitalization of internal-use software development costs, and office hardware and
software.
For the year ended December 31, 2020, our net cash used by investing activities was $514.5 million, resulting primarily from purchases of marketable
securities of $963.3 million and purchases of property and equipment, net of $63.7 million related to leasehold improvements, computer equipment, and
furniture and fixtures for new offices, remodels and improvements to existing offices, capitalization of internal-use software development costs, and office
hardware and software. This was partially offset by sales and maturities of marketable securities of $513.3 million.
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
For the year ended December 31, 2021, our net cash provided by financing activities was $27.8 million, resulting primarily from exercise of stock
options of $22.8 million and proceeds from employee stock purchase plan of $5.1 million.
For the year ended December 31, 2020, our net cash provided by financing activities was $604.5 million, resulting primarily from proceeds from the
issuance of our 2025 Notes of $316.3 million, our initial public offering of $281.8 million,
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exercises of stock options and warrants of $35.8 million, proceeds from the issuance of stock under our employee stock purchase plan of $4.8 million, offset by
payment of the 2025 Notes issuance costs of $9.4 million, payment of offering costs associated with our initial public offering net against reimbursements for
our secondary offering of $20.5 million and payment of a debt obligation of $3.3 million.
Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates
Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements
requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses, and related disclosures. We base our
estimates on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. We evaluate our estimates and
assumptions on an ongoing basis. Actual results may differ from these estimates. To the extent that there are material differences between these estimates and
our actual results, our future financial statements will be affected.
While our significant accounting policies are described in greater detail in Note 2, "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies," to our consolidated
financial statements included in this Annual Report, we believe that the following accounting policies are those most critical to the judgments and estimates used
in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.
Business Combinations
Accounting for business combinations requires us to allocate the fair value of purchase considerations to the tangible assets acquired, liabilities assumed,
and intangible assets acquired based on their estimated fair values, which were determined primarily using the income method. The excess of the fair value of
purchase consideration over the fair values of these identified assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Such valuations require us to make significant
estimates and assumptions, especially at the acquisition date with respect to intangible assets. Significant estimates in valuing certain intangible assets include,
but are not limited to, revenue growth rates, medical claims expense, cost of care expenses, operating expenses, trademark royalty rate, contributory asset
charges, discount rate, contract terms and useful life from acquired payer contracts with Medicare Advantage plans and CMS.
Our estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable and, as a result,
actual results may differ from estimates. Allocation of purchase consideration to identifiable assets and liabilities affects our amortization expense, as acquired
finite-lived intangible assets are amortized over the useful life, whereas any indefinite lived intangible assets, including goodwill, are not amortized. During the
measurement period, which is not to exceed one year from the acquisition date, we may record adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with
the corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon the conclusion of the measurement period, any subsequent adjustments are recorded to earnings.
Revenue Recognition
We recognize revenue from contracts with customers using the five-step method described in Note 2 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
We generate net revenue through Medicare revenue and commercial revenue. We generate Medicare revenue primarily from Capitated At-Risk
arrangements with Medicare Advantage payers and CMS. We generate commercial revenue from partnership revenue, net fee-for-service revenue and
membership revenue. We recognize partnership revenue from contracts with health systems to provide professional clinical services and the associated
management and administrative services. Our contracts with health systems contain multiple performance obligations require an allocation of the transaction
price to each performance obligation based on their relative standalone selling price. We determine standalone selling price, or SSP, for all our performance
obligations using observable inputs, such as standalone sales and historical contract pricing. SSP is consistent with our overall pricing objectives, taking into
consideration the type of services. SSP also reflects the amount we would charge for that performance obligation if it were sold separately in a standalone sale,
and the price we would sell to similar customers in similar circumstances.
We review the contract terms and conditions to evaluate the timing and amount of revenue recognition; the related contract balances; and our remaining
performance obligations. For our contracts with health systems, we estimate the variable consideration related to customer rebates or discounts based on our
assessment of historical, current, and forecasted performance. These evaluations require significant judgment that could affect the timing and amount of revenue
recognized.
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The transaction price for our capitated At-Risk arrangements with payers including Medicare Advantage payers and CMS is variable as it primarily
includes PMPM fees for our At-Risk members. PMPM fees can fluctuate throughout the contract based on the health status (acuity) of each individual member.
In certain contracts, PMPM fees also include “risk adjustments” for items such as risk shares. The adjustment to the PMPM fees must be estimated due to
reporting lag times, and requires significant judgment. These are estimated using the expected value methodology based on historical data and actuarial inputs.
Final adjustments related to the contracts may take up to 18 months due to reserves for claims incurred but not reported. The Capitated Revenue, net of risk
shares and adjustments, is recognized in the month in which eligible members are entitled to receive healthcare benefits during the contract term. Subsequent
changes in PMPM fees and the amount of revenue to be recognized are reflected through subsequent period adjustments to properly recognize the ultimate
capitation amount.
For our capitated revenue arrangements, we concluded that we are the principal, and report revenues on a gross basis. In this assessment, we consider if
we obtain control of the specified services before they are transferred to our customers, as well as other indicators such as the party primarily responsible for
fulfillment.
Medical Claims Expense
Medical claims expenses are costs for third-party health care service providers that provide medical care to our At-Risk members for which we are
contractually obligated to pay through our At-Risk arrangements. The IBNR claims liability is recorded at the contract level and consist of the Company’s
Capitated Revenue attributed from enrolled At-Risk members less actual paid medical claims expense. If the Capitated Revenue exceeds the actual medical
claims expense at the end of the reporting period, such surplus is recorded as capitated accounts receivable within accounts receivable, net in the consolidated
balance sheets. If the actual medical claims expense exceeds the Capitated Revenue, such deficit is recorded as capitated accounts payable within other current
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. Actual claims expense will differ from the estimated liability due to factors in estimated and actual member
utilization of healthcare services, the amount of charges and other factors. We assess our estimates with an independent actuarial expert to ensure our estimates
represent the best, most reasonable estimate given the data available to us at the time the estimates are made. The actuarial models consider significant
assumptions such as completion factors and per member per month claim trends, as well as other factors such as health care professional contract rate changes,
membership volume and demographics, the introduction of new technologies and benefit plan changes.
Stock-Based Compensation
We measure stock-based awards granted to employees and directors based on their fair value on the date of the grant and recognize compensation
expense for those awards over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period of the respective award.
For stock option awards issued with market-based vesting conditions, the grant date fair value is determined based on multiple stock price paths
developed through the use of a Monte Carlo simulation that incorporates into the valuation the possibility that the market condition may not be satisfied. A
Monte Carlo simulation requires the use of various assumptions, including the underlying stock price, volatility and the risk-free interest rate as of the valuation
date, corresponding to the length of the time remaining in the performance period, and expected dividend yield. The expected term represents the derived service
period for the respective tranches, which is the longer of the explicit service period or the period in which the market conditions are expected to be met. Stockbased compensation expense associated with market-based awards is recognized over the derived requisite service using the accelerated attribution method,
regardless of whether the market conditions are achieved. If the related market conditions are achieved earlier than the derived service period, the stock-based
compensation expense will be recognized as a cumulative catch-up expense from the grant date to that point in time in achieving the share price goal.
We continue to use judgment in evaluating the expected volatility and expected term utilized in our stock-based compensation expense calculation on a
prospective basis. As we continue to accumulate additional data related to our common stock, we may refine our estimates of expected volatility and expected
term, which could materially impact our future stock-based compensation expense.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Please see Note 2, "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies" to our consolidated financial statements in Part IV, Item 15 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
Interest Rate Sensitivity
We had cash and cash equivalents of $342.0 million as of December 31, 2021, compared to $113.0 million as of December 31, 2020, held primarily in
cash deposits and money market funds for working capital purposes.
We had marketable securities of $160.0 million as of December 31, 2021, compared to $570.0 million as of December 31, 2020, consisting of U.S.
Treasury obligations, U.S. government agency securities, foreign government bonds and commercial paper. Our investments are made for capital preservation
purposes. We do not enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes. All our investments are denominated in U.S. dollars.
In May 2020, we issued the 2025 Notes which bear interest at a fixed rate of 3.0% per annum. As of December 31, 2020, the principal amount of debt
outstanding from the 2025 Notes was $316.3 million.
Our cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities and debt are subject to market risk due to changes in interest rates. Fixed rate securities may have
their market value negatively impacted due to a rise in interest rates, while floating rate securities may produce less income than expected if interest rates fall.
Due in part to these factors, our future investment income may fall short of expectation due to changes in interest rates or we may suffer losses in principal if we
are forced to sell securities that decline in market value due to changes in interest rates.
We do not believe that an increase or decrease in interest rates of 100 basis points would have a material effect on our business, financial condition or
results of operations.
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
All information required by this item is included in Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is incorporated into this item by reference.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, have evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report. Any
controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objective and
management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on that evaluation, our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded, as of December 31, 2021, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide
reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized
and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management,
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.
Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act).
Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer and the oversight of our audit committee, has
evaluated the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021. In assessing the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting, our management used the framework established in Internal Control Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on that evaluation, our management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting
was effective as of December 31, 2021.
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In accordance with guidance issued by the SEC, companies are permitted to exclude acquisitions from their final assessment of internal control over
financial reporting for the first fiscal year in which the acquisition occurred. Our management’s evaluation of internal control over financial reporting excluded
the internal control activities of Iora Health, Inc. ("Iora"), which we acquired on September 1, 2021. Iora's total assets of $144.0 million and total net revenue of
$130.6 million excluded from our assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021 represent 5% of the Company's consolidated
total assets as of December 31, 2021, and 21% of the Company’s consolidated net revenue for the year ended December 31, 2021, respectively.
The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which can be found Part IV Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2021 that have materially affected, or
are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Inherent Limitation on the Effectiveness of Internal Control
The effectiveness of any system of internal control over financial reporting, including ours, is subject to inherent limitations, including the exercise of
judgment in designing, implementing, operating, and evaluating the controls and procedures, and the inability to eliminate misconduct completely. Accordingly,
in designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any system of internal control over financial reporting,
including ours, no matter how well designed and operated, can only provide reasonable, not absolute assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In
addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and that management is required to apply its
judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and procedures relative to their costs. Moreover, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate. We intend to continue to monitor and upgrade our internal controls as necessary or appropriate for our business, but cannot assure
you that such improvements will be sufficient to provide us with effective internal control over financial reporting.
Item 9B. Other Information.
None.
Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.
Not applicable.
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PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.
The information required by this item will be set forth in the definitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC in connection with the Annual Meeting
of Stockholders within 120 days after December 31, 2021 (the "Proxy Statement") and is incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K by reference.
Item 11. Executive Compensation.
The information required by this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K by reference.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.
The information required by this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K by reference.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.
The information required by this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K by reference.
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.
The information required by this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K by reference.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.
(a)

The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

1.

Financial Statements:

The following financial statements and schedules of the Registrant are contained in Part II, Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K:
Page

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Financial Statements:
Consolidated Balance Sheets
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Equity (Deficit)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
2.

F-2
F-5
F-6
F-7
F-8
F-9
F-10

Financial Statement Schedules

No financial statement schedules are provided because the information called for is not required or is shown either in the financial statements or notes
thereto.
(b)

Exhibits

The exhibits listed in the following "Exhibit Index" are filed, furnished or incorporated by reference as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Number
2.1*

3.1
3.2
4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4
4.5
10.1+
10.2+
10.3+
10.4+
10.5+
10.6+
10.7+
10.8+
10.9+
10.10+
10.11+
10.12+
10.13+
10.14+
10.15
10.16
10.17
10.18¥
10.19+
10.20+
10.21+
21.1
23.1
31.1

Exhibit Description
Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated June 6, 2021, by and among 1Life
Healthcare, Inc., SB Merger Sub, Inc., Iora Health, Inc. and Fortis Advisors
LLC, solely in its capacity as the representative of the stockholders of Iora
Health, Inc.
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant
Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant
Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2
Form of Common Stock Certificate.
Description of Securities
Indenture, dated as of May 26, 2020, by and between 1Life Healthcare, Inc.
and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee.
Form of Global Note, representing 1Life Healthcare, Inc.'s 3.00% Convertible
Senior Notes due 2025 (included as Exhibit A to the Indenture filed as Exhibit
4.1)
Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreement, dated January 15, 2020, by
and among the Registrant and the investors listed on Exhibit A thereto.
2007 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended.
Forms of Option Agreement, Stock Option Grant Notice and Notice of
Exercise under the 2007 Equity Incentive Plan.
2017 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended.
Forms of Option Agreement, Stock Option Grant Notice and Notice of
Exercise under the 2017 Equity Incentive Plan.
2020 Equity Incentive Plan.
Forms of Option Agreement, Stock Option Grant Notice and Notice of
Exercise under the 2020 Equity Incentive Plan.
Forms of Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice and Restricted Stock Unit Award
Agreement under the 2020 Equity Incentive Plan.
2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.
Executive Annual Incentive Plan.
Form of Indemnification Agreement, by and between the Registrant and each
of its directors and executive officers.
Employment Agreement, dated June 27, 2017, by and between the Registrant
and Amir Dan Rubin, as amended on January 17, 2020.
Physician Employment Agreement, dated August 1, 2007, by and between
One Medical Group, Inc. (previously Apollo Medical Group) and Andrew S.
Diamond, M.D., Ph.D.
Provider Stock Option Program and Advisory Services Agreement, dated
October 28, 2014, by and between the Registrant and Andrew S. Diamond,
M.D., Ph.D.
Office Lease, dated September 25, 2018, by and between the Registrant and
One Embarcadero Center Venture.
First Amendment to Office Lease, dated June 17, 2019, by and between the
Registrant and One Embarcadero Center Venture.
Form of Administrative Services Agreement by and between the Registrant
and its affiliated professional entities.
Inbound Services Agreement, dated August 18, 2017, by and between the
Registrant and Google Inc.
1Life Healthcare, Inc. Executive Severance and Change in Control Plan.
Offer Letter, dated February 14, 2019, by and between the Registrant and
Bjorn B. Thaler.
Offer Letter, dated October 16, 2015, by and between the Registrant and Lisa
A. Mango.
List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002

Form
8-K

File No.
001-39203

Exhibit
2.1

Filing Date
6/7/20211

8-K
8-K

001-39203
001-39203

3.1
3.2

2/4/2020
2/4/2020

S-1

333-235792

4.1

1/21/2020

8-K

001-39203

4.1

5/29/2020

8-K

001-39203

4.2

5/29/2020

S-1

333- 235792

10.1

1/21/2020

S-1
S-1

333- 235792
333- 235792

10.2
10.3

1/3/2020
1/3/2020

S-1
S-1

333- 235792
333- 235792

10.4
10.5

1/21/2020
1/3/2020

S-1
S-1

333- 235792
333- 235792

10.6
10.7

1/21/2020
1/21/2020

S-1

333- 235792

10.8

1/21/2020

S-1
S-1
S-1

333- 235792
333- 235792
333- 235792

10.9
10.10
10.11

1/21/2020
1/3/2020
1/21/2020

S-1

333- 235792

10.17

1/21/2020

S-1

333- 235792

10.19

1/3/2020

S-1

333- 235792

10.20

1/3/2020

S-1

333- 235792

10.21

1/3/2020

S-1

333- 235792

10.22

1/3/2020

S-1

333- 235792

10.23

1/3/2020

S-1

333- 235792

10.25

1/3/2020

S-1
S-1

333- 235792
333- 235792

10.26
10.27

1/21/2020
1/3/2020

S-1

333- 235792

10.28

1/3/2020

Filed Herewith

X

X
X
X
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Number
31.2
32.1†
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE
104
*

Exhibit Description
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002
Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Inline XBRL Instance Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Schema Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Labels Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Document
Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained
within Exhibit 101).

Form

File No.

Exhibit

Filing Date

Filed Herewith
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X

The Schedules and exhibits have been omitted from this filing pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. A copy of any omitted schedule or exhibit will be furnished to the Securities and Exchange
Commission upon request.
The certification attached as Exhibit 32.1 that accompanies this Annual Report on Form 10-K, are deemed furnished and not filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and are not to be incorporated
by reference into any filing of 1Life Healthcare, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or after the date of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.
Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.

†
+
¥

Portions of this exhibit have been omitted as the Registrant has determined that the omitted information (i) is not material and (ii) the type of information the Registrant treats as private or confidential.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary
None.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
1LIFE HEALTHCARE, INC.
Date: February 23, 2022

By:

/s/ Amir Dan Rubin
Amir Dan Rubin
Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Amir Dan Rubin and Bjorn
Thaler, and each of them, as his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution for him or her, and in his or her name in any
and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in
connection therewith, with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and
authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully for all intents and purposes as he or
she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and either of them, his or her substitute or substitutes,
may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf
of the Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
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Signature

Title

Date

/s/ Amir Dan Rubin
Amir Dan Rubin

Chair, Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)

February 23, 2022

/s/ Bjorn Thaler
Bjorn Thaler

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

February 23, 2022

/s/ Paul R. Auvil
Paul R. Auvil

Director

February 23, 2022

/s/ Mark S. Blumenkranz
Mark S. Blumenkranz, M.D.

Director

February 23, 2022

/s/ Bruce W. Dunlevie
Bruce W. Dunlevie

Director

February 23, 2022

/s/ Kalen F. Holmes
Kalen F. Holmes, Ph.D.

Director

February 23, 2022

/s/ David P. Kennedy
David P. Kennedy

Director

February 23, 2022

/s/ Freda Lewis-Hall
Freda Lewis-Hall, M.D.

Director

February 23, 2022

/s/ Robert R. Schmidt
Robert R. Schmidt

Director

February 23, 2022

/s/ Scott C. Taylor
Scott C. Taylor

Director

February 23, 2022

/s/ Mary Ann Tocio
Mary Ann Tocio

Director

February 23, 2022
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of 1Life Healthcare, Inc.
Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of 1Life Healthcare, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2021 and
2020, and the related consolidated statements of operations, of comprehensive loss, of redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders' equity (deficit)
and of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the "consolidated
financial statements"). We also have audited the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in
Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021 in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the COSO.
Change in Accounting Principle
As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts for convertible instruments and contracts
in an entity's own equity in 2021.
Basis for Opinions
The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for
its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company's internal
control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.
Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal control
over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.
As described in Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, management has excluded Iora Health, Inc. from its assessment of
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, because it was acquired by the Company in a purchase business combination during 2021. We
have also excluded Iora Health, Inc. from our audit of internal control over financial reporting. Iora Health, Inc. is a wholly-owned subsidiary whose total assets
and total net revenue excluded from management’s assessment and our audit of internal control over financial reporting represent 5% and 21%, respectively, of
the related consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021.
Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

F-2

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Critical Audit Matters
The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were communicated
or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and
(ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on
the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the
critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.
Acquisition of Iora Health, Inc. – Valuation of Intangible Assets related to Medicare Advantage and CMS Direct Contracting Contracts
As described in Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements, on September 1, 2021, the Company acquired all outstanding equity and capital stock of Iora
Health, Inc. for an aggregate purchase consideration of $1.4 billion, which resulted in intangible assets of $298 million for Medicare Advantage contracts and
$52 million for CMS Direct Contracting contracts (“Contract Intangibles”) being recorded. As disclosed by management, management valued the acquired
Contract Intangibles using the income method. Significant estimates and assumptions used in valuing these Contract Intangibles included, revenue growth rates,
medical claims expense, cost of care expenses, operating expenses, trademark royalty rate, contributory asset charges, discount rate, contract terms, and useful
life.
The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the valuation of Contract Intangibles as a result of the acquisition of
Iora Health, Inc. is a critical audit matter are (i) a high degree of auditor judgment and subjectivity in performing procedures relating to the fair value of the
Contract Intangibles acquired due to the significant judgment by management when developing the estimates; (ii) the significant audit effort in evaluating the
significant assumptions related to revenue growth rates, medical claims expense, cost of care expenses, operating expenses, trademark royalty rate, contributory
asset charges, discount rate, contract terms, and useful life; and (iii) the audit effort involved the use of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge.
Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to the acquisition accounting, including controls over management’s
valuation of the Contract Intangibles and controls over the development of significant assumptions related to revenue growth rates, medical claims expense, cost
of care expenses, operating expenses, trademark royalty rate, contributory asset charges, discount rate, contract terms, and useful life. These procedures also
included, among others (i) reading the purchase agreement and (ii) testing management’s process for estimating the fair value of the Contract Intangibles.
Testing management’s process included evaluating the appropriateness of the income method, testing the completeness and accuracy of data provided by
management, and evaluating the reasonableness of significant assumptions related to revenue growth rate, medical claims expense, cost of care expenses,
operating expenses, trademark royalty rate, contributory asset charges, discount rate, contract terms, and useful life. Evaluating the reasonableness of the revenue
growth rate, medical claims expense, cost of care expenses, operating expenses, contract terms, and useful life assumptions involved considering (i) the past
performance of the acquired business; (ii) consistency with economic and industry forecasts, considering comparable businesses; and (iii) whether these
assumptions were consistent with evidence obtained in other areas of the audit. Professionals with specialized skill and knowledge were used to assist in the
evaluation of the Company’s income method and the trademark royalty rate, contributory asset charges, discount rate and useful life assumptions.
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Valuation of Incurred but not yet Reported (“IBNR”) Claims Liability related to Iora Health, Inc.
As described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s incurred but not yet reported (“IBNR”) claims liability was $32.2 million as of
December 31, 2021. As disclosed by management, the estimated IBNR liability is developed by management using actuarial models which consider significant
assumptions such as completion factors and per member per month claim trends. Actual claims expense will differ from the estimated liability due to factors in
estimated and actual member utilization of healthcare services, the amount of charges and other factors. Changes in this estimate can materially affect, either
favorably or unfavorably, results from operations and overall financial position. The estimated reserve for IBNR claims liability is included in accounts
receivable, net.
The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the valuation of the IBNR claims liability related to Iora Health, Inc. is
a critical audit matter are (i) the significant judgment by management when developing the estimate of IBNR claims liability related to Iora Healthcare, Inc., (ii)
a high degree of auditor judgment, subjectivity and effort in performing procedures to evaluate the actuarial models and significant assumptions related to
completion factors and per member per month claims trends; and (iii) the audit effort involved the use of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge .
Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. These procedures included, among others, the involvement of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge to assist in developing an
independent estimate of the IBNR claims liability. This independent estimate considers a range of reasonable outcomes which are compared to management’s
estimate of the IBNR claims liability. Developing the independent estimate involved developing independent completion factors and per member per month
claims estimates using management’s data, testing the completeness and accuracy of data provided by management, and evaluating the reasonableness of
management’s assumptions related to completion factors and per member per month claims trends assumptions.
/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Francisco, California
February 23, 2022
We have served as the Company's auditor since 2013.
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1LIFE HEALTHCARE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in thousands, except par value amounts)
December 31,
2021

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term marketable securities
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
Other current assets
Total current assets
Long-term marketable securities
Restricted cash
Property and equipment, net
Right-of-use assets
Intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Deferred income taxes
Other assets
Total assets

$

$

2020

341,971
111,671
103,498
6,065
28,055
21,767
613,027
48,296
3,801
193,716
256,293
352,158
1,147,464
—
12,277
2,627,032

$

18,725
72,672
47,928
31,152
31,632
202,109
269,641
309,844
73,875
29,317
13,663
898,449

$

12,654
46,527
35,966
17,418
4,861
117,426
153,614
241,233
—
7,624
2,618
522,515

193
2,346,781
(618,198)
(193)
1,728,583
2,627,032 $

134
918,118
(369,785)
8
548,475
1,070,990

$

112,975
570,023
67,895
7,113
9,169
7,524
774,699
—
1,911
126,037
138,840
—
21,301
2,656
5,546
1,070,990

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Deferred revenue, current
Operating lease liabilities, current
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Operating lease liabilities, non-current
Convertible senior notes
Deferred income taxes
Deferred revenue, non-current
Other non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 17)
Stockholders' Equity:
Common stock, $0.001 par value, 1,000,000 and 1,000,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2021 and
December 31, 2020, respectively; 191,722 and 134,472 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2021 and
December 31, 2020, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Total stockholders' equity

$

$

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1LIFE HEALTHCARE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)
Year Ended December 31,
2021

Net Revenue:
Medicare revenue
Commercial revenue
Total net revenue
Operating expenses:
Medical claims expense
Cost of care, exclusive of depreciation and amortization shown separately below
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other income (expense), net:
Interest income
Interest and other expense
Change in fair value of redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability
Total other income (expense), net
Loss before income taxes
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes
Net loss
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest
Net loss attributable to 1Life Healthcare, Inc. stockholders
Net loss per share attributable to 1Life Healthcare, Inc. stockholders - basic and diluted

$

$
$

2020

129,979
493,336
623,315

$

$

—
276,258
276,258

—
234,959
36,967
157,282
22,374
451,582
(71,359)

—
167,618
39,520
108,965
14,268
330,371
(54,113)

798
(13,757)
—
(12,959)
(256,443)
(1,802)
(254,641)
—
(254,641) $

1,809
(13,434)
(6,560)
(18,185)
(89,544)
(123)
(89,421)
(704)
(88,717) $

4,498
(474)
(3,519)
505
(53,608)
87
(53,695)
(1,141)
(52,554)

(1.64) $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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—
380,223
380,223

116,543
318,639
61,994
323,127
46,496
866,799
(243,484)

155,343

Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic and diluted

2019

(0.75) $
118,379

(2.84)
18,476

1LIFE HEALTHCARE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(Amounts in thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2021

Net loss
Other comprehensive loss:
Net unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities
Comprehensive loss
Less: Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interest
Comprehensive loss attributable to 1Life Healthcare, Inc.
stockholders

$

$

2019

(89,421) $

(53,695)

(201)
(254,842)
—

(30)
(89,451)
(704)

52
(53,643)
(1,141)

(254,842) $

(88,747) $

(52,502)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2020

(254,641) $

1LIFE HEALTHCARE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
(Amounts in thousands)

Redeemable Convertible
Preferred Stock
Shares

Balance at December 31, 2018
Impact of adoption of ASC 606
Exercise of stock options
Stock-based compensation expense
Net unrealized gain (loss) on marketable
securities
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2019
Exercise of redeemable convertible preferred
stock warrant
Conversion of redeemable convertible
preferred stock into common stock upon
closing of initial public offering
Issuance of common stock upon closing of
initial public offering, net of issuance costs
and underwriting fees of $23,631
Fair value adjustment to redeemable
convertible preferred stock warrants upon
conversion into common stock warrants
Reimbursed secondary offering issuance
costs
Exercise of stock options
Exercise of common stock warrants
Cashless exercise of common stock warrants
Issuance of common stock under the
employee stock purchase plan
Issuance of common stock for settlement of
RSUs
Shares issued related to net share settlement
Stock-based compensation expense
Net unrealized gain (loss) on marketable
securities
Equity component of convertible senior
notes, net of issuance costs of $2,242
VIE deconsolidation
Net loss
Balances at December 31, 2020
Impact of adoption of ASU 2020-06
Impact of adoption of ASC 326
Exercise of stock options
Issuance of common stock under the
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Issuance of common stock for settlement of
RSUs
Issuance of common stock in acquisition
Equity awards assumed in acquisition
Stock-based compensation expense
Net unrealized gain (loss) on marketable
securities
Net loss
Balances at December 31, 2021

Amount

86,252 $ 402,488

Common Stock
Shares

Amount

18,136 $

18

816

1

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

$

76,029

Accumulated
Deficit

$

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

(228,449) $
(65)

Total
Stockholders'
Equity (Deficit)
Attributable to
1Life Healthcare,
Inc. Stockholders

(14) $

3,039
14,877
52

86,252

402,488

5

76

(86,257)

(402,564)

18,952

19

(52,554)
(281,068)

93,945

38

—

—
402,564

20,125

20

258,099

258,119

258,119

13,740

13,740

13,740

784
35,677
73

784
35,686
73
—

784
35,686
73
—

349

4,834

4,834

4,834

40
25

(833)
833
35,095

(833)
833
35,095

(833)
833
35,095

(30)

(30)

(30)

8

9

134,472

338
52,406

134

918,118
(73,393)

6

22,778

73,393
—
(88,717)
548,475
(66,737)
(428)
22,784

5,078

5,078

5,078

1,313,259
48,643
112,298

1,313,312
48,643
112,298

—
1,313,312
48,643
112,298

(201)
(254,641)
1,728,583 $

(201)
(254,641)
1,728,583

53

(88,717)
(369,785)
6,656
(428)

(201)
—

52
(53,695)
(184,031)

(1,141)
3,035

402,564

222

$

(148,240)
(65)
3,040
14,877

402,478

4,284

—

$

86

73,393

—

52
(52,554)
(187,066)

4,176

Total Equity
(Deficit)

86,257

8,123
11
590

—

(152,416) $
(65)
3,040
14,877

Non
controlling
Interest

191,722

$

193

$ 2,346,781

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$

(254,641)
(618,198) $

(193) $

73,393
(2,331)
(89,421)
548,475
(66,737)
(428)
22,784

(2,331)
(704)
—

—

$

1LIFE HEALTHCARE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts in thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2020

2021
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Provision for bad debts
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of debt discount and issuance costs
Accretion of discounts and amortization of premiums on marketable securities, net
Change in fair value of redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability
Reduction of operating lease right-of-use assets
Stock-based compensation
Deferred income taxes
Other non-cash items
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Deferred revenue
Operating lease liabilities
Other liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment, net
Purchases of marketable securities
Proceeds from sales and maturities of marketable securities
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash and restricted cash acquired
Issuance of note receivable
VIE deconsolidation
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of convertible senior notes
Payment of convertible senior notes issuance costs
Proceeds from initial public offering
Payment of underwriting discount and commissions, and offering costs
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options
Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan
Taxes paid related to net share settlement of equity awards
Proceeds from the exercise of redeemable convertible preferred and common stock warrants
Repayment of notes payable
Payment of principal portion of finance lease liability
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period
Cash, cash equivalent and restricted cash at end of period

$

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for income taxes
Cash paid for interest
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment included in accounts payable and accrued expenses
Equity consideration provided for business acquisition
Unpaid deferred offering costs

(254,641)

$

$

(53,695)

966
46,496
1,874
1,178
—
22,062
112,298
(4,006)
864

105
22,374
7,767
(933)
6,560
13,653
35,095
(2,656)
(8)

—
14,268
84
(3,359)
3,519
10,235
14,877
—
69

(16,546)
1,118
(18,979)
1,687
3,111
11,175
3,350
(20,919)
20,346
(88,566)

(35,167)
(3,921)
6,488
(943)
298
26,849
16,566
(12,169)
5,085
(4,378)

(14,484)
659
(1,027)
(4,567)
3,929
3,476
2,119
(8,087)
310
(31,674)

(63,616)
(215,289)
623,966
(23,257)
(30,000)
—
291,804

(63,707)
(963,272)
513,315
—
—
(810)
(514,474)

(54,411)
(246,116)
324,250
—
—
—
23,723

$

—
—
—
—
22,784
5,078
—
—
—
(51)
27,811
231,049
115,005
346,054

$

316,250
(9,374)
281,750
(20,538)
35,686
4,835
(833)
110
(3,300)
(58)
604,528
85,676
29,329
115,005

$

—
—
—
—
3,040
—
—
—
(4,400)
(16)
(1,376)
(9,327)
38,656
29,329

$
$

13,177
9,495

$
$

—
5,251

$
$

—
414

$
$
$

10,707
1,361,955
—

$
$
$

4,571
—
—

$
$
$

9,093
—
1,318

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

F-9

(89,421)

2019

1LIFE HEALTHCARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

1.

Nature of the Business and Basis of Presentation

1Life Healthcare, Inc. (“1Life”) was incorporated in Delaware on July 25, 2002. 1Life’s headquarters are located in San Francisco, California. 1Life has
developed a modernized healthcare membership model based on direct consumer enrollment and third-party sponsorship across commercially insured and
Medicare populations. Our membership model includes access to 24/7 digital health services paired with in-office care routinely covered by most health care
payers, and allows the Company to engage in value-based care across all age groups, including through At-Risk arrangements as defined in Note 2 “Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies” with Medicare Advantage payers and the Center for Medicare & Medicaid Services ("CMS") , in which the Company is
responsible for managing a range of healthcare services and associated costs of its members. 1Life is also an administrative and managerial services company
that provides services pursuant to contracts with physician-owned professional corporations (“One Medical PCs”) that provide medical services virtually and inoffice.
On September 1, 2021, 1Life completed the acquisition of Iora Health, Inc. ("Iora Health"), a human-centered, value-based primary care group with builtfor-purpose technology focused on serving the Medicare population.
Iora Health and Iora Senior Health, Inc. (“Iora Senior Health”) are administrative and managerial service companies that provide services pursuant to
contracts with physician-owned professional corporations (“Iora PCs”, together with the One Medical PCs, the “PCs”) that provide medical services virtually
and in-office.
Iora Health is an administrative and managerial services company that provides services pursuant to contracts with Iora Health NE DCE, LLC, a limited
liability company that participates in the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services’ direct contracting model (the “DCE entity”). Iora Health, Iora Senior
Health, the Iora PCs and the DCE entity are collectively referred to herein as “Iora”. See Note 8, "Business Combinations" to the consolidated financial
statements.
1Life, Iora Health, Iora Senior Health, the PCs and the DCE entity are collectively referred to herein as the “Company”. 1Life and the One Medical PCs
operate under the brand name One Medical.
Certain Risks and Uncertainties
The Company has incurred losses from operations since inception. Management expects that operating losses and negative cash flows from operations
will continue in the foreseeable future; however, it currently believes that the Company's current cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities are sufficient
to fund its operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements for the next twelve months.
In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared a pandemic due to the global COVID-19 outbreak. Due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, the
global economy and financial markets have been and continue to be affected, and there is a significant amount of uncertainty about the length and severity of the
consequences caused by the pandemic. The Company has considered information available to it as of the date of issuance of these financial statements and is not
aware of any specific events or circumstances that would require an update to its estimates or judgments, or an adjustment to the carrying value of its assets or
liabilities. The accounting estimates and other matters assessed include, but were not limited to, allowance for credit losses, goodwill and other long-lived assets,
and revenue recognition. These estimates may change as new events occur and additional information becomes available. Actual results could differ materially
from these estimates.
Basis of Presentation
The Company has prepared the accompanying consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the
United States of America ("U.S. GAAP") and applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of 1Life, Iora Health and Iora Senior Health, their wholly owned subsidiaries,
and variable interest entities (“VIE”) in which 1Life, Iora Health and Iora Senior Health have an interest and are the primary beneficiaries. See Note 3, “Variable
Interest Entities”. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with U.S. GAAP and regulations of the SEC requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the
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1LIFE HEALTHCARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Estimates include, but are not limited to, revenue recognition, liability for medical claims incurred in
the period but not yet reported (“IBNR”), valuation of certain assets and liabilities acquired from business combinations, and stock-based compensation. Actual
results could differ from these estimates and may result in material effects on the Company’s operating results and financial position.
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash
The Company considers all short-term, highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase to be
cash equivalents. Cash deposits are all in financial institutions in the United States. Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on deposit, investments in money
market funds and commercial paper. Restricted cash represents cash held under letters of credit for various leases and certain At-Risk arrangements. The
expected duration of restrictions on the Company's restricted cash generally ranges from 1 to 8 years.
The reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the applicable balance sheet line items that sum to the total of the same
such amount shown in the consolidated statements of cash flows is as follows:
December 31,
2021

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash, current (included in prepaid expenses and other current assets)
Restricted cash, non-current

$

$

341,971
282
3,801
346,054

2020

$

$

112,975
119
1,911
115,005

2019

$

$

27,390
17
1,922
29,329

Marketable Securities
The Company's investments in marketable securities are classified as available-for-sale and are carried at fair value, with the unrealized gains and losses
reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in total equity (deficit). The Company determines the appropriate classification of
these investments at the time of purchase and reevaluates such designation at each balance sheet date. The Company classifies the available-for-sale investments
as either short-term or long-term based on each instrument's underlying contractual maturity date.
Realized gains and losses and declines in value determined to be other than temporary are based on the specific identification method and are included as
a component of other income (expense), net in the consolidated statements of operations.
The Company periodically evaluates its available-for-sale debt securities for unrealized losses when carrying value exceeds fair value and requires the
reversal of previously recognized credit losses if fair value increases. No material unrealized losses were recorded during the periods presented.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value are defined below:
•

Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

•

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, such as quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for
substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

•

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity that are significant to determining the fair value of the assets or
liabilities, including pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques.

The Company determines the fair value of its marketable securities based on quoted prices in active markets (Level 1 inputs) for identical assets and on
quoted prices for similar assets (Level 2 inputs), which are classified as available-for-sale. The carrying amounts of the Company's term notes approximate the
fair value based on consideration of current borrowing
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1LIFE HEALTHCARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

rates available to the Company (Level 2 inputs). The carrying values of accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities
approximate their fair values due to the short-term nature of these assets and liabilities.
Variable Interest Entities
The Company evaluates its ownership, contractual and other interests in entities to determine if it has any variable interest in a variable interest entity
("VIE"). These evaluations are complex, involve judgment, and the use of estimates and assumptions based on available historical information, among other
factors. If the Company determines that an entity in which it holds a contractual or ownership interest is a VIE and that the Company is the primary beneficiary,
the Company consolidates such entity in its consolidated financial statements. The primary beneficiary of a VIE is the party that meets both of the following
criteria: (i) has the power to make decisions that most significantly affect the economic performance of the VIE; and (ii) has the obligation to absorb losses or
the right to receive benefits that in either case could potentially be significant to the VIE. Management performs ongoing reassessments of whether changes in
the facts and circumstances regarding the Company's involvement with a VIE will cause the consolidation conclusion to change. Changes in consolidation status
are applied prospectively.
Segment Information
The Company operates and manages its business as one reportable and operating segment. The Company's chief executive officer, who is the chief
operating decision maker ("CODM"), reviews financial information on an aggregate basis for purposes of evaluating financial performance and allocating
resources. All of the Company's long-lived assets and customers are located in the United States.
Concentration of Credit Risk and Significant Customers
Financial instruments that potentially subject the company to concentration of credit risk consist of cash, cash equivalents, marketable securities and
accounts receivable. The Company's cash balances with individual banking institutions might be in excess of federally insured limits. Cash equivalents are
invested in highly rated money market funds and commercial paper. The Company's marketable securities are invested in U.S. Treasury obligations, U.S.
government agency securities, foreign government bonds and commercial paper. The Company is not exposed to any significant concentrations of credit risk
from these financial instruments. The Company has not experienced any losses on its deposits of cash, cash equivalents or marketable securities. The Company
grants unsecured credit to patients, most of whom reside in the service area of the One Medical or Iora facilities and are largely insured under third-party payer
agreements. The Company’s concentration of credit risk is limited by the diversity, geography and number of patients and payers.
The table below presents the customers or payers that individually represented 10% or more of the Company's accounts receivable, net balance as of
December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020.
December 31,
2021

Customer E
Customer F
Customer H
Customer I

2020

—%
38 %
—%
23 %

12 %
24 %
16 %
*

*Represents percentages below 10% of the Company's accounts receivable in the period.

The table below presents the customers or payers that individually exceeded 10% or more of the Company's net revenue for the years ended
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.
Year Ended December 31,
2020

2021

Customer A
Customer E
Customer F
Customer I

—%
—%
—%
13 %

* Represents percentages below 10% of the Company's net revenue in the period.
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13 %
10 %
12 %
*

2019

14 %
10 %
12 %
*

1LIFE HEALTHCARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

Accounts Receivable, net
Accounts receivable is comprised of amounts due from patients, health systems and government and private payers for healthcare services, and amounts
due from employers, schools and universities who purchase access to memberships for their employees, students and faculty and other medical services. The
Company reports accounts receivable net of estimated explicit price concessions and any allowance for credit losses.
Collection of accounts receivable is the Company’s primary source of cash and is critical to its operating performance. The Company’s primary collection
risks relate to co-payments and other amounts owed by patients and amounts owed by health systems. The Company regularly reviews the adequacy of the
allowance for credit losses based on a combination of factors, including historical losses adjusted for current market conditions, the Company’s customers’
financial condition, delinquency trends, aging behaviors of receivables and credit and liquidity indicators for industry groups, and future market and economic
conditions. Accounts receivable deemed uncollectable are charged against the allowance for credit losses when identified. Increases and decreases in the
allowance for credit losses from patients, health systems, payers and customers are included in general and administrative expense in the consolidated statements
of operations
Changes in the allowance for credit losses were as follows:
Balance at
Beginning of
Period
Allowance for credit losses
Year ended December 31, 2020
Year ended December 31, 2021

$
$

—
$
271
$

Additions (1)

Write-offs and
Deductions

271
$
1,695
$

—
$
(332)
$

Balance at
End of Period
271
1,634

(1) Amount for the year ended December 31, 2021 included an impact of the adjustment recorded for adoption of ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments –
Credit Losses (Topic 326). See "Recent Accounting Pronouncements" for details.
Capitated accounts receivable and payable related to At-Risk arrangements are recorded net in the consolidated balance sheets when a legal right of offset
exists. A right of offset exists when all of the following conditions are met: 1) each of two parties (the Company and the third-party payer) owes the other
determinable amounts; 2) the reporting party (the Company) has the right to offset the amount owed with the amount owed by the other party (the third-party
payer); 3) the reporting party (the Company) intends to offset; and 4) the right of offset is enforceable by law. All of the aforementioned conditions were met as
of December 31, 2021.
The capitated accounts receivable and payable are recorded at the contract level and consist of the Company’s Capitated Revenue attributed from enrolled
At-Risk members less actual paid medical claims expense. If the Capitated Revenue exceeds the actual medical claims expense at the end of the reporting
period, such surplus is recorded as capitated accounts receivable within accounts receivable, net in the consolidated balance sheets. If the actual medical claims
expense exceeds the Capitated Revenue, such deficit is recorded as capitated accounts payable within other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.
As of December 31, 2021, the Company has capitated accounts receivable, net, of $23,903 and capitated accounts payable, net, of $7,220, representing amounts
due from and to Medicare Advantage payers and CMS in At-Risk arrangements, respectively.
The capitated accounts receivable and payable are presented net of IBNR claims liability and other adjustments. There were no significant prior period
adjustments or changes to the assumptions used in estimating the IBNR claims liability as of December 31, 2021. The Company believes the amounts accrued to
cover IBNR claims as of December 31, 2021 are adequate.
The capitated accounts receivable and payable, net and IBNR claims liability were assumed as part of the Company's acquisition of Iora, which was
completed on September 1, 2021. As a result, comparative periods were not presented in the tables below.
Components of capitated accounts receivable, net is summarized below:
December 31,
2021

Capitated accounts receivable
IBNR claims liability
Other adjustments
Capitated accounts receivable, net
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Components of capitated accounts payable, net is summarized below:
December 31,
2021

Capitated accounts payable
IBNR claims liability
Other adjustments
Capitated accounts payable, net

$

5,483
1,438
299

$

7,220

Activity in IBNR claims liability from September 1, 2021 through December 31, 2021 is summarized below:
Amount

Balance as at September 1, 2021
Incurred related to:
Current period
Prior periods

$

31,384
116,017
526
116,543

Paid related to:
Current period
Prior periods

(84,770)
(29,399)
(114,169)
$

Balance as at December 31, 2021

33,758

Inventories
Inventories consist of medical supplies such as vaccines and are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value with cost being determined on a
weighted average basis. Net realizable value is determined as the estimated selling prices in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of
disposal and transportation. The cost of inventory includes product cost, shipping costs and taxes. Management assesses the valuation of inventory and
periodically adjusts the value for estimated excess and obsolete inventory based on forecasted future sales volume and pricing and through specific identification
of obsolete or damaged products.
Property and Equipment, net
Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation and amortization are computed using the straight-line method
over the estimated useful lives. The general range of useful lives of other property and equipment is as follows:
Estimated Useful Life

Furniture and fixtures
Computer equipment
Computer software
Laboratory equipment
Leasehold improvements

5 to 7 years
3 to 5 years
1.5 to 5 years
5 to 10 years
Lesser of lease term or 10 years

When assets are sold or retired, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts, with any resulting gain or loss recorded in
general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. Costs of repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred.
Software Developed for Internal Use
The Company capitalizes costs related to internal-use software during the application development stage including consulting costs and compensation
expenses related to employees who devote time to the development projects. The Company records software development costs in property and equipment, net.
Costs incurred in the preliminary stages of development activities and post implementation activities are expensed in the period incurred and included in general
and administrative
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expense in the consolidated statements of operations. The Company also capitalizes costs related to specific upgrades and enhancements when it is probable the
expenditures will result in additional functionality.
Capitalized costs associated with internal-use software are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life, which is 1.5 to 5 years, and
are included in depreciation and amortization in the consolidated statements of operations.
Business Combinations
The Company recognizes identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their acquisition date fair values. Goodwill is measured as the excess of
the consideration transferred over the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed on the acquisition date. Acquisition-related expenses are recognized
separately from the business combination and are expensed as incurred. While the Company uses its best estimates and assumptions as part of the purchase price
allocation process to accurately value assets acquired and liabilities assumed, these estimates are inherently uncertain and subject to refinement. The
authoritative guidance allows a measurement period of up to one year from the date of acquisition to make adjustments to the preliminary allocation of the
purchase price. As a result, during the measurement period the Company may record adjustments to the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed,
with the corresponding offset to goodwill to the extent that it identifies adjustments to the preliminary purchase price allocation. Upon conclusion of the
measurement period or final determination of the values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, whichever comes first, any subsequent adjustments will
be recorded in the consolidated statement of operations.
Goodwill, Intangible Assets and Other Long-Lived Assets
Goodwill
The Company recognizes the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identifiable net assets acquired as goodwill. The Company performs a
qualitative assessment on goodwill at least annually on October 1st or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of
goodwill may not be recoverable. If it is determined in the qualitative assessment that the fair value of a reporting unit is more likely than not below its carrying
amount, then the Company will perform a quantitative impairment test. The quantitative goodwill impairment test is performed by comparing the fair value of a
reporting unit with its carrying amount. Any excess in the carrying value of a reporting unit's goodwill over its fair value is recognized as an impairment loss,
limited to the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. For purposes of goodwill impairment testing, the Company has one reporting unit. There
were no goodwill impairments recorded during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019
Intangible Assets and Other Long-Lived Assets
The Company amortizes the acquired finite-lived intangible assets on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful lives, which ranges from 3 to 9 years.
Intangible assets are reviewed for impairment in conjunction with other long-lived assets. The Company's long-lived assets, including intangible assets, are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset or asset group may not be recoverable.
Recoverability of an asset to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset or asset group to the future undiscounted cash
flows expected to be generated by the asset or asset group. If such asset group is considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the
amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value. There were no long-lived asset impairments recorded during the years ended
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.
Leases
The Company determines if a contract meets with definition of a lease at inception of a contract. Lease liabilities represent the obligation to make lease
payments and right-of-use ("ROU") assets represent the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term. Leases with a term greater than one year are
recognized in the consolidated balance sheet as lease liabilities and ROU assets at the commencement date of the lease based on the present value of lease
payments over the lease term. The Company has elected not to recognize on the balance sheet leases with terms of one year or less. When the implicit rate is
unknown, an incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at the commencement date is used in determining the present value of the lease
payments. Options to extend or terminate the lease are included in the determination of the lease term when it is reasonably certain that the Company will
exercise such options.
Operating lease ROU assets are adjusted for (i) payments made at or before the commencement date, (ii) initial direct costs incurred, and (iii) tenant
incentives under the lease. When a lease contains an escalation clause or a concession, such as a rent holiday or tenant improvement allowance, the Company
includes these items in the determination of the ROU asset and the lease liabilities. The effects of these escalation clauses or concessions have been reflected in
lease expenses on a straight-line
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basis over the expected lease term and any variable lease payments subsequent to establishing the lease liability are expensed as incurred.
Certain lease agreements include rental payments that are adjusted periodically for inflation or other variables. In addition to rent, the leases may require
the Company to pay additional amounts for taxes, insurance, maintenance and other expenses, which are generally referred to as non-lease components. Such
adjustments to rental payments and variable non-lease components are treated as variable lease payments and recognized in the period as incurred. Variable lease
components and variable non-lease components are not measured as part of the right-of-use assets and lease liability. Only when lease components and their
associated non-lease components are fixed are they recognized as part of the right-of-use assets and lease liability. The Company has made an accounting policy
election to not separate lease and non-lease components to all asset classes. Rather, each lease component and the related non-lease components will be
accounted for together as a single component.
A portfolio approach is applied where appropriate to certain lease contracts with similar characteristics. The Company's lease agreements do not contain
any significant residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants imposed by the leases.
Operating leases are included in right of use assets, operating lease liabilities, current and operating lease liabilities, non-current on the Company's
consolidated balance sheets. Finance leases are included in property and equipment, net, other current liabilities, and other long-term liabilities in the Company's
consolidated balance sheets. Finance leases are not material.
Income Taxes
Income taxes are computed using the asset and liability approach that requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future
tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. In estimating future tax consequences, the Company
considers all expected future events other than enactment of changes in tax laws or rates. A valuation allowance is recorded, if necessary, to reduce net deferred
tax assets to their realizable values if management does not believe it is more likely than not that the net deferred tax assets will be realized.
The Company accounts for uncertainty in income taxes pursuant to authoritative guidance to recognize and measure uncertain tax positions taken or
expected to be taken in a tax return. The company can recognize the benefit of an income tax position only if it is more likely than not (greater than 50%) that
the tax position will be sustained upon tax examination, based solely on the technical merits of the tax position. Otherwise, no benefit can be recognized.
Assessing an uncertain tax position begins with the initial determination of the sustainability of the position and is measured at the largest amount of benefit that
is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. As of each balance sheet date, unresolved uncertain tax positions must be reassessed.
Additionally, the Company must accrue interest and related penalties, if applicable, on all tax exposures for which reserves have been established consistent with
jurisdictional tax laws.
The Company's policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in the provision for income taxes. As of December 31, 2021
and 2020, the Company had no accrued interest or penalties related to uncertain tax positions.
Net Loss per Share Attributable to 1Life Healthcare, Inc. Stockholders
The Company applies the two-class method to compute basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to 1Life Healthcare, Inc. stockholders when shares
meet the definition of participating securities. The two-class method determines net loss per share for each class of common and redeemable convertible
preferred stock according to dividends declared or accumulated and participation rights in undistributed earnings. The two-class method requires income (loss)
available to common stockholders for the period to be allocated between common and redeemable convertible preferred stock based upon their respective rights
to share in the earnings as if all income (loss) for the period had been distributed. During periods of loss, there is no allocation required under the two-class
method since the redeemable convertible preferred stock does not have a contractual obligation to share in the Company’s losses.
Basic net loss per share attributable to 1Life Healthcare, Inc. stockholders is computed by dividing net loss attributable to 1Life Healthcare, Inc.
stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period without consideration of potentially dilutive common stock.
Diluted net loss per share attributable to 1Life Healthcare, Inc. stockholders reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue
common stock were exercised or converted into common stock or resulted in the issuance of common stock that then shared in the earnings of the Company
unless inclusion of such shares would be anti-dilutive. For periods in which the Company reports net losses, diluted net loss per common share attributable to
1Life Healthcare, Inc. stockholders is the same as basic net loss per common share attributable to 1Life Healthcare, Inc. stockholders, because potentially
dilutive common shares are not assumed to have been issued if their effect is anti-dilutive.
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Revenue Recognition
The Company adopted Accounting Standards Codification Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, effective January 1, 2019, using the
modified retrospective transition method. Net revenue for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 is presented under Topic 606.
The Company's net revenue consists of Medicare revenue and commercial revenue. Revenue is recognized when a customer obtains control of promised
goods or services, in an amount that reflects the consideration which the entity expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services. The Company
determines revenue recognition through the following steps:
(i)

Identify the contract(s) with a customer;

(ii)

Identify the performance obligations in the contract;

(iii)

Determine the transaction price;

(iv)

Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and

(v)

Recognize revenue as the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

Medicare Revenue
Medicare revenue consists of (i) Capitated Revenue and (ii) fee-for-service and other revenue.
Capitated Revenue
The Company receives a per member per month (“PMPM”) fee under At-Risk arrangements, which refers to a model in which the Company receives a
PMPM fee from the third-party payer, and is responsible for managing a range of healthcare services and associated costs of its members. Under certain
contracts, the Company adjusts the PMPM fees for a percentage share of any additional gross capitated revenues and associated medical claims expense
generated by the provision of healthcare services not directly provided by the Company. The capitated revenues, medical claims expense, and related
adjustments are recorded gross because the Company is acting as a principal in arranging, providing, and controlling the managed healthcare services provided
to the eligible enrolled members. The Company’s contracts, which are negotiated by the payer on behalf of its enrolled members, generally have a term of two
years or longer.
The Company considers its obligation to provide healthcare services to all enrolled members under a given contract as a single performance obligation.
This performance obligation is to stand ready to provide managed healthcare services and it is satisfied over time as measured by months of service provided.
The Company’s revenues are based on the PMPM amounts it is entitled to receive from the payers, subject to estimates for variable considerations due to
changes in the member population and the member's health status (acuity). The adjustment to the PMPM fees must also be estimated due to reporting lag times,
and requires significant judgment. These are estimated using the expected value methodology based on historical data and actuarial inputs. Final adjustments
related to the contracts may take up to 18 months due to reserves for claims incurred but not reported. The Company recognizes revenue in the month in which
eligible members are entitled to receive healthcare benefits during the contract term. The variable consideration is estimated and recorded as earned, which is
directly related to the period in which the services are performed. The Company does not have a historical pattern of granting material concessions or waiving
fees and, as such, does not include any such estimate in the transaction price of its contracts.
Fee-for-service and Other Revenue
The Company recognizes fee-for-service Medicare revenue as services are rendered, which are delivered over a period of time but typically within one
day, when the Company provides services to Other Patients not covered under At-Risk arrangements. The Company receives payments for services from thirdparty payers as well as from Other Patients where they may bear some cost of the service in the form of co-pays, coinsurance or deductibles. Providing medical
services to patients represents the Company’s performance obligation under these contracts, and accordingly, the transaction price is allocated entirely to the one
performance obligation. Fee-for-service Medicare revenue is reported net of provisions for contractual allowances from third-party payers and Other patients.
The Company does not have a historical pattern of granting material concessions or waiving fees and, as such, does not include any such estimate in the
transaction price of its fee-for-service contracts. The Company may be entitled to one-time payments under certain contracts to compensate the Company for
clinical start-up, administration, and on-going coordination of care activities. Such payments are recognized ratably over the length of the term stated in the
contracts as they are refundable on a pro-rata basis if the Company ceases to provide services at the specified clinics prior to the contractual end date. These
payments are part of the transaction price that is fully allocated to the single performance obligation to provide healthcare services on a stand-ready basis.
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Commercial Revenue
Commercial revenue consists of (i) partnership revenue, (ii) net fee-for-service revenue and (iii) membership revenue.
Partnership Revenue
Partnership revenue is generated from (i) contracts with health systems as health network partners, (ii) contracts with employers to provide professional
clinical services to employee members, and (iii) contracts with employers, schools, and universities to provide COVID-19 on-site testing service. The
Company's main performance obligation under the various partnership arrangements is to stand ready to provide professional clinical services and the associated
management and administrative services. As the services are provided concurrently over the contract term and have the same pattern of transfer, the Company
has concluded that this represents one performance obligation comprising of a series of distinct services over the contract term. The Company also receives an
incentive from certain health network partners to open new clinics, which is considered a distinct performance obligation from the stand-ready obligation to
provide clinical and administrative services. Revenue is recognized when the performance obligation is satisfied upon the opening of the new location.
While the Company can receive either fixed or variable fees from its enterprise clients (i.e., stated fee per employee per month) for medical services, it
generally receives variable fees from health networks on a stated fee PMPM basis, based on the number of members (or participants) serviced. The Company
also receives variable fees from enterprise clients, schools and, universities on a stated fee per each COVID-19 on-site testing per month basis, based on the
number of tests delivered. The Company recognizes revenue as it satisfies its performance obligation. For fixed-fee agreements with its enterprise clients, the
Company uses a time-based measure to recognize revenue ratably over the contract term. For variable-fee agreements with health networks, the Company
allocates the PMPM variable consideration to the month that the fee is earned, correlated with the amount of services it is providing, which is consistent with the
allocation objective of the series guidance. For variable-fee arrangements with employers, schools, and universities to provide COVID-19 on-site testing
services, revenue is recognized as services are rendered. The Company generally invoices for the on-site testing services as the work is incurred and monthly in
arrears.
From time to time, the Company may provide discounts and rebates to the customer. The Company estimates the variable consideration subject to the
constraint and recognizes such variable consideration over the contract term. The estimate of variable consideration is based on the Company’s assessment of
historical, current, and forecasted performance. The reserves for variable consideration are recorded as customer refund liabilities within other current liabilities
in the consolidated balance sheets.
Net Fee-For-Service Revenue
Net fee-for-service revenue is generated from providing primary care services pursuant to contracts with the Company's Consumer and Enterprise
members. The Company recognizes revenue as services are rendered, which are delivered over a period of time but typically within one day, when the Company
provides services to Consumer and Enterprise members. The Company receives payments for services from third-party payers as well as from Consumer and
Enterprise members who have health insurance where they may bear some cost of the service in the form of co-pays, coinsurance or deductibles. In addition,
patients who do not have health insurance are required to pay for their services in full. Providing medical services to patients represents the Company's
performance obligation under the contracts, and accordingly, the transaction price is allocated entirely to the one performance obligation.
Net fee-for-service revenue is reported net of provisions for contractual allowances from third-party payers and Consumer and Enterprise members. The
Company has certain agreements with third-party payers that provide for reimbursement at amounts different from the Company's standard billing rates. The
differences between the estimated reimbursement rates and the standard billing rates are accounted for as contractual adjustments, which are deducted from
gross revenue to arrive at net fee-for-service revenue. The Company estimates implicit price concessions related to payer and patient receivable balances as part
of estimating the original transaction price which is based on historical experience, current market conditions, the amount of any receivables in dispute, current
receivables aging and other collection indicators.
Membership Revenue
Membership revenue is generated from annual membership fees paid by consumer members and from enterprise clients who purchase access to
memberships for their employees and dependents. The terms of service on the Company's website serve as the contract between the Company and consumer
members. The Company enters into written contracts with enterprise clients. The transaction price for contracts with enterprise clients is determined on a per
employee per month basis, based on the number of employees eligible for membership established at the beginning of the contract term, which is generally one
year. The transaction price for the contract is stated in the contract or determinable and is generally collected in advance of the
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contract term. The Company may provide numerous services under the agreements; however, these services are generally not considered individually distinct as
they are not separately identifiable in the context of the agreement. As a result, the Company's single performance obligation in the transaction constitutes a
series for the provision of membership and services as and when requested over the membership term. The transaction price relates specifically to the
Company's efforts to transfer the services for a distinct increment of the series. Accordingly, the transaction price is allocated entirely to the one performance
obligation. Membership revenue is recognized ratably over the contract period with the individual member or enterprise client. Unrecognized but collected
amounts are recorded to deferred revenue and amortized over the remainder of the applicable membership period.
Contracts with Multiple Performance Obligations
Certain contracts with customers contain multiple performance obligations that are distinct and accounted for separately. The transaction price is allocated
to the separate performance obligations on a relative standalone selling price ("SSP") basis. The Company determines SSP for all performance obligations using
observable inputs, such as standalone sales and historical contract pricing. SSP is consistent with the Company's overall pricing objectives, taking into
consideration the type of services. SSP also reflects the amount the Company would charge for that performance obligation if it were sold separately in a
standalone sale, and the price the Company would sell to similar customers in similar circumstances.
Deferred Revenue
The Company records deferred revenue, which is a contract liability, when it has an obligation to provide services to a customer and payment is received
in advance of performance.
Medical Claims Expense
Medical claims expenses consist of certain third-party medical expenses paid by payers contractually on behalf of the Company. Medical claims expense
is recognized in the period in which services are provided and includes an estimate of the Company’s obligations for medical services that have been provided to
its members and patients but for which claims have not been received or processed, and for liabilities for third-party physician, hospital and other medical
expense disputes. Medical claims expenses include such costs as inpatient and outpatient services, certain pharmacy benefits and physician services by providers
other than the physicians employed by the Company.
The cost of healthcare services provided or contracted for is accrued in the period in which the services are rendered. These costs include an estimate,
supported by actuarial inputs, of the related IBNR claims liability, which is based on completion factors and per member per month claim trends. Changes in this
estimate can materially affect, either favorably or unfavorably, results from operations and overall financial position. The estimated reserve for IBNR claims
liability is included in accounts receivable, net and other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.
Cost of Care, Exclusive of Depreciation and Amortization
Cost of care, exclusive of depreciation and amortization includes provider and support employee-related costs for both virtual and in-office care,
occupancy costs, medical supplies, insurance and other operating costs. Providers include doctors of medicine, doctors of osteopathy, nurse practitioners and
physician assistants. Support employees include phlebotomists and administrative assistants assisting our members with all non-medical related services. Virtual
care includes video visits and other synchronous and asynchronous communication via our app and website. Cost of care, exclusive of depreciation and
amortization also excludes stock-based compensation.
Advertising
The Company expenses advertising costs the first time the advertising takes place. Advertising costs are included in sales and marketing in the
consolidated statements of operations. For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, advertising costs were $32,166, $15,871, and $23,368,
respectively.
Stock-Based Compensation
The Company measures all stock-based awards granted to employees and directors based on the fair value on the date of the grant and recognizes
compensation expense for those awards, net of estimated forfeitures, over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period of the respective
award.
For stock option grants with only service-based vesting conditions, the fair value is estimated on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option-pricing
model, which requires inputs based on certain subjective assumptions, including the expected stock price volatility, the expected term of the option, the risk-free
interest rate for a period that approximates the expected term
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of the option, and the Company's expected dividend yield. The expense for the stock option grants with only service-based vesting conditions is recorded using
the accelerated attribution method. The Company also uses the Black‑Scholes option‑pricing model to estimate the fair value of its stock purchase rights under
the 2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan on the grant date.
For stock option awards issued with market-based vesting conditions, the grant date fair value is determined based on multiple stock price paths
developed through the use of a Monte Carlo simulation that incorporates into the valuation the possibility that the market condition may not be satisfied. A
Monte Carlo simulation requires the use of various assumptions, including the underlying stock price, volatility and the risk-free interest rate as of the valuation
date, corresponding to the length of the time remaining in the performance period, and expected dividend yield. The expected term represents the derived service
period for the respective tranches, which is the longer of the explicit service period or the period in which the market conditions are expected to be met. Stockbased compensation expense associated with market-based awards is recognized over the derived requisite service using the accelerated attribution method,
regardless of whether the market conditions are achieved. If the related market conditions are achieved earlier than the derived service period, the stock-based
compensation expense will be recognized as a cumulative catch-up expense from the grant date to that point in time in achieving the share price goal. (see
Note 14, "Stock-Based Compensation and Employee Benefit Plans").
Self-Insurance Program
The Company self-insures for certain levels of employee medical benefits. The Company maintains a stop-loss insurance policy to protect it from
individual losses over $250 per claim in 2021, $250 per claim in 2020 and $225 per claim in 2019. A liability for expected claims incurred but not reported is
established on a monthly basis. As claims are paid, the liability is relieved. The Company reviews its self-insurance accruals on a quarterly basis based on
actuarial methods to determine the liability for actual claims and claims incurred but not yet reported. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company's
liability for outstanding claims (included in accrued expenses) was $3,000 and $1,936, respectively.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Emerging Growth Company Status
Effective December 31, 2021, the Company is no longer an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012
(the “JOBS Act”).
Recently Adopted Pronouncements as of December 31, 2021
In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from
Contracts with Customers, which requires the measurement of contract assets and contract liabilities acquired in a business combination in accordance with
Topic 606. At the acquisition date, an acquirer should account for the related revenue contracts in accordance with Topic 606 as if it had originated the contracts.
Under previous GAAP, an acquirer generally recognizes assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination at fair value on the acquisition date.
The standard is effective for public companies for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early
adoption is permitted, including adoption in an interim period. An entity that early adopts in an interim period should apply the amendments retrospectively to
all business combinations for which the acquisition date occurs on or after the beginning of the fiscal year that includes the interim period of early application.
The Company early adopted this standard in the fourth quarter of 2021 retrospectively to all business combinations for which the acquisition date occurs
on or after January 1, 2021. The adoption resulted in an increase of $4,905 in current and non-current deferred revenue assumed from the acquisition of Iora as
of September 1, 2021.
In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, Debt—Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging—
Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40): Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity, which simplifies the
accounting for convertible instruments by removing certain separation models in Subtopic 470-20, Debt—Debt with Conversion and Other Options, for
convertible instruments and also increases information transparency by making disclosure amendments. The standard is effective for private companies for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2023, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted, but no earlier than fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2020, including interim periods within those fiscal years.
The Company early adopted this standard on January 1, 2021 on a modified retrospective basis. Under previous GAAP, instruments that may be partially
settled in cash were in the scope of the “cash conversion” model, which required conversion features to be separately reported in equity. Upon the adoption of
ASU 2020-06, the cash conversion model was eliminated and the Company no longer separates its convertible senior notes (“the 2025 Notes”) into liability and
equity components and
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instead accounts for the 2025 Notes as a single liability instrument. As a result, there is no longer a debt discount or subsequent amortization to be recognized as
interest expense. Further, ASU 2020-06 requires the use of the if-converted method for diluted earnings per share calculation, and no longer allows the use of the
treasury stock method for instruments with flexible settlement arrangements. Under the previous treasury stock method, only the excess of the average stock
price of the Company’s common stock for the reporting period over the conversion price was used in determining the impact to the diluted earnings per share
denominator. Under the current if-converted method, all underlying shares shall be included in the denominator regardless of the average stock price for the
reporting period, in addition to adding back to the numerator, the related interest expense from the stated coupon and the amortization of issuance costs, if
dilutive.
The prior period consolidated financial statements have not been retrospectively adjusted and continue to be reported under the accounting standards in
effect for those periods. Accordingly, the cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated deficit as of January 1, 2021 was as follows:
December 31, 2020
As Reported

Liabilities
Convertible senior notes
Stockholders' Equity
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit

Effect of the Adoption of
ASU 2020-06

January 1, 2021
As Adjusted

$

241,233

$

66,737

$

307,970

$

918,118
(369,785)

$

(73,393)
6,656

$

844,725
(363,129)

The impact of adoption to the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2021 was primarily a reduction of non-cash interest
expense of $13,104. The reduction in interest expense decreased the net loss attributable to common stockholders and decreased the basic net loss per share. The
required use of the if-converted method for earnings per share does not impact the diluted net loss per share as long as the Company is in a net loss position. The
adoption had no impact on the consolidated statement of cash flows.
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial
Instruments and also issued subsequent amendments to the initial guidance (collectively, Topic 326). Topic 326 replaces the existing incurred loss impairment
model with an expected credit loss model and requires a financial asset measured at amortized cost to be presented at the net amount expected to be collected.
For available-for-sale debt securities with unrealized losses, the standard limits the amount of credit losses to be recognized to the amount by which carrying
value exceeds fair value and requires the reversal of previously recognized credit losses if fair value increases. The Company early adopted the standard on
January 1, 2021 using a modified retrospective approach with no material impact to the consolidated financial statements.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other-Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40): Customer’s Accounting for
Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is a Service Contract, which aligns the requirements for capitalizing implementation
costs incurred in a cloud computing arrangement that is a service contract with the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or
obtain internal-use-software. The Company adopted the standard on January 1, 2021 on a prospective basis. The adoption did not have a material impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted as of December 31, 2021
In November 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-10, Government Assistance (Topic 832): Disclosures by Business Entities about Government Assistance
which requires annual disclosures that increase the transparency of transactions involving government grants, including (1) the types of transactions, (2) the
accounting for those transactions, and (3) the effect of those transactions on an entity’s financial statements. The amendments in this update are effective for
financial statements issued for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2021. The Company does not expect this accounting standard update to have a
material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
3.

Variable Interest Entities

1Life, Iora Health and Iora Senior Health's agreements with the PCs generally consist of both Administrative Services Agreements (“ASAs”), which
provide for various administrative and management services to be provided by 1Life, Iora Health or Iora Senior Health, respectively, to the PCs, and succession
agreements, which provide for transition of ownership of the PCs under certain conditions ("Succession Agreements").
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The ASAs typically provide that the term of the arrangements is ten to twenty years with automatic renewal for successive one-year terms, subject to
termination by the contracting parties in certain specified circumstances. The outstanding voting equity instruments of the PCs are owned by nominee
shareholders appointed by 1Life, Iora Health or Iora Senior Health (or the PC in one instance) under the terms of the Succession Agreements or other
shareholders who are also subject to the terms of the Succession Agreements. 1Life, Iora Health and Iora Senior Health have the right to receive income as an
ongoing administrative fee in an amount that represents the fair value of services rendered and has provided all financial support through loans to the PCs. 1Life,
Iora Health and Iora Senior Health have exclusive responsibility for the provision of all nonmedical services including facilities, technology and intellectual
property required for the day-to-day operation and management of each of the PCs, and makes recommendations to the PCs in establishing the guidelines for the
employment and compensation of the physicians and other employees of the PCs. In addition, the agreements provide that 1Life, Iora Health and Iora Senior
Health have the right to designate a person(s) to purchase the stock of the PCs for a nominal amount in the event of a succession event. Based upon the
provisions of these agreements, 1Life determined that the PCs are variable interest entities due to its equity holder having insufficient capital at risk, and 1Life
has a variable interest in the PCs.
The contractual arrangement to provide management services allows 1Life, Iora Health or Iora Senior Health to direct the economic activities that most
significantly affect the PCs. Accordingly, 1Life, Iora Health or Iora Senior Health is the primary beneficiary of the PCs and consolidates the PCs under the VIE
model. Furthermore, as a direct result of nominal initial equity contributions by the physicians, the financial support 1Life, Iora Health or Iora Senior Health
provides to the PCs (e.g. loans) and the provisions of the nominee shareholder succession arrangements described above, the interests held by noncontrolling
interest holders lack economic substance and do not provide them with the ability to participate in the residual profits or losses generated by the PCs. Therefore,
all income and expenses recognized by the PCs are allocated to 1Life stockholders. The aggregate carrying value of the assets and liabilities included in the
consolidated balance sheets for the PCs after elimination of intercompany transactions and balances were $129,474 and $115,744, respectively, as of
December 31, 2021 and $48,182 and $31,462, respectively, as of December 31, 2020.
In September 2014, 1Life entered into a joint venture agreement with a healthcare system to jointly operate physician owned primary care offices in a
new market. Pursuant to the formation of this joint venture, the healthcare system contributed $10,000 for a 56.9% interest and 1Life contributed management
expertise for a 43.1% interest. One of the PCs had the responsibility for the provision of medical services and 1Life had responsibility for the day-to-day
operation and management of the offices, including the establishment of guidelines for the employment and compensation of the physicians. Based upon this and
other provisions of the operating agreement that indicated that 1Life directed the economic activities that most significantly affected the economic performance
of the joint venture, 1Life determined that the joint venture was a variable interest entity and that 1Life was the primary beneficiary. The Company recorded the
$10,000 cash received in noncontrolling interest in the consolidated balance sheet. The income and expenses of the joint venture were recorded in the
consolidated statements of operations and statements of comprehensive loss as net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest.
Effective April 1, 2020, 1Life terminated the joint venture agreement with the healthcare system and transferred its ownership interest in the joint
venture to the healthcare system. As a result, the joint venture became a wholly owned subsidiary of the healthcare system. The joint venture was deconsolidated
in the consolidated financial statements as of April 1, 2020 and the Company derecognized all assets and liabilities of the joint venture. The Company did not
record a gain or loss in association with the deconsolidation as the Company did not retain any noncontrolling interest in the joint venture and no consideration
was transferred as a result of the ownership interest transfer to the healthcare system.
At the point of deconsolidation, 100% of the net assets were attributable to the noncontrolling interest. The following table shows the balances
immediately preceding the deconsolidation of the joint venture that occurred on April 1, 2020:
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Partially Owned
April 1,
2020

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Other assets
Property and equipment, net
Right-of-use assets

$

810
768
18
1,596
19
1,504
1,509
4,628

$

Total assets
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Operating lease liabilities, current
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Operating lease liabilities, non-current

$

9
273
143
425
1,872
2,297

$

Total liabilities

The consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2020 include the operations of the joint venture through the date of
deconsolidation. The consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2020 does not include the operations of the joint venture.
4.

Fair Value Measurements and Investments
Fair Value Measurements
The following tables present information about the Company's financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis:
Level 1

Assets:
Cash equivalents:
Money market fund
Short-term marketable securities:
U.S. Treasury obligations
Foreign government bonds
Commercial paper
Long-term marketable securities:
U.S. Treasury obligations
Total financial assets

$

Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2021 Using:
Level 2
Level 3

315,817

$

58,232
—
—
48,296
422,345

$
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—

$

—
5,012
48,427

$

53,439

—

$

—
—
—

$

—

Total

315,817
58,232
5,012
48,427

$

48,296
475,784
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Level 1

Assets:
Cash equivalents:
Money market fund
Commercial paper
Short-term marketable securities:
U.S. Treasury obligations
U.S. government agency securities
Commercial paper
Total financial assets

$

Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2020 Using:
Level 2
Level 3

50,761
—

$

416,158
20,000
—
486,919

$

—
19,999
—
—
133,865
153,864

$

$

—
—
—
—
—
—

$

Total

$

50,761
19,999
416,158
20,000
133,865
640,783

$

Our financial assets are valued using market prices on both active markets (Level 1) and less active markets (Level 2). Level 1 instrument valuations are
obtained from real-time quotes for transactions in active exchange markets involving identical assets. Level 2 instrument valuations are obtained from readily
available pricing sources for comparable instruments, identical instruments in less active markets, or models using market observable inputs.
During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, there were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3.
Valuation of Convertible Senior Notes
The Company has $316,250 aggregate principal amount outstanding of 3.0% convertible senior notes due in 2025 (the "2025 Notes"). See Note 12 "Debt"
for details.
The fair value of the 2025 Notes was $288,461 and $397,472 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The fair value was determined based on
the closing trading price of the 2025 Notes as of the last day of trading for the period. The fair value of the 2025 Notes is primarily affected by the trading price
of the Company's common stock and market interest rates. The fair value of the 2025 Notes is considered a Level 2 measurement as they are not actively traded.
Investments
At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company's cash equivalents and marketable securities were as follows:
December 31, 2021
Gross
unrealized
gains (losses)

Amortized
cost

Cash equivalents:
Money market fund
Total cash equivalents
Short-term marketable securities:
U.S. Treasury obligations
Foreign government bonds
Commercial paper
Total short-term marketable securities
Long-term marketable securities:
U.S. Treasury obligations
Total cash equivalents and marketable securities

$

315,817
315,817

$

58,293
5,013
48,427
111,733

$
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48,427
475,977

Fair value

—
—

$

(61)
(1)
—
(62)

$

(131)
(193) $

315,817
315,817
58,232
5,012
48,427
111,671
48,296
475,784
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December 31, 2020
Gross
unrealized
gains (losses)

Amortized
cost

Cash equivalents:
Money market fund
Commercial paper
Total cash equivalents
Short-term marketable securities:
U.S. Treasury obligations
U.S government agency securities
Commercial paper
Total short-term marketable securities
Total cash equivalents and marketable securities
5.

$

$

50,761
19,999
70,760
416,150
20,000
133,865
570,015
640,775

$

Fair value

—
—
—

$

$

8
—
—
8
8

2021

Year Ended December 31,
2020

50,761
19,999
70,760
416,158
20,000
133,865
570,023
640,783

$

Revenue Recognition
The following table summarizes the Company's net revenue by primary source:

Net revenue:
Capitated revenue
Fee-for-service and other revenue
Total Medicare revenue
Partnership revenue
Net fee-for-service revenue
Membership revenue
Grant income
Total commercial revenue
Total net revenue

$

$

126,609
3,370
129,979
224,051
181,811
85,711
1,763
493,336
623,315

$

$

—
—
—
159,482
149,695
68,466
2,580
380,223
380,223

2019

$

$

—
—
—
78,734
145,389
52,135
—
276,258
276,258

Net fee-for-service revenue (previously reported as net patient service revenue) is primarily generated from commercial third-party payers with which the
One Medical entities have established contractual billing arrangements. The following table summarizes net fee-for-service revenue by source:
2021

Net fee-for-service revenue:
Commercial and government third-party payers
Patients, including self-pay, insurance co-pays and deductibles
Net fee-for-service revenue

$
$

168,426
13,385
181,811

Year Ended December 31,
2020

$
$

136,388
13,307
149,695

2019

$
$

121,502
23,887
145,389

The CARES Act was enacted on March 27, 2020 to provide economic relief to those impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. The CARES Act includes
various tax and lending provisions, among others. Under the CARES Act, the Company received an income grant of $1,763 and $2,580 from the Provider Relief
Fund administered by the Health and Human Services ("HHS") during the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Management has concluded
that the Company met conditions of the grant funds and has recognized it as Grant income for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recognized revenue of $35,664, which was included in the beginning deferred revenue balance
as of January 1, 2021. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recognized revenue of $26,026, which was included in the beginning deferred
revenue balance as of January 1, 2020.
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As of December 31, 2021, a total of $5,844 is included within deferred revenue related to variable consideration, of which $4,735 is classified as noncurrent as it will not be recognized within the next twelve months. The estimate of variable consideration is based on the Company's assessment of historical,
current, and forecasted performance.
As summarized in the table below, the Company recorded contract assets and deferred revenue as a result of timing differences between the Company's
performance and the customer's payment.
December 31,
2021

Balances from contracts with customers:
Capitated accounts receivable, net
All other accounts receivable, net
Contract asset (included in prepaid expenses and other current assets)
Deferred revenue

$

2020

23,903
79,595
458
77,245

$

$

—
67,895
513
43,590

$

The Company does not disclose the value of remaining performance obligations for (i) contracts with an original contract term of one year or less, (ii)
contracts for which the Company recognizes revenue at the amount to which it has the right to invoice when that amount corresponds directly with the value of
services performed, and (iii) variable consideration allocated entirely to a wholly unsatisfied performance obligation or to a wholly unsatisfied distinct service
that forms part of a single performance obligation. For those contracts that do not meet the above criteria, the Company's remaining performance obligation as of
December 31, 2021, is expected to be recognized as follows:
Less than
or equal to
12 months

As of December 31, 2021
6.

$

Greater
than
12 months

15,212

$

33,997

Total

$

49,209

Property and Equipment, net
Property and equipment consisted of the following:
December 31,
2021

Leasehold improvements
Computer software, including internal-use software
Computer equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Laboratory equipment
Construction in progress

$

Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization
$

2020

156,518 $
56,620
27,237
17,075
9,217
19,876
286,543
(92,827)
193,716 $

118,434
25,708
21,502
11,805
6,541
8,550
192,540
(66,503)
126,037

The Company capitalized $11,617, $10,069 and $6,914 in internal-use software development costs, and recognized depreciation expense related to these
assets of $7,181, $4,907 and $3,152 during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the net book
value of internal-use software was $39,441 and $14,106, respectively. Total depreciation and amortization expense related to property and equipment for the
years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 was $31,702, $22,301 and $13,970, respectively. All long-lived assets are maintained in the United States.
7.

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Company determines if a contact meets the definition of a lease. A lease is a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the
right to control the use of identified property, plant, or equipment (an identified asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration. The Company assesses
throughout the period of use whether the Company has both of the following: (i) the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the
identified asset, and (ii) the right to direct the use of the identified asset. This determination is reassessed if the terms of the contract are changed. Leases are
classified as operating or finance leases based on the terms of the lease agreement and certain characteristics of the
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identified asset. Right-of-use assets and operating lease liabilities are recognized at lease commencement date based on the present value of the minimum future
lease payments.
The carrying value of the Company's right-of-use assets are substantially concentrated in real estate as the Company primarily leases office space. The
Company's policy is not to record leases with an original lease term of one year or less in the consolidated balance sheets. The Company recognizes lease
expense for these short-term leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Certain lease agreements include rental payments that are adjusted periodically for inflation or other variables. In addition to rent, the leases may require
the Company to pay additional amounts for taxes, insurance, maintenance and other expenses, which are generally referred to as non-lease components. Such
adjustments to rental payments and variable non-lease components are treated as variable lease payments and recognized in the period as incurred. Variable lease
components and variable non-lease components are not measured as part of the right-of-use assets and lease liability. Only when lease components and their
associated non-lease components are fixed are they recognized as part of the right-of-use assets and lease liability.
Most leases contain clauses for renewal at the Company's option with renewal terms that generally extend the lease term from 1 to 7 years. Certain lease
agreements contain options to terminate the lease before maturity. The Company does not have any lease contracts with the option to purchase as of
December 31, 2021 and 2020. Payments to be made in option periods are recognized as part of the right-of-use lease assets and lease liabilities when the
Company is reasonably certain that the option to extend the lease will be exercised or the option to terminate the lease will not be exercised, or is not at the
Company's option. The Company determines whether the reasonably certain threshold is met by considering contract-, asset-, market-, and entity-based factors.
A portfolio approach is applied where appropriate to certain lease contracts with similar characteristics. The Company's lease agreements do not contain
any significant residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants imposed by the leases.
Certain of the Company's furniture and fixtures and lab equipment are held under finance leases. Finance-lease-related assets are included in property and
equipment, net in the consolidated balance sheets and are immaterial as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.
The components of operating lease costs were as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2020

2021

Operating lease costs
Variable lease costs

$

Total lease costs

$

37,214
6,297
43,511

$

25,250
4,166
29,416

$

2019

$

19,165
2,612
21,777

$

Other information related to leases was as follows:
Supplemental Cash Flow Information
Year Ended December 31,
2020

2021

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows from operating leases
Non-cash leases activity:
Right-of-use lease assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities

2019

$

36,935

$

24,735

$

17,260

$

139,515

$

45,957

$

57,621

Lease Term and Discount Rate
As of December 31,
2021

Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years)
Weighted-average discount rate

2020

8.02
6.55 %
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At the lease commencement date, the discount rate implicit in the lease is used to discount the lease liability if readily determinable. If not readily
determinable or leases do not contain an implicit rate, the Company's incremental borrowing rate is used as the discount rate. Management determines the
appropriate incremental borrowing rates for each of its leases based on the remaining lease term at lease commencement.
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases as of December 31, 2021 were as follows (excluding the effect of lease incentives
to be received that are recorded in prepaid expenses and other current assets of $12,002 which serve to reduce total lease payments):
As of December 31, 2021

2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter
Total lease payments
Less: interest

$

Total lease liabilities

$

49,963
52,714
50,840
47,095
43,564
149,026
393,202
(92,409)
300,793

The amounts in the table above do not reflect total payments for leases that have not yet commenced in the amount of $26,659.
8.

Business Combinations
Acquisition of Iora

On September 1, 2021 ("Acquisition Date"), 1Life acquired all outstanding equity and capital stock of Iora Health, a human-centered, value-based
primary care group with built-for-purpose technology focused on serving the Medicare population, for an aggregate purchase consideration of $1,424,836, which
was paid through the issuance of 1Life common shares with a fair value of $1,313,312, in part by cash of $62,881, and in part by stock options of Iora assumed
by 1Life towards pre-combination services of $48,643. The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination. Subsequent to the Acquisition Date and as
of December 31, 2021, the Company recorded $8,866 decrease to goodwill during the measurement period, and $4,905 increase to goodwill as a result of the
early adoption of ASU 2021-08. The preliminary purchase price allocations resulted in $1,120,283 of goodwill and $363,031 of acquired identifiable intangible
assets related to Iora trade name and contracts in existing geographies valued using the income method. Goodwill recorded in the acquisition is not expected to
be deductible for tax purposes. Goodwill was primarily attributable to the planned growth in new geographies, synergies expected to be achieved in the
combined operations of 1Life and Iora, and assembled workforce of Iora.
The acquisition expanded the Company's reach to become a premier national human-centered, technology-powered, value-based primary care platform
across all age groups. The acquisition allows the Company to participate in At-Risk arrangements with Medicare Advantage payers and CMS, in which the
Company is responsible for managing a range of healthcare services and associated costs of its members.
Preliminary Purchase Price Allocation
The purchase price components are summarized in the following table:
Consideration in 1Life common stock (1)
Cash consideration (2)
Stock options of Iora assumed by 1Life towards pre-combination
services (3)

$

$

Total Purchase Price

1,313,312
62,881
48,643
1,424,836

(1) Represents the fair value of 53,583 shares of 1Life common stock transferred as consideration consisting of 52,406 shares issued and 1,177 shares to be
issued to former Iora shareholders for outstanding Iora capital stock based on 77,687 Iora shares with the Exchange Ratio of 0.69 for a share of Iora and 1Life's
stock price of $24.51 as of the closing date. The fair value of the
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53,583 shares transferred as consideration was determined on the basis of the closing market price of the Company's common stock one business day prior to the
Acquisition Date.
(2) Included in the cash consideration are:
•

$5,993 for the settlement of vested phantom stock awards and cash bonuses contingent on the completion of the merger. Iora's unvested phantom stock
awards, to the extent they relate to post-combination services, will be paid out and expensed as they vest subsequent to the acquisition and will be
treated as stock-based compensation expense.

•

$30,253 of loans made by the Company to Iora prior to the Acquisition Date

•

$5,391 of repayment of the existing Silicon Valley Bank (“SVB”) loan, which was not legally assumed as part of the merger

•

The remainder of the cash consideration primarily relates to transaction expenses incurred by Iora and paid by the Company as of the closing date.

(3) Represents the fair value of Iora’s equity awards assumed by 1Life for pre-combination services. Pursuant to the terms of the merger agreement, Iora’s
outstanding equity awards that are vested and unvested as of the effective time of the merger were replaced by 1Life equity awards with the same terms and
conditions. The vested portion of the fair value of 1Life’s replacement equity awards issued represents consideration transferred, while the unvested portion
represents post-combination compensation expense based on the vesting terms of the equity awards. The awards that include a provision for accelerated vesting
upon a change of control are included in the vested consideration. The fair value of the stock options of Iora assumed by 1Life was determined by using a BlackScholes option pricing model with the applicable assumptions as of the Acquisition Date. The fair value of the unvested stock awards, for which postcombination service is required, will be recorded as share-based compensation expense over the respective vesting period of each award. See Note 14, "StockBased Compensation and Employee Benefit Plans".
The following table presents the preliminary purchase price allocation recorded in the Company's consolidated balance sheet as of the Acquisition Date:
Cash and cash equivalents acquired
Accounts receivable, net (3)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Restricted cash
Property and equipment, net
Right-of-use assets
Intangible assets, net
Other assets (1)
Total assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Deferred revenue, current (2)
Operating lease liabilities, current
Operating lease liabilities, non-current
Deferred revenue, non-current (2)
Deferred income taxes (5)
Other non-current liabilities (1) (3) (4)
Total liabilities
Net assets acquired
Estimated Merger Consideration
Estimated goodwill attributable to Merger

$

$

17,808
20,451
3,043
2,069
29,565
70,249
363,031
8,418
514,634
1,974
9,819
5,989
6,617
63,558
24,316
80,537
17,271
210,081
304,553
1,424,836
1,120,283

(1) Included in the other assets was an escrow asset of $8,401 related to 1Life common stock held by a third-party escrow agent to be released to the former
stockholders of Iora, less any amounts that would be necessary to satisfy any then pending
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and unsatisfied or unresolved claim for indemnification for any 1Life indemnifiable loss pursuant to the indemnity provisions of the Merger Agreement. A
corresponding indemnification liability of $12,983 was recorded in other non-current liabilities in the Company's consolidated balance sheet as of the
Acquisition Date. The escrow asset and indemnification liability reflected measurement period adjustments of $505 and $1,064, respectively, from the
Acquisition Date as of December 31, 2021. The indemnification asset is subject to remeasurement at each reporting date due to changes to the underlying value
of the escrow shares until the shares are released from escrow, with the remeasurement adjustment reported in the Company's consolidated statement of
operations. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the fair value of the escrow asset had reduced and the unrealized loss recorded for was immaterial for the
period.
(2) Reflected an increase in deferred revenue, current and deferred revenue, non-current of $4,905 as a result of the early adoption of ASU 2021-08. See Note 2
"Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — Recent Accounting Pronouncements" for details.
(3) Reflected a decrease in accounts receivable, net of $4,227 and an increase of other non-current liabilities of $2,116 as a result of an adjustment identified
during the measurement period from the Acquisition Date as of December 31, 2021.
(4) Reflected a decrease in other non-current liabilities of $6,096 as a result of an adjustment related to uncertain tax positions liability identified during the
measurement period from the Acquisition Date as of December 31, 2021.
(5) Reflected a decrease in deferred income taxes of $9,672 as a result of an adjustment as a result of an adjustment identified during the measurement period
from the Acquisition Date as of December 31, 2021.
The Company allocated the purchase price to tangible and identified intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on the preliminary estimates
of fair values, which were determined primarily using the income method based on estimates and assumptions made by management at the time of the Iora
acquisition and are subject to change during the measurement period which is not expected to exceed one year. The primary tasks that are required to be
completed include valuation of certain assets and liabilities, including any related tax impacts. Any adjustments to the preliminary purchase price allocation
identified during the measurement period will be recognized in the period in which the adjustments are determined.
The Company recognized a net deferred tax liability of $80,537 in this business combination that is included in long-term liabilities in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheet. This primarily related to identified intangible assets recorded in acquisition for which there is no tax basis.
The acquired entity's results of operations were included in the Company's consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition, September 1,
2021. For the period from September 1, 2021 through December 31, 2021, Iora contributed net revenue of $130,623 which is reflected in the accompanying
consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2021. Due to the integrated nature of the Company's operations, it is not practicable to
separately identify earnings of Iora on a stand-alone basis.
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company incurred costs related to this acquisition of $39,530 that were expensed as incurred and recorded
in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.
Identifiable intangible assets are comprised of the following:
Preliminary Fair Value

Intangible Asset:
Medicare Advantage contracts - existing geographies
CMS Direct Contracting contract - existing geographies
Trade name: Iora

$

$

Total

298,000
52,000
13,031
363,031

Estimated Useful
Life (in years)

9
9
3

Net tangible assets were valued at their respective carrying amounts as of the Acquisition Date, which approximated their fair values. Medicare
Advantage contracts and CMS Direct Contracting contract represent the At-Risk arrangements that Iora has with Medicare Advantage plans or directly with
CMS. Trade names represent the Company’s right to the Iora trade names and associated design.
Loan Agreement
Under the Merger Agreement, 1Life and Iora have also entered into a Loan and Security Agreement on June 21, 2021. See Note 19 "Note Receivable" for
more details.
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Iora had an existing credit facility with SVB, which is referred to as the SVB Facility. The SVB facility of $5,391 was repaid on September 1, 2021, of
which $50 is related to the prepayment penalty. Repayment of the existing SVB loan is accounted for as part of the acquisition purchase considerations.
Supplemental Unaudited Pro Forma Information
The following unaudited pro forma financial information summarizes the combined results of operations for 1Life and Iora as if the companies were
combined as of the beginning of fiscal year 2020. The unaudited pro forma information includes transaction and integration costs, adjustments to amortization
and depreciation for intangible assets and property and equipment acquired, stock-based compensation costs and tax effects.
The table below reflects the impact of material adjustments to the unaudited pro forma results for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 that are
directly attributable to the acquisition:
Year Ended December 31,
Material Adjustments

2021

(Decrease) / increase to expense as result of transaction and integration costs
(Decrease) / increase to expense as result of amortization and depreciation expenses
(Decrease) / increase to expense as a result of stock-based compensation costs
(Decrease) / increase to expense as result of changes in tax effects

$

2020

(51,433)
30,757
1,686
(7,325)

$

$

38
46
12
(17,

$

The unaudited pro forma information presented below is for informational purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of our consolidated results of
operations of the combined business had the acquisition actually occurred at the beginning of fiscal year 2020 or the results of our future operations of the
combined businesses.
Year Ended December 31,
2021
2020

Revenue
Net Loss

$
$

834,622 $
(290,052) $

592,936
(247,556)

Other Acquisitions
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company completed three other acquisitions for $9,908 of total cash consideration. The acquisitions were
each accounted for as business combinations. The Company does not consider these acquisitions to be material, individually or in aggregate, to the Company’s
consolidated financial statements. The purchase price allocations resulted in $5,880 of goodwill and $3,921 of acquired identifiable intangible assets related to
customer relationships valued using the income method. Intangible assets are being amortized over their respective useful lives of three or seven years.
Acquisition-related costs were immaterial and were expensed as incurred in the consolidated statements of operations.
9.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill

On September 1, 2021, the Company completed the acquisition of Iora, which was accounted for as a business combination resulting in $1,120,283 in
goodwill. See Note 8 "Business Combinations". No goodwill impairments were recorded during the year ended December 31, 2021.
There were no changes to the goodwill balance for the year ended December 31, 2020. Goodwill balances as of December 31, 2021 and December 31,
2020 were as follows:
Amount

Balance as of December 31, 2020
Goodwill recorded in connection with acquisitions
Measurement period adjustments

$

Balance as of December 31, 2021

$
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Intangible Assets
The Company recorded amortization expense of $14,794, $23, and $281 for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019. The Company had no
intangible assets as of December 31, 2020.
The following summarizes the Company’s intangible assets and accumulated amortization as of December 31, 2021:
December 31, 2021
Accumulated
Amortization

Original Cost

Medicare Advantage contracts - existing geographies
CMS Direct Contracting contract - existing geographies
Trade name: Iora
Customer relationships
Total intangible assets

$

$

298,000
52,000
13,031
3,921
366,952

$

(11,037)
(1,926)
(1,448)
(383)
(14,794)

$

Net Book Val

$

$

286
50
11
3
352

Purchased intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or
asset group may not be recoverable. The change in purchased intangible assets gross carrying amount resulted primarily from the Iora acquisition. See Note 8
"Business Combinations".
As of December 31, 2021, estimated future amortization expense related to intangible assets were as follows:
December 31, 2021

10.

2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027 and thereafter

$

Total

$

43,835
43,835
42,356
39,417
39,417
143,298
352,158

Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities
Accrued expenses consisted of the following:
December 31,
2021

Accrued employee compensation and benefits
Inventories received not yet invoiced
Construction in progress
Self-insurance programs
Legal and professional fees
Medical office and lab supplies
Other accrued expenses

$

$

Total

2020

37,970
4,066
5,962
3,000
8,744
2,026
10,904
72,672

$

28,414
3,749
811
1,936
1,486
3,581
6,550
46,527

$

Other current liabilities consisted of the following:
December 31,
2021

Legal settlement liability
Customer refund liabilities
Capitated accounts payable
Other current liabilities

$

$

Total
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11.

Self-Insurance Reserves
The following table provides a roll-forward of the insurance reserves related to the Company's self-insurance program:
2021

Beginning balance
Expenses incurred
Expenses paid
Ending balance
12.

$

$

Year Ended December 31,
2020

1,936 $
22,909
(21,845)
3,000 $

2019

1,753 $
16,577
(16,394)
1,936 $

819
11,801
(10,867)
1,753

Debt

Term Notes
In January 2013, the Company entered into a loan and security agreement with an institutional lender and with subsequent amendments for borrowings
of $11,000 at an interest rate at the greater of prime plus 1.81% or 5.56%, ("the "LSA"). In connection with the LSA agreement, the Company issued to the
lenders 494,833 warrants. Borrowings under the LSA were secured by substantially all of the Company's properties, rights and assets, excluding intellectual
property. On September 1, 2020, the term notes under the LSA matured and the remaining outstanding principal was repaid, plus accrued and unpaid interest.
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company recorded aggregate interest expense of $86 and $469, respectively. The non-cash
interest expense related to the accretion of debt discounts for common and redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants included in the aggregate interest
expense for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was immaterial. The Company's annual effective interest rate was approximately 6.0% and 7.2% for
the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company made aggregate principal payments of $3,300 and $4,400, respectively.
Convertible Senior Notes
In May 2020, the Company issued and sold $275,000 aggregate principal amount of 3.0% convertible senior notes due 2025 in a private offering exempt
from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, and in June 2020, the Company issued an additional $41,250 aggregate principal amount of
such notes pursuant to the exercise in full of the over-allotment option by the initial purchasers of the 2025 Notes. The 2025 Notes are unsecured obligations and
bear interest at a fixed rate of 3.0% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on June 15 and December 15 of each year, commencing on December 15, 2020.
The 2025 Notes will mature on June 15, 2025, unless earlier converted, redeemed or repurchased. The total net proceeds from the debt offering, after deducting
the initial purchasers' commissions and other issuance costs, were $306,868.
Each $1 principal amount of the 2025 Notes will initially be convertible into 0.0225052 shares of the Company's common stock, which is equivalent to an
initial conversion price of $44.43 per share, subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of specified events but not for any accrued and unpaid interest.
Holders may convert the 2025 Notes at their option at any time prior to the close of business on the business day immediately preceding March 15, 2025
only under the following circumstances: (1) during any calendar quarter commencing after the calendar quarter ending on September 30, 2020 (and only during
such calendar quarter), if the last reported sale price of the Company's common stock for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during a period of
30 consecutive trading days ending on, and including, the last trading day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter is greater than or equal to 130% of the
conversion price on each applicable trading day; (2) during the five business day period after any ten consecutive trading day period (the "measurement period")
in which the trading price (as defined below) per $1 principal amount of the 2025 Notes for each trading day of the measurement period was less than 98% of
the product of the last reported sale price of the Company's common stock and the conversion rate on each such trading day; (3) if the Company calls such 2025
Notes for redemption, at any time prior to the close of business on the scheduled trading day immediately preceding the redemption date; or (4) upon the
occurrence of specified corporate events. It is the Company's current intent to settle conversions through combination settlement comprising of cash and equity.
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On or after March 15, 2025 until the close of business on the business day immediately preceding the maturity date, holders may convert all or any
portion of their 2025 Notes at any time, regardless of the foregoing circumstances. Upon conversion, the Company will pay or deliver, as the case may be, cash,
shares of the Company's common stock or a combination of cash and shares of the Company's common stock, at the Company's election and in accordance with
the terms of the indenture governing the 2025 Notes. If the Company satisfies its conversion obligation solely in cash or through payment and delivery, as the
case may be, of a combination of cash and shares of the Company's common stock, the amount of cash and shares of common stock, if any, due upon conversion
will be based on a daily conversion value calculated on a proportionate basis for each trading day in a 40 trading day observation period. In addition, following
certain corporate events that occur prior to the maturity date or if the Company delivers a notice of redemption, the Company will, in certain circumstances,
increase the conversion rate for a holder who elects to convert its 2025 Notes in connection with such a corporate event or notice of redemption, as the case may
be. If the Company undergoes a fundamental change prior to the maturity date, holders of the 2025 Notes may require the Company to repurchase for cash all or
any portion of their notes at a repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2025 Notes to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest to,
but excluding, the fundamental change repurchase date.
In addition, if specific corporate events occur prior to the applicable maturity date, the Company will increase the conversion rate for a holder who elects
to convert their 2025 Notes in connection with such a corporate event in certain circumstances. The Company may not redeem the 2025 Notes prior to June 20,
2023. The Company may redeem for cash all or any portion of the 2025 Notes, at the Company's option, on or after June 20, 2023 and prior to March 15, 2025,
if the last reported sale price of the Company's common stock has been at least 130% of the conversion price then in effect for at least 20 trading days (whether
or not consecutive) during any 30 consecutive trading day period (including the last trading day of such period) ending on, and including, the trading day
immediately preceding the date on which the Company provides notice of redemption at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2025
Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the redemption date. No sinking fund is provided for the notes. During the year ended
December 31, 2021, the conditions allowing holders of the 2025 Notes to convert have not been met. The 2025 Notes are therefore not convertible as of
December 31, 2021 and are classified in long term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet.
The Company adopted ASU 2020-06, Debt—Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in
Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40), ("ASU 2020-06"), as of January 1, 2021. Under ASU 2020-06, the Company is no longer required to bifurcate the equity
component from the liability component for the 2025 Notes and instead accounts for it as a single liability instrument. Comparative prior period consolidated
financial statements have not been restated for ASU 2020-06 and are not directly comparable to the current period consolidated financial statements. See Note 2,
"Summary of Significant Accounting Policies" for details on adoption impact.
The Company incurred issuance costs of $9,374 and amortizes the issuance costs to interest expense over the contractual term of the 2025 Notes at an
effective interest rate of 0.65%.
The net carrying amount of the 2025 Notes was as follows:
Year Ended December 31

Liabilities:
Principal
Unamortized debt discount
Unamortized issuance costs

2021

$

$

Net carrying amount

2020

316,250 $
—
(6,406)
309,844 $

316,250
(68,441)
(6,576)
241,233

The following table sets forth the interest expense recognized related to the 2025 Notes:
Year Ended December 31
2021

Contractual interest expense
Amortization of debt discount
Amortization of issuance costs

$

$

Total interest expense related to the 2025 Notes
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$
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13.

Common Stock

As of December 31, 2021and 2020, the Company's Certificate of Incorporation, as amended and restated, authorized the Company to issue 1,000,000 and
1,000,000 shares of common stock, respectively, par value of $0.001 per share. Each share of common stock is entitled to one vote.
Initial Public Offering
On February 4, 2020, the Company closed its initial public offering ("IPO") and sold 20,125 shares of common stock, including the underwriters' option
to purchase additional shares at the IPO price. The public offering price of the shares sold in the IPO was $14.00 per share. In aggregate, the shares issued in the
offering generated $258,119 in net proceeds, which amount is net of $18,314 in underwriters' discount and commissions, and $5,317 in offering costs.
Upon the closing of the IPO, all shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock then outstanding were automatically converted into 86,257 shares of
common stock and all redeemable preferred stock warrants were converted into warrants to purchase 668 shares of common stock. In addition, 1,590 options
held by a named executive officer that were subject to immediate vesting upon the execution of the IPO underwriting agreement vested and accordingly, $3,506
of stock-based compensation expense was recognized.
In June 2020, the Company completed a secondary offering in which certain stockholders sold 8,300 shares of common stock at an offering price of
$31.00 per share. The selling stockholders received all of the net proceeds from the sale of shares in this offering. The Company did not sell any shares or
receive any proceeds in this secondary offering.
The Company had reserved shares of common stock for issuance in connection with the following:
December 31,
2021

Options outstanding under the Equity Incentive Plans
Unvested restricted stock
Common stock reserved for issuance in connection with acquisitions
Options available for future issuance

14.

2020

28,312
3,249
1,177
12,972
45,710

28,273
1,291
—
9,855
39,419

Stock-Based Compensation and Employee Benefit Plans
Stock Incentive Plan

The Company has the following stock-based compensation plans: the 2007 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2007 Plan"), the 2017 Equity Incentive Plan (the
"2017 Plan"), and the 2020 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2020 Plan", and, together with the 2007 Plan and the 2017 Plan, the "Plans").
In January 2020, the Company's stockholders approved the 2020 Equity Incentive Plan, which took effect upon the execution of the underwriting
agreement for the Company's IPO in January 2020. The 2020 Plan is intended as the successor to and continuation of the 2007 Plan and the 2017 Plan. The
number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the Company's 2020 Plan will automatically increase on January 1 of each year, beginning on
January 1, 2021, and continuing through and including January 1, 2030, by 4% of the total number of shares of common stock outstanding on December 31 of
the immediately preceding calendar year, or a lesser number of shares determined by the Company's board prior to the applicable January 1st. The number of
shares issuable under the Plans is adjusted for capitalization changes, forfeitures, expirations and certain share reacquisitions. The Plan provides for the grants of
incentive stock options ("ISOs"), nonstatutory stock options ("NSOs"), restricted stock awards, and restricted stock unit awards ("RSUs"). ISOs may be granted
only to employees, including officers. All other awards may be granted to employees, including officers, non-employee directors and consultants. The 2020 Plan
provides that grants of ISOs will be made at no less than the estimated fair value of common stock, as determined by the Board of Directors, at the date of grant.
Stock options granted to employees and nonemployees under the Plans generally vest over four years. Options granted under the Plans generally expire ten years
after the date of grant.
At December 31, 2021, 8,726 shares were available for future grants.
2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
In January 2020, the Company's stockholders approved the 2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan ("ESPP") Plan. The 2020 ESPP became effective upon
the execution of the underwriting agreement for the Company's IPO in January 2020. The
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Company has initially reserved 2,800 shares of common stock for issuance under the 2020 ESPP. The reserve will automatically increase on January 1st of each
calendar year for a period of up to ten years, commencing on January 1, 2021 and ending on (and including) January 1, 2030, in an amount equal to the lesser of
(1) 1.5% of the total number of shares of Common Stock outstanding on December 31st of the preceding fiscal year, (2) 2,800 shares, and (3) a number of shares
determined by the Company's board. At December 31, 2021, 4,246 shares were available for future issuance.
The ESPP allows eligible employees to contribute, through payroll deductions, up to 15% of their earnings for the purchase of the Company's common
stock at a discounted price per share, subject to limitations imposed by federal income tax regulations. The price at which common stock is purchased under the
ESPP is equal to 85% of the fair market value of the Company's common stock on the first or last day of the offering period, whichever is lower. The initial
offering period ran from January 31, 2020 to August 15, 2020 and the second offering period ran from August 16, 2020 to November 15, 2020. On a going
forward basis, the ESPP will provide for separate six-month offering periods beginning on May 16 and November 16 of each year.
During the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company's employees purchased approximately 222 and 350 shares, respectively under the
ESPP at a weighted-average price of $22.89 and $13.83, respectively per share. The stock-based compensation expense recognized for the ESPP was $2,139 and
$2,058, respectively during the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.
The fair value of the stock purchase right granted under the ESPP was estimated on the first day of each offering period using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model. The following assumptions were used to calculate the stock-based compensation for each stock purchase right granted under the ESPP:
Year Ended December 31,

Expected term in years
Expected stock price volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected dividend yield

2021

2020

0.5 - 0.5
44.5% - 59.4%
—% - 0.1%
—%

0.3 - 0.5
53.7% - 63.5%
0.1% - 1.5%
—%

At December 31, 2021, there was $599 in unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to the ESPP that is expected to be recognized over a
period of 0.4 years.
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Stock Options
The following table summarizes stock option activity under the Plans:

Number of
Options

Outstanding as of December 31, 2018
Granted
Exercised
Canceled
Outstanding as of December 31, 2019
Granted
Exercised
Canceled
Market-based stock options granted
Outstanding as of December 31, 2020
Granted
Exercised
Canceled
Outstanding as of December, 2021
Options exercisable as of December 31, 2021
Options vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 2021

21,504
7,702
(816)
(584)
27,806
381
(8,123)
(436)
8,645
28,273
5,013
(4,284)
(690)
28,312
11,546
18,174

WeightedAverage
Remaining
Contractual
Term (Years)

WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price

$

$

$

$
$
$

4.30
10.39
3.73
5.99
5.97
22.32
4.39
8.06
43.31
18.03
13.91
5.32
14.01
19.32
5.67
8.26

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

8.00 $

74,546

7.76 $

207,956

8.20 $

724,339

7.57 $
6.20 $
6.84 $

192,955
142,078
185,771

The aggregate intrinsic value of service-based options exercised for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 was $133,807, $206,143 and
$4,998, respectively.
At December 31, 2021, there was $26,271 in unrecognized compensation expense related to service-based options, net of forfeitures, that is expected to
be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.6 years.
Fair Value of Stock Options Granted
The fair value of stock option grants with service-based vesting conditions is estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The Company
lacks company-specific historical and implied volatility information. Therefore, it estimated its expected stock volatility based on the historical volatility of a
publicly traded set of peer companies. For options with service-based vesting conditions, the expected term of the Company's stock options has been determined
utilizing the "simplified" method for awards that qualify as "plain-vanilla" options. The expected term of stock options granted to non-employees is equal to the
contractual term of the option award. The risk-free interest rate is determined by reference to the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant of the
award for time periods approximately equal to the expected term of the award. Expected dividend yield is based on the fact that the Company has never paid
cash dividends and does not expect to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.
We estimated the fair value of stock option grants with service-based vesting conditions using a Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following
assumptions presented on a weighted-average basis:
Year Ended December 31,
2021

Expected term in years
Expected stock price volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected dividend yield
Estimated fair value per option granted

$
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5.1
53.7 %
0.9 %
—%
18.56
$
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6.0
57.4 %
0.9 %
—%
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$

6.3
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—%
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The fair value of stock option grants with service-based vesting conditions for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 was $93,062, $4,519
and $36,785, respectively.
Assumed Equity Awards
As of the Acquisition Date, the Company assumed Iora’s outstanding equity awards related to stock options and phantom stock. The awards under the
assumed equity plan were generally settled as follows:
•

Options: All Iora options outstanding on the close date were assumed by 1Life and converted into options to acquire shares of 1Life common stock.
The vested and unvested options, to the extent related to pre-combination services were included in the consideration transferred. Iora’s unvested
options, to the extent they relate to post-combination services, will be expensed as they vest post the acquisition and will be treated as stock-based
compensation expense. See Note 8 "Business Combinations".

•

Phantom stock: Each Iora vested phantom stock award has been settled in cash. Each Iora unvested phantom stock award has been assumed by the
Company and converted into the right to receive the unvested phantom cash award. Each unvested phantom cash award will remain subject to the same
terms and conditions as were applicable to the underlying unvested phantom stock award immediately prior to the close date. The unvested phantom
stock award is considered a liability-classified award as the settlement involves a cash payment upon the dates when these awards vest. The entire
vested award and unvested phantom stock, to the extent they relate to pre-combination services, were included in the consideration transferred. Iora’s
unvested phantom stock awards, to the extent they relate to post-combination services, will be expensed as they vest post acquisition and will be treated
as stock-based compensation expense. See Note 8 "Business Combinations".

As of the Acquisition Date, the estimated fair value of the assumed equity awards was $60,856, of which $52,662 was allocated to the purchase price and
the balance of $8,194 will be recognized as stock-based compensation expense over the remainder term of the assumed equity awards. The fair value of the
assumed equity awards for service rendered through the Acquisition Date was recognized as a component of the acquisition consideration, with the remaining
fair value related to post combination services to be recorded as stock-based compensation over the remaining vesting period.
Market-based Stock Options
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Board of Directors ("Board") approved the grant of a long-term market-based stock option (the
"Performance Stock Option") to the Company's Chief Executive Officer and President. The Performance Stock Option was granted to acquire up to 8,645 shares
of the Company's common stock upon exercise. The Performance Stock Option consists of four separate tranches and each tranche will vest over a seven-year
time period and only if the Company’s stock price sustains achievement of pre-determined increases for a period of 90 consecutive calendar days and the Chief
Executive Officer remains employed with the Company. The exercise price per share of the Stock Option is the closing price of a share of the Company's
common stock on the date of grant. The vesting of the Performance Stock Option can also be triggered upon a change in control. The following table presents
additional information relating to each tranche of the Performance Stock Option:
Tranche
Tranche 1
Tranche 2
Tranche 3
Tranche 4

Stock Price Milestone
$55 per share
$70 per share
$90 per share
$110 per share

Number of Options
1,330
1,995
2,660
2,660

The grant date fair value of the Performance Stock Option is determined using a Monte Carlo simulation that incorporates estimates of the potential
outcomes of the market condition on the grant with the following assumptions:
Year Ended December 31,
2020

Derived service period in years
Expected stock price volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected dividend yield
Weighted-average fair value per option granted

$
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The Company will recognize aggregate stock-based compensation expense of $197,469 over the derived service period of each tranche using the
accelerated attribution method as long as the service-based vesting conditions are satisfied. If the market conditions are achieved sooner than the derived service
period, the Company will adjust its stock-based compensation to reflect the cumulative expense associated with the vested awards. The Company recorded
stock-based compensation expense of $60,027 and $490 related to the award for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, which is included in
general and administrative in the consolidated statements of operations. Unamortized stock-based compensation expense related to the award was $136,952 as of
December 31, 2021.
Restricted Stock Units
In March 2016, the Company issued 150 shares of restricted stock pursuant to a purchase agreement that was subject to a twenty-four-month pro-rata
vesting period with any unvested shares forfeited upon termination of the employees. The fair value of these shares was recorded as stock-based compensation
expense in the Company's consolidated financial statements.
The following table summarizes restricted stock unit activity under the Plans:
Number of
Shares

Unvested and outstanding as of December 31, 2019
Granted
Vested
Canceled and forfeited
Unvested and outstanding as of December 31, 2020
Granted
Vested
Canceled and forfeited

Grant Date
Fair Value

— $
1,490
(65)
(134)
1,291 $
2,697
(338)
(401)
3,249 $

Unvested and outstanding as of December 31, 2021

—
21.52
15.00
18.74
22.14
30.44
22.98
30.62
27.90

The fair value of restricted stock units granted for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was $82,131 and 32,071, respectively. As of
December 31, 2021, there was $41,069 in unrecognized compensation expense related to restricted stock units, net of forfeitures, that is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.9 years.
Stock-Based Compensation Expense
Total stock-based compensation expense for employees and nonemployees recognized by the Company for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and
2019, was $112,298, $35,095 and $14,877, respectively. A tax benefit of $33,547, $53,749 and $707 for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019,
respectively, was included in the Company's net operating loss carry-forward that could potentially reduce future tax liabilities.
Stock-based compensation expense was classified in the consolidated statements of operations as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2021

Sales and marketing
General and administrative

$
$

Total

4,136
108,162
112,298

2020

$
$

2019

2,385
32,710
35,095

$
$

1,256
13,621
14,877

Employee Benefit Plan
Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted a 401(k) plan that is available to all full-time employees over the age of 18, who have been employed at
least three months with the Company. Eligible employees may contribute up to 90% of their annual compensation to the 401(k) plan, subject to limitations
imposed by federal income tax regulations. The Company matches 50% of the first 5% of amounts contributed by employees, subject to limitations by federal
income tax regulations. The Company's contribution was $6,103, $5,051, and $3,618 for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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15.

Income Taxes
The provision for (benefit from) income taxes consists of the following:

Year Ended December 31,
2021

Current:
Federal
State
Total current
Deferred:
Federal
State
Total deferred

$

1,166
607
1,773

$

2019

869
1,664
2,533

(3,022)
(553)
(3,575)
(1,802) $

$

Total provision for (benefit from) income taxes

2020

$

1
86
87

(1,895)
(761)
(2,656)
(123) $

—
—
—
87

The following table reconciles the Federal statutory income tax provision to the Company's effective income tax provision. Amounts may not sum due to
rounding.
Year Ended December 31,
2021

Federal statutory income tax rate
Valuation allowance
Section 382 limitations
State income tax expense
Stock-based compensation
Adoption of ASU 2020-06
Section 162(m)
Transaction Costs
Warrant fair value adjustment
Other, net

2020

21.0 %
(24.7)%
—%
(2.0)%
3.1 %
5.5 %
(1.1)%
(1.1)%
—%
—%
0.7 %

Effective income tax rate
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2019

21.0 %
(49.8)%
—%
(6.3)%
38.6 %
—%
(0.6)%
—%
(1.5)%
(1.3)%
0.1 %

21.0 %
(12.6)%
(10.0)%
(1.4)%
4.5 %
—%
—%
—%
(1.4)%
(0.3)%
(0.2)%

1LIFE HEALTHCARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of loss and credit carryforwards and temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. The Company's deferred income tax assets and liabilities at
December 31, 2021 and 2020 were comprised of the following:
December 31,
2021

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss and credit carryforwards
Reserves and allowances
Basis difference in fixed and intangible assets
Stock-based compensation
Lease liability
Section 163(j) interest
Total gross deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance
Total deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:
Basis difference in fixed and intangible assets
Right-of-use assets
Capitalized commissions
Reserves and allowances
Convertible note debt discount
Total deferred tax liabilities

$

$

Net deferred tax assets (liabilities)

2020

249,685 $
11,675
290
19,550
86,328
4,460
371,988
(265,898)
106,090

114,662
1,713
72
11,970
52,045
2,750
183,212
(113,770)
69,442

(106,276)
(73,372)
(317)
—
—
(179,965)
(73,875) $

(3,460)
(42,249)
(250)
—
(20,827)
(66,786)
2,656

Of the total deferred tax assets, none are related to the noncontrolling interest as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
A valuation allowance is required to be established when it is more likely than not that all or a portion of a deferred tax asset will not be realized.
Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon future earnings, the timing and amount of which are uncertain. A full review of all positive and negative
evidence needs to be considered, including the Company’s current and past performance, the market environments in which the Company operates, the
utilization of past tax credits, length of carry back and carry forward periods, as well as tax planning strategies that might be implemented. Management believes
that, based on a number of factors, it is more likely than not, that most of the deferred tax assets may not be realized; and accordingly, as of December 31, 2021,
the Company has provided a full valuation allowance against its net deferred tax assets. A partial valuation allowance was established against deferred tax assets
in entities with recent cumulative losses as of December 31, 2020. The change in total valuation allowance was an increase of $152,128 and $47,235 for the
years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
At December 31, 2021, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards for federal and state and local income tax purposes of $894,276 and $598,454,
respectively, which are available to reduce future income subject to income taxes. Federal net operating losses generated after 2017, of $687,126, do not expire.
The remaining federal and state net operating loss carry forwards will begin to expire, if not used, at various dates beginning in tax year 2025 and 2024,
respectively.
As of December 31, 2021, the Company had federal credits of $618 and state credit carryforwards of $783 which are available to reduce future income
tax. The federal credits will begin to expire, if not used, in tax year 2030. Some of the state credit carryforwards will begin to expire, if not used, in tax year
2023.
Utilization of some of the federal, state and local net operating loss and credit carryforwards may be subject to annual limitations due to the "change in
ownership" provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and similar state and local provisions. The annual limitations may result in the expiration of net
operating losses and credits before utilization. The Company performed a Section 382 analysis through December 31, 2021, on 1Life ownership history,
including the pre-acquisition Iora group history. The Company has identified $25,215 and $31,003 of federal and state net operating losses, respectively, in the
historical One Medical PCs that will expire unused due to ownership changes in the non-controlling interests. State credits of $71 will not be able to be utilized
due to ownership change limitations in the historical One Medical
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PCs. The Company has identified $2,838 of historical Iora federal net operating losses and $165 of historical Iora federal credits that will expire unused.
Intended to provide economic relief to those impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act ("CARES
Act") was enacted on March 27, 2020 and includes provisions, among others, addressing the carryback of net operating losses for specific periods, refunds of
alternative minimum tax credits, temporary modifications to the limitations placed on the tax deductibility of net interest expenses, and technical amendments
for qualified improvement property ("QIP"). Additionally, the CARES Act, in efforts to enhance business' liquidity, provides for refundable employee retention
tax credits and the deferral of the employer paid portion of social security taxes. The CARES Act did not have a material impact on the Company's income taxes.
On June 29, 2020, California Governor Newsom signed into law the state's budget package which included Assembly Bill 85 ("AB 85"). AB 85 contained
two major tax changes: (1) the suspension of net operating loss ("NOLs") utilization for certain taxpayers; and (2) the limitation of certain business tax credits
for tax years 2020, 2021 and 2022. AB 85 resulted in an additional $105 of current expense to the Company's 2020 state income tax provision.
The Company has analyzed its filing positions in all significant Federal and State jurisdictions where it is required to file income tax returns, as well as
open tax years in these jurisdictions. The Company had immaterial unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2021 and no unrecognized tax benefits as of
December 31, 2020. During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, no interest or penalties were required to be recognized relating to unrecognized tax
benefits. Although it is reasonably possible that certain unrecognized tax benefits may increase or decrease within the next twelve months due to tax
examination changes, settlement activities, expirations of statute of limitations, or the impact on recognition and measurement considerations related to the
results of published tax cases or other similar activities, we do not anticipate any significant changes to unrecognized tax benefits over the next 12 months. The
Company’s tax returns continue to remain subject to examination by U.S. federal and state taxing authorities for effectively all years since inception due to net
operating loss carryforwards. The Company is not currently under examination in any jurisdictions.
16.

Net Loss Per Share
Net Loss Per Share Attributable to 1Life Healthcare, Inc. Stockholders
Basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to 1Life Healthcare, Inc. stockholders were calculated as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2021

Numerator:
Net loss
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest

$
$

Net loss attributable to 1Life Healthcare, Inc. stockholders
Denominator:
Weighted average common shares outstandingbasic and diluted
Net loss per share attributable to1Life Healthcare, Inc. stockholdersbasic and diluted

2020

(254,641) $
—
(254,641) $
155,343

$

(1.64) $

2019

(89,421) $
(704)
(88,717) $
118,379
(0.75) $

(53,695)
(1,141)
(52,554)
18,476
(2.84)

The Company's potentially dilutive securities have been excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share as the effect would be to reduce the
net loss per share. Therefore, the weighted average number of common shares outstanding used to calculate both basic and diluted net loss per share attributable
to 1Life Healthcare, Inc. stockholders is the same. The Company excluded the following potential common shares, presented based on amounts outstanding at
each period end, from
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the computation of diluted net loss per share attributable to 1Life Healthcare, Inc. stockholders for the periods indicated because including them would have had
an anti-dilutive effect:
Year Ended December 31,
2021

Options to purchase common stock
Unvested restricted stock
Redeemable convertible preferred stock (as converted to common stock)
Warrants to purchase common stock
2025 Notes (1)
Shares held in special indemnity escrow account in connection with Iora acquisition

2020

28,312
3,249
—
—
7,117
405
39,083

2019

28,273
1,291
—
—
—
—
29,564

27,806
—
86,252
673
—
—
114,731

(1) Under the modified retrospective method of adoption of ASU 2020-06, the dilutive impact of convertible senior notes was calculated using the if-converted
method for the year ended December 31, 2021. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the conditions allowing holders of the 2025 Notes to convert have
not been met. The 2025 Notes are therefore not convertible as of December 31, 2021. See Note 2 "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies".
17.

Commitments and Contingencies
Indemnification Agreements

In the ordinary course of business, the Company may provide indemnification of varying scope and terms to vendors, lessors, business partners and other
parties with respect to certain matters including, but not limited to, losses arising out of breach of such agreements or from intellectual property infringement
claims made by third parties. In addition, the Company has entered into indemnification agreements with members of its Board of Directors and executive
officers that will require the Company, among other things, to indemnify them against certain liabilities that may arise by reason of their status or service as
directors or officers. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make under these indemnification agreements is, in
many cases, unlimited. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company has not incurred any material costs as a result of such indemnifications.
Legal Matters
In May 2018, a class action complaint was filed by two former members against the Company in the Superior Court of California for the County of San
Francisco, or the Court, alleging that the Company made certain misrepresentations resulting in them paying the Annual Membership Fee, or AMF, in violation
of California’s Consumers Legal Remedies Act, California’s False Advertising Law and California’s Unfair Competition Law, and seeking damages and
injunctive relief. Following certain trial court proceedings and certain appeals, arbitration proceedings, and court-ordered mediation proceedings, in June 2021,
the parties filed a joint notice of settlement and request for a six month stay before the appellate court in light of reaching a settlement in principle. The parties
later executed a class action settlement agreement and release effective June 30, 2021, which requires trial court approval. A preliminary class settlement
approval hearing was scheduled to take place in August 2021, but the trial court requested supplemental briefing and vacated the previously scheduled hearing.
Plaintiffs filed their supplemental brief and supporting documents on October 12, 2021. The trial court granted the motion for preliminary approval on
November 12, 2021. Under the terms of the settlement and the trial court’s order, the settlement will proceed to the class notice phase, which is expected to
happen in early 2022. The final approval hearing on the settlement is currently set for May 26, 2022.
The settlement amount of $11,500 was recorded as other current liabilities in the condensed consolidated balance sheets as of June 30, 2021. The
Company's insurers committed to pay $5,950 towards the settlement amount. The settlement amount, net of expected insurance recovery, of $5,550 was
recorded as general and administrative expenses in the condensed consolidated statements of operations for the three months ended June 30, 2021. Class payout
is expected to occur in 2022. There was no material change to the liability amount or any incremental expenses incurred during the year ended December 31,
2021.
Stockholder Litigation Related to Iora Health Acquisition
In July and August of 2021, a total of eight complaints were filed by purported stockholders against the Company and its board of directors alleging,
among other things, that the disclosures in the Company’s registration statement on Form S-4
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regarding the then proposed merger with Iora were materially misleading and that the defendants therefore violated Sections 14(a) and 20(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934.
Each plaintiff sought, among other things, injunctive relief, including enjoining the proposed merger, and attorney’s fees and costs. Each plaintiff also
sought rescission of the merger or rescissory damages once the merger was completed and an order directing the individual defendants to disseminate a
registration statement that does not contain untrue statements of material fact and states all material facts required to make the statements contained therein not
misleading. The Company filed amendments to the registration statement and subsequently all of the lawsuits were voluntarily dismissed.
Additional lawsuits may be filed against the Company or its directors and officers in connection with the merger. Defending such lawsuits could require
the Company to incur significant costs and divert the attention of the management team. Further, the defense or settlement of any lawsuit or claim that remains
unresolved at the closing of the proposed merger may adversely affect the Company's business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. The
Company cannot predict the outcome of the lawsuits or any others that might be filed subsequent to the date of filing of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and
cannot reasonably estimate the possible loss or range of loss with respect to these matters. The Company believes that such lawsuits are without merit and
intends to defend against the claims vigorously.
Government Inquiries and Investigations
In March 2021, the Company received (i) requests for information and documents from the United States House Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus
Crisis, (ii) a request for information from the California Attorney General and the Alameda County District Attorney’s Office and (iii) a request for information
and documents from the Federal Trade Commission relating to the Company’s provision of COVID-19 vaccinations. The Company has also received inquiries
from state and local public health departments regarding its vaccine administration practices and has and may continue to receive additional requests for
information from other governmental agencies relating to its provision of COVID-19 vaccinations. The Company is cooperating with these requests as well as
requests received from other governmental agencies, including with respect to the Company's compensation practices and membership generation during the
relevant periods. The majority staff of the Subcommittee released a memorandum of findings on December 21, 2021 highlighting some of the issues identified in
documents and data provided by the Company and no further disclosures, testimony or other responses have been requested by the Subcommittee. In addition, in
February 2022, the Federal Trade Commission advised us that they were closing their inquiry on our provision of COVID-19 vaccinations. The Company is
unable to predict the outcomes or timeline of the residual government inquiries or if any additional requests, inquiries, investigations or other government
actions may arise relating to such circumstances. Legal fees have been recorded as general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of
operations.
Sales and Use Tax
During 2017 and 2018, a state jurisdiction engaged in an audit of 1Life's sales and use tax records applicable to that jurisdiction from March 2011 through
February 2017. As of December 31, 2021, the Company estimated a probable loss from the audit and recorded the estimate in accrued expenses related to one
aspect of the finding, including interest and penalties. The Company disputed the other finding representing the majority of the state's proposed audit change and
successfully overturned the sales tax assessment resulting from the audit in December 2021.
In addition, from time to time, the Company has been and may be involved in various legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. The
Company currently believes that the outcome of these legal proceedings, either individually or in the aggregate, will not have a material effect on its
consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
18.

Related Party Transactions

Certain of the Company's investors are also customers of the Company. Revenue recognized under contractual obligations from such customers was
immaterial for the year ended December 31, 2021. Revenue recognized under contractual obligations from such customers was $2,093 and $27,748 for the years
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The outstanding receivable balance from such customers was immaterial as of December 31, 2021 and
December 31, 2020.
19.

Note Receivable

In connection with the Iora acquisition, on June 21, 2021, 1Life and Iora entered into a loan agreement under which the Company might advance secured
loans to Iora to fund working capital, at Iora's request from time to time, in outstanding amounts not to exceed $75,000 in the aggregate. Amounts drawn under
the loan agreement are secured by all assets of Iora and were subordinated to Iora's obligations under its then-existing credit facility with SVB. The loan
agreement is effective through the maturity date of borrowed amounts under the loan agreement. Such maturity date is the later of 90 days following the
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earliest of certain maturity dates set forth in the SVB Facility. Amounts drawn bear interest at a rate equal to 10% per year, payable monthly.
As of the Acquisition Date, there was $30,000 drawn and outstanding under the loan agreement. Pursuant to the consummation of Iora's acquisition by
1Life, this note receivable was eliminated as part of intercompany eliminations. $30,253 of note receivable including accrued interests prior to the Acquisition
Date was treated as purchase consideration. See Note 8 "Business Combinations" for details.

F-45

Exhibit 4.3
DESCRIPTION OF THE REGISTRANT’S SECURITIES
REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
The following is a description of the common stock, $0.001 par value per share (“Common Stock”) of 1Life Healthcare, Inc. (the “Company,” “we,”
“our,” or “us”), which is the only security of the Company registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The following
summary description is based on the provisions of our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (the “Certificate of Incorporation”), our Amended and
Restated Bylaws, (the “Bylaws”), and the applicable provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”). This information may not be complete
in all respects and is qualified entirely by reference to the provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation and our Bylaws. Our Certificate of Incorporation and our
Bylaws are filed as exhibits to our Annual Report on Form 10-K of which this exhibit is a part.
Authorized Capital Stock
Our authorized capital stock consists of 1,000,000,000 shares of Common Stock, and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share
(“Preferred Stock”). The rights, preferences and privileges of the holders of our Common Stock are subject to and may be adversely affected by the rights of the
holders of shares of any series of our Preferred Stock that we may designate in the future. For a complete description of the terms and provisions of our Preferred
Stock refer to our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws.
Common Stock
Voting Rights
Each holder of Common Stock is entitled to one vote for each share of Common Stock held on all matters submitted to a vote of the stockholders,
including the election of directors. Our Certificate of Incorporation does not provide for cumulati votes for the election of directors. Our Certificate of
Incorporation establishes a classified board of directors, divided into three classes with staggered three-year terms. Only one class of directors is elected at each
annual meeting of our stockholders, with the other classes continuing for the remainder of their respective three-year terms. These provisions in our Certificate
of Incorporation could discourage potential takeover attempts. See “Anti-takeover Provisions” below.
Dividend Rights
Subject to preferences that may apply to any outstanding Preferred Stock, holders of our Common Stock are entitled to receive ratably any dividends that
our board of directors may declare out of legally available funds.
Liquidation Rights
In the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, holders of our Common Stock are entitled to share ratably in the net assets legally available for
distribution to stockholders after the payment of all of our debts and other liabilities and the satisfaction of any liquidation preference of any outstanding
Preferred Stock.
Preemptive or Similar Rights
Holders of our Common Stock have no preemptive, conversion, subscription or other rights, and there are no redemption or sinking fund provisions
applicable to our Common Stock. The rights, preferences and privileges of the holders of our Common Stock are subject to, and may be adversely affected by,
the rights of holders of shares of any series of Preferred Stock that we may designate in the future.

Registration Rights
Certain holders of shares of our Common Stock are entitled to rights with respect to the registration of their shares under the Securities Act. The shares
subject to such registration rights are referred to as registrable securities. These registration rights are contained in our amended and restated investors’ rights
agreement (the “IRA”) and are described in additional detail below.
The registration of shares of our Common Stock pursuant to the exercise of the registration rights described below would enable the holders to trade
these shares without restriction under the Securities Act when the applicable registration statement is declared effective. We will pay the registration expenses
(other than underwriting discounts, selling commissions and stock transfer taxes) of the shares registered pursuant to the demand and piggyback registrations
described below, and the applicable stockholders party to the IRA pay the registration expenses (including underwriting discounts, selling commissions and
stock transfer taxes) of the shares registered pursuant to the Form S-3 registrations and any related underwritten shelf takedowns described below.
Generally, in an underwritten offering (other than a shelf takedown), if we determine in good faith in consultation with the underwriters, we have the
right, subject to specified conditions, to limit the number of shares the holders may include. The demand, piggyback and Form S-3 registration rights described
below will terminate on the seventh anniversary of the closing of our initial public offering.
Demand Registration Rights
Beginning on the date 180 days following the pricing of our initial public offering, upon the written request of (i) the holders of more than 65% of our
registrable securities then outstanding or (ii) Carlyle Partners VII Holdings, L.P. and its affiliates (the “Carlyle Investor”) that we file a registration statement
under the Securities Act, if the anticipated aggregate offering price would exceed $50,000,000, we are obligated to register the sale of all registrable securities
that the holders may request in writing to be registered. We are required to effect no more than four registration statements that are declared or ordered effective,
two at the request of the holders of more than 65% of our registrable securities then outstanding, and two at the request of the Carlyle Investor. We may postpone
the filing of a registration statement for up to 120 days once in a twelve-month period if in the good faith judgment of our board of directors such registration
would be seriously detrimental to us.
Piggyback Registration Rights
If we register any of our securities for public sale, either for our own account or for the account of other security holders, we will also have to register all
registrable securities that the holders of such securities request in writing be registered. This piggyback registration right does not apply to a registration relating
to any of our stock plans, stock purchase or similar plan, a transaction under Rule 145 of the Securities Act or a registration related to stock issued upon
conversion of debt securities. We, based on consultation with the underwriters of any underwritten offering, will have the right to limit the number of shares
registered by these holders if the underwriters determine that including all registrable securities will jeopardize the success of the offering.
Form S-3 Registration Rights
The holders of the registrable securities are entitled to certain registration rights on Form S-3. The holders of these shares can request that we register all
or a portion of their shares on Form S-3 if we are eligible to file a registration statement on Form S-3 and the aggregate price to the public of the shares offered is
in excess of $5,000,000. In addition, from time to time when a registration statement on Form S-3 is effective, the holders of the shares registered may request
that we facilitate a shelf takedown of all or a portion of their shares if the gross proceeds from the offering is at least $50,000,000. We are required to effect no
more than two Form S-3 registration statements that are declared or ordered effective and two shelf takedowns in any 12-month period. We are also required to
effect no more than one shelf takedown in any 90-day period. We may postpone the filing of a registration statement or a shelf takedown for up to 120 days not
more than twice in a 12-month period if in the good faith judgment of our board of directors such registration would be seriously detrimental to us. The
foregoing shelf takedown and Form S-3 rights are subject to a number of additional exceptions and limitations.

Anti-takeover Provisions
Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law
We are subject to Section 203 of the DGCL (“Section 203”), which prohibits a publicly held Delaware corporation from engaging in any business
combination with any interested stockholder for a period of three years after the date that such stockholder became an interested stockholder, with the following
exceptions:
•

before such date, the board of directors of the corporation approved either the business combination or the transaction that resulted in the
stockholder becoming an interested stockholder;

•

upon completion of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at least
85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction began, excluding for purposes of determining the voting stock
outstanding (but not the outstanding voting stock owned by the interested stockholder) those shares owned (1) by persons who are directors and
also officers and (2) employee stock plans in which employee participants do not have the right to determine confidentially whether shares held
subject to the plan will be tendered in a tender or exchange offer; or

•

on or after such date, the business combination is approved by the board of directors and authorized at an annual or special meeting of the
stockholders, and not by written consent, by the affirmative vote of at least 66 2/3% of the outstanding voting stock that is not owned by the
interested stockholder.

In general, Section 203 defines a “business combination” to include the following:
•

any merger or consolidation involving the corporation and the interested stockholder;

•

any sale, transfer, pledge or other disposition of 10% or more of the assets of the corporation involving the interested stockholder;

•

subject to certain exceptions, any transaction that results in the issuance or transfer by the corporation of any stock of the corporation to the
interested stockholder;

•

any transaction involving the corporation that has the effect of increasing the proportionate share of the stock or any class or series of the
corporation beneficially owned by the interested stockholder; or

•

the receipt by the interested stockholder of the benefit of any loans, advances, guarantees, pledges or other financial benefits by or through the
corporation.

In general, Section 203 defines an “interested stockholder” as an entity or person who, together with the person’s affiliates and associates, beneficially
owns, or within three years prior to the time of determination of interested stockholder status owned, 15% or more of the outstanding voting stock of the
corporation.
A Delaware corporation may “opt out” of these provisions with an express provision in its original certificate of incorporation or an express provision in
its amended and restated certificate of incorporation or amended and restated bylaws resulting from a stockholders’ amendment approved by at least a majority
of the outstanding voting shares. We have not opted out of these provisions. As a result, mergers or other takeover or change in control attempts of us may be
discouraged or prevented.
Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws
Among other things, our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws:
•

permit our board of directors to issue up to 10,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, with any rights, preferences and privileges as they may
designate, including the right to approve an acquisition or other change of control;

•

provide that the authorized number of directors may be changed only by resolution of our board of directors;

•

provide that our board of directors will be classified into three classes of directors;

•

provide that, subject to the rights of any series of Preferred Stock to elect directors, directors may only be removed for cause, which removal may
be effected, subject to any limitation imposed by law, by the holders of at least 66 2/3% of the voting power of all of our then-outstanding shares
of the capital stock entitled to vote generally at an election of directors;

•

provide that all vacancies, including newly created directorships, may, except as otherwise required by law, be filled by the affirmative vote of a
majority of directors then in office, even if less than a quorum;

•

require that any action to be taken by our stockholders must be effected at a duly called annual or special meeting of stockholders and not be taken
by written consent or electronic transmission;

•

provide that stockholders seeking to present proposals before a meeting of stockholders or to nominate candidates for election as directors at a
meeting of stockholders must provide advance notice in writing, and also specify requirements as to the form and content of a stockholder’s
notice;

•

provide that special meetings of our stockholders may be called only by the chairman of our board of directors, our chief executive officer or by
our board of directors pursuant to a resolution adopted by a majority of the total number of authorized directors; and

•

do not provide for cumulative voting rights, therefore allowing the holders of a majority of the shares of Common Stock entitled to vote in any
election of directors to elect all of the directors standing for election, if they should so choose.

The amendment of any of these provisions would require approval by the holders of at least 66 2/3% of the voting power of all of our then-outstanding
Common Stock entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a single class.
The combination of these provisions will make it more difficult for our existing stockholders to replace our board of directors as well as for another party
to obtain control of us by replacing our board of directors. Since our board of directors has the power to retain and discharge our officers, these provisions could
also make it more difficult for existing stockholders or another party to effect a change in management. In addition, the authorization of undesignated Preferred
Stock makes it possible for our board of directors to issue Preferred Stock with voting or other rights or preferences that could impede the success of any attempt
to change our control.
These provisions are intended to enhance the likelihood of continued stability in the composition of our board of directors and its policies and to
discourage coercive takeover practices and inadequate takeover bids. These provisions are also designed to reduce our vulnerability to hostile takeovers and to
discourage certain tactics that may be used in proxy fights. However, such provisions could have the effect of discouraging others from making tender offers for
our shares and may have the effect of delaying changes in our control or management. As a consequence, these provisions may also inhibit fluctuations in the
market price of our stock.
Choice of Forum
Our Certificate of Incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will be the exclusive forum for the following types of
actions or proceedings under Delaware statutory or common law: any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf; any action asserting a breach of
fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers, employees or stockholders to us or our stockholders; any action asserting a claim against us arising
pursuant to the DGCL, our Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws; or any action asserting a claim against us that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine. The
provisions would not apply to suits brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or any claim for which the federal district courts of the
United States of America have exclusive jurisdiction. In addition, our Certificate of Incorporation further provides that the federal district courts of the United
States of America will be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause or causes of action arising under the Securities Act, including all
causes of action asserted against any defendant to such complaint, subject to and contingent upon a final adjudication in the State of Delaware of the
enforceability of such exclusive forum provision. Our Certificate of Incorporation designates the U.S. federal district courts as the exclusive

forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder.
Transfer Agent and Registrar
The transfer agent and registrar for our Common Stock is American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC. The transfer agent’s address is 6201 15th
Avenue, Brooklyn, New York 11219, and its telephone number is (800) 937-5449.

Exhibit 21.1
Subsidiaries of 1Life Healthcare Inc.

Name

Domestic Jurisdiction

Iora Health, Inc.

Delaware

Iora Senior Health, Inc.

Delaware

Iora Health NE DCE, LLC

Delaware

Iora Health Quality Network, LLC

Delaware

Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (No. 333-254414 and No. 333-259346 ) and Form S-3 (No.
333-254415) of 1Life Healthcare, Inc. of our report dated February 23, 2022 relating to the financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Francisco, California
February 23, 2022

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Amir Dan Rubin, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of 1Life Healthcare, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.

February 23, 2022

By:

/s/ Amir Dan Rubin
Amir Dan Rubin
Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Bjorn Thaler, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of 1Life Healthcare, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.

February 23, 2022

By:

/s/ Bjorn Thaler
Bjorn Thaler
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of 1Life Healthcare, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Amir Dan Rubin, Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company, and Bjorn
Thaler, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that to the best of his knowledge:

February 23, 2022

(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

By:

/s/ Amir Dan Rubin
Amir Dan Rubin
Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)

February 23, 2022

By:

/s/ Bjorn Thaler
Bjorn Thaler
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

